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VONGROUP AT A GLANCE
HAERSE

CERTAIN KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The following summary of certain indicators is to be read subject to, and in the context
of, fuller details and explanations as provided in the consolidated financial statements
below.
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Revenue Wz

HK$213.1 M(BE8)

(14.2%)
FY2024: HK$204.5m (B &)

Total Assets & E

HK$624.9 M(B &)
(1 0.7%)
FY2024: HK$620.8 m (B &)

Technology-Related Revenue R} 48R3 Uk %

HK$206.8 M(E &)

(14.8%)
FY2024: HK$197.4m (B &)

Net Assets & ZE F{E

HK$562.1 M(B &)

(1 2.9%)
FY2024: HK$546.5m (B &)

Profit for the year 2~ E5% F

HK$16.0 M(B &)
(| 6.4%)
FY2024: HK$17.1m (B &)

Gearing Ratio &2tk &
0.08

({ 20%)
FY2024: 0.1
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Vongroup Limited: Enabling Global Business
through Innovative Technology

Vongroup operates globally, headquartered in Hong Kong and with presence in the UK.
We provide integrated software, business technology platforms, IT services, and strategic
consulting and business solutions. For over a decade, we have delivered technology
solutions that enable businesses to optimise operations, accelerate digital adoption, and
compete effectively in interconnected markets.

Our commitment centres on continuous investment in technology and business
intelligence, expanding our digital ecosystem. Our expertise and solutions include
integrating cutting-edge Al technology, embracing Business Intelligence, FinTech services,
digital Event Management for major global events, E-commerce, EdTech, remote training
systems, SaaS mobile enterprise applications, virtual/hybrid event technologies, and
enhancing enterprise Messaging and Productivity tools, alongside Big Data Analytics,
which in the aggregate solidifies and enhances our customer partnerships, and drives
mutual growth.

Advancing our Technology Business: From
Enabling Technology-for-Business to Powering
Business Intelligence

Vongroup’s Technology business’s advancement in its Business Intelligence sub-sector
represents the next phase of technology, where human expertise, Al agents, software
systems, and data converge and co-evolve. We expect this synergy to drive faster, more
intelligent, and increasingly autonomous business outcomes than ever before.

Our technology-for-business systems, with expertise in a range of industry-specific
solutions, have enhanced efficiency and access for our clients. Although decision-making
for our technology businesses has been largely human-led, the evolution now of machine
learning and Al enables our technology businesses to develop into an exciting new phase
of strategic augmented or autonomous intelligence.

And throughout this journey, Vongroup’s core value proposition has remained consistent:
we bridge the gap between business goals and technical execution.

The Industry and our Product Focus Areas

The global technology-related services industry in 2024-2025 is undergoing profound
transformation, shaped by accelerating demand for business intelligence (BI), Al
integration, digital solutions, cloud migration. Enterprises are navigating a dynamic
landscape marked by major technology advancement and acceleration, geopolitical and
macroeconomic volatility, and rapid shifts in consumer and business behaviours.

According to Gartner’s CIO Agenda 2025, digital spending will remain strong, due to the
ongoing push for digital transformation initiatives, with particular focus on automation,
Al, cloud-native architectures, and secure hybrid infrastructure. While some ClOs may be
pausing net-new spending due to political uncertainty and economic factors, investments
in Al infrastructure are expected to surge. This may be driven by the perceived need to
remain competitive and capitalise on the potential of technologies advancement, while
the technological landscape continues to evolve. At the same time, Accenture’s 2025
Tech Vision notes that the future belongs to companies that “transition from digital
transformation to digital mastery.” And Deloitte’s 2025 Global Technology Outlook
highlights the rapid shift to Al-powered operating models and cloud ecosystems.
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This may involve integrating Al into Bl systems to analyse data more effectively, automate
tasks, and provide predictive insights, including, in particular:

. Data Analysis and Insights:
Al-powered Bl tools help enterprises extract meaningful insights from vast
amounts of data, identifying trends, patterns, and anomalies that might be
missed by traditional methods.

. Automation and Efficiency:
Al that automates repetitive tasks, streamline workflows, and optimize resource
allocation, leading to cost savings and increased productivity.

. Predictive Analytics:
Al algorithms that analyse historical data to forecast future trends, enabling
businesses to anticipate demand, manage risks, and make more informed
decisions.

. Personalization and Customer Experience:
Al-powered Bl that analyses customer data to personalise experiences,
recommend products, and improve customer service.

. Improved Decision-Making:
By providing data-driven insights and automating certain processes, Al that
empowers businesses to make faster, more accurate, and more strategic
decisions

Vongroup is positioned to navigate this ongoing shift. And, to be sure, our work is
intended to extend beyond technology: we seek to better shape operations, culture, and
economic models. In doing so, we work to define the future of enterprise functions, as
well as underpin our approach to client support.

Strategic Expansion: Building a Scalable Base in
Key International Markets

While our presence in Asia continues to yield strong momentum, we are accelerating
growth in the UK, EU, and select international markets. We are strengthening our UK
operational base to serve as a strategic hub for regional initiatives tailored to European
client needs.

This expansion is driven by our clear vision: to facilitate business superintelligence and
digital transformation globally, leveraging proven successes from Asia. This approach
combines:

. Cross-Border Expertise Transfer: Applying Asian market learnings to European
opportunities

. Localised Innovation: Developing region-specific solutions from our UK base

. Regulatory Alignment: Ensuring compliance within diverse operating
environments

. Customer-Centric Engagement: Building deep client relationships across
regions

In doing so, we are extending our global footprint while enhancing our capacity to deliver
intelligent, scalable, and adaptive enterprise transformation solutions worldwide.
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Empowering Business with Al, Data and Human
Expertise

Our technology sector’s central mission is to empower
businesses with intelligence. We have successfully
transitioned from enabling digital transformation to
now encompass deploying technology-for-business
intelligence, where Al, data, and human expertise
combine to create more autonomous and impactful
business outcomes for our clients.

We have built our integrated portfolio of technology-
for-business systems that address the essential needs
of modern enterprises, providing them with smart,
industry-specific technologies that enable data-
informed decision-making, remote collaboration, and
intelligent automation. These represent the foundation
of our business model and continue to deliver tangible
value to our diverse client base across multiple
sectors and industries, and reflect the dedication and
expertise of our team members across all divisions
and operational areas. Their deep understanding
of both technology implementation and business
operations enables us to deliver solutions that are both
technically robust and commercially relevant.

Our Al-enhanced mobile SaaS solutions strengthened
our productivity value for distributed workforces, with
Al acting as an intelligent layer over physical work
environments.

Our EdTech division’s intelligent learning platforms
honed its direction towards hyper-personalised and
adaptive learning paths and Al content creation for
clients.
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Our integrated EventTech and FinTech platforms
enriched our offerings for mega-events, deploying Al
to move from disparate systems to intelligent, highly-
automated platforms, to optimising dynamic pricing
and demand forecasting, enhanced predictive fraud
detection, predictive access control, intelligent cashless
payment ecosystems, and ROl measurement.

Financial Performance and Operational Strength

We have traversed a year of market uncertainty, amid
evolving and shifting economic developments which
tested the mettle of many companies, both in Hong
Kong and overseas. In the face of this challenging
operating environment, Vongroup delivered robust
financial performance, underscoring the resilience of
our business model and the disciplined execution of
our long-term strategy.

This was evident in our 4.2% growth in revenue
(achieved HK$213.1 million), 4.8% growth in
technology-related revenue (achieved HK$206.8
million), 4.1% growth in technology sector profit
(achieved HK$44.7 million), 2.9% growth in net assets
(reached HK$562.1 million), and 20% reduction in
gearing ratio (reached 0.80), delivering steady growth
and maintaining our position as a trusted provider
of essential enterprise solutions, which allows us
to continue investing in Al an other intelligence
technologies for the future.

Meeting Industry Trends

These capabilities complement our continued
rapid transformation, driven by the convergence
of digitalisation, automation, and Al, unlocking
Hong Kong and international opportunities in Asia,
UK and EU markets: Asia continues to show strong
momentum in digital adoption, supported by many
enterprises seeking to leapfrog traditional models
and embrace new-generation platforms. At the same
time, the UK and the EU maintain steady demand for
digital solutions that enhance efficiency, regulatory
compliance, and cross-border competitiveness.
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We deepened our connections with enterprises across
industries that are under pressure to modernise
operations, integrate intelligence into decision-
making, and helped them achieve greater agility in a
competitive and uncertain environment.

We cultivated opportunities with enterprises in
industries where demand accelerated, for example,
in key areas such as business intelligence (BI), Al
integration, cloud migration, and digital collaboration.
We supported enterprises that are investing in
transformation to remain competitive, while also
responding to structural shifts in supply chains,
consumer behaviour, and workforce models.

Our initiatives are reinforced by a number of industry
projections that digital spending will remain resilient
even in uncertain macro-economic conditions. For
instance, Gartner’s CIO Agenda 2025 emphasises that
many ClOs are investing in technologies that enable
automation and streamline processes, often leveraging
cloud-native architectures for flexibility and scalability,
together with cloud adoption, including hybrid
models, for handling surging Al workloads.

Our focus on enterprise management systems and
technology-intelligence-for-business solutions directly
address client priorities for scalability, inter-operability,
and data-driven insights. With our ability to deliver
reliable and adaptable systems, Vongroup deepens our
engagement to capture opportunities arising from this
transformation and to serve as a trusted partner in our
clients’ digital journeys.

Market Position and Client Relationships

Our consistent performance is underpinned by
durable client relationships and our ability to
address fundamental business needs with practical,
results-driven technology. We have maintained a
balanced revenue base, derived from both new client
acquisitions and ongoing engagements with existing
clients who continue to rely on us to support their
evolving operations.
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This diversified approach provides stability while
enabling measured growth. The market environment
continues to validate our focus, with sustained
demand for reliable, scalable solutions that enhance
performance and deliver measurable returns on
investment. Vongroup’s established ecosystem and
proven track record position us well to capture these
opportunities by streamlining client operations,
reducing costs, and improving overall efficiency.

Outlook: Acquisitions & Internal Development

As we accelerate our transformation into a
leading and reliable player in Al and technology-
for-business, Vongroup is actively pursuing both
acquisition opportunities and internal technology
development. We prioritise strategic investment,
selective acquisitions, and technology collaborations
that expand our ecosystem and complement our
capabilities in Al, enterprise automation, vertical SaaS
platforms, and superintelligence-for-business.

Looking ahead, our priority remains to deliver and
enhance our technology-for-business systems in ways
that directly support the essential needs of modern
enterprises. We will maintain a disciplined operational
approach, with particular focus on platform reliability,
scalability, and seamless integration.

At the same time, we will continue to strengthen
the Vongroup technology ecosystem, ensuring our
platforms are adaptable and commercially scalable.
With enterprises increasingly seeking industry-specific
technologies that enable data-driven decision-making,
remote collaboration, and intelligent automation, we are
confident in our ability to meet these needs and deliver
long-term value for clients and shareholders alike.

In closing, | extend my sincere gratitude to our
shareholders for your continued support and confidence
in our business model. Your trust enables us to maintain
strategic focus and pursue sustainable growth.
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| also wish to thank our dedicated team members
across the organisation. Your expertise, commitment,
and professionalism are the foundation of our
achievements and the driver of our ability to deliver
excellence to our clients. Our achievements reflect the
dedication and expertise of our team. With a deep
understanding of both technology and business, our
professionals deliver solutions that are technically
robust, commercially relevant, and trusted by clients.

David Vong
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 31 July 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Industry Overview

The global technology-related services industry during the year ended 30 April 2025 has
been undergoing profound transformation, shaped by accelerating demand for business
intelligence (BI), Al integration, digital solutions, cloud migration. Enterprises have
been navigating a dynamic landscape marked by major technology advancement and
acceleration, geopolitical and macroeconomic volatility, and rapid shifts in consumer and
business behaviours.

This may be driven by the perceived need to remain competitive and capitalise on
the potential of technologies advancement. According to Gartner’s CIO Agenda 2025,
digital spending will remain strong, due to the ongoing push for digital transformation
initiatives, with particular focus on automation, Al, cloud-native architectures, and secure
hybrid infrastructure, such as:

e Al-driven growth:
Generative Al may be a major catalyst for digital spending, with Al-optimised servers
experiencing significant growth. While some ClOs are experiencing a “trough of
disillusionment” with GenAl's immediate impact, many still see its potential and are
investing in the necessary solutions, systems and infrastructure to support it.

¢ Focus on foundational capabilities:
Many ClOs are also prioritising investments in foundational technologies like
cybersecurity, business intelligence, data analytics, and integration technologies (like
APIs) to build a strong digital base.

e Meeting competitive pressures:
In a challenging economic environment, many businesses use technology to
maintain or gain a competitive edge, further fueling digital spending.

e Al as a competitive differentiator:
Many enterprises identify Al as a key factor in future competition, highlighting its
strategic importance for businesses.

¢ Uncertainty impacts net-new spending:
While overall IT spending is expected to grow, some ClOs are pausing on net-
new projects due to political and economic uncertainty, but not on Al-related
infrastructure.

Therefore notwithstanding the sector’s growth potential, the technology industry
continues to face economic headwinds. Inflation, interest rate pressures, and cautious
corporate spending have led to restrained IT investments in some global markets. In
response, technology providers have been optimising costs, increasing operational
efficiency, and focusing on innovation that delivers clear ROI. To this end, we believe that
technology providers that combine adaptability with deep client understanding are best
positioned to succeed.

Advancing our Technology Business: From Enabling Technology-for-
Business to Powering Business Superintelligence

Vongroup has proactively responded to this environment by leveraging its scalable
business model, prudent cost structure, and diversified service offerings to enhance
sustainable growth. The Group’s dual focus on innovation and operational excellence
positions it favourably to support clients during both economic booms and slowdowns.

Vongroup’s Technology business’s advancement in its business superintelligence sub-
sector represents the next phase of technology, where human expertise, Al agents,
software systems, and data converge and co-evolve. We expect this synergy to drive faster,
more intelligent, and increasingly autonomous business outcomes than ever before.

Our technology-for-business systems, with expertise in a range of industry-specific
solutions, have enhanced efficiency and access for our clients. Although decision-making
for our technology businesses has been largely human-led, the evolution now of machine
learning and Al enables our technology businesses to develop into an exciting new phase
of strategic augmented or autonomous intelligence.
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And throughout this journey, Vongroup’s core value proposition has remained consistent:
we bridge the gap between business goals and technical execution.

So, while the technological landscape continues to evolve, Vongroup is positioned to
navigate this ongoing shift. And, to be sure, our navigation is intended to extend beyond
technology: it is designed to better shape operations, culture, and economic models. In
doing so, it defines the future of enterprise functions, as well as underpin our approach
to client support.

What’s more, we extend beyond Al adoption: we focus on partnerships with clients
to re-imagine and fundamentally enhance how work is executed, how decisions are
formulated, and how businesses scale intelligently.

To lead this navigation, Vongroup has been working on:

» Refining our Product Offering Framework: Refining our emphasis from
“technology-for-business” more towards “intelligence-for-business-outcomes”,
prioritising measurable business results for our clients and ourselves.

* Assessing Strategic Investments to Strengthen Internal Capabilities: Investing
strategically in Al engineering and advanced data science.

* Innovating and Building new Delivery Models: Developing hybrid service delivery
models and teams that integrate human expertise and Al agents for enhanced
efficiency and insight.

*  Prioritising Client Outcome Alignment: Progressing towards value-based pricing
models, where feasible, which are tied closer to measurable client KPIs.

Sustaining Long-Term Partnerships Through Proactive Adaptation

To maintain our position as a trusted, long-term partner, Vongroup is laying our
Technology business framework across key areas to provide comprehensive value for
clients, whether through internal development or strategic acquisitions or technology
collaborations:

1. Data: Beyond Structured to Multimodal

We seek to integrate unstructured, diverse, multimodal data types: audio, images,
video, even sensor data, instead of traditional methods of building business
technology systems around structured data (ERP, CRM, etc). To this end, we're
evolving our approach to data, to:

* Capture and Process Unstructured Data: Enable ingestion and analysis of
complex, non-traditional data sources.

* Deliver Real-Time Insights: Build data pipelines that transform raw inputs into
actionable, decision-ready intelligence.

* Support Multimodal Al: Develop infrastructure capable of powering Al
applications across diverse data modalities, extending beyond text.

2. Software: From Deterministic Rule-Based to Adaptive Systems

We are moving towards Al that dynamically adapts to new information and
unforeseen scenarios or edge situations, instead of many traditional enterprise
software’s deterministic and narrowly-scoped methods. Therefore, our focus in this
area is towards:

+ Agent-Centric Platforms: Shifting from static workflows towards software
platforms that enable collaborative, agent-based task execution.

+  Self-Optimising Knowledge Layers: Systems that continuously improve with
knowledge, and refine their own performance.

« Continuously Improving Architectures: Systems that inherently improve
functionality with use, complementing traditional system patches and software
update cycles.
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3. Al Roles: From Augmentation to greater Strategic Autonomy

We are progressing our Technology business beyond task automation, towards
assuming responsibility for complex workflows and contributing strategically. Our
recent technology investments and developments have included areas such as:

* Autonomous Customer Workflows: Developing Al agents that can manage

end-to-end customer-facing workflows.

*  Hyper-Personalisation Engines: Building tools that personalise operations at

the individual user level.

e Cross-Industry Autonomy Frameworks: Adaptable frameworks that enable

autonomous functions across diverse industries.

4. Human Roles: From Task Execution to Strategic Orchestration

As Al takes on more operational tasks, we see some human roles being increasingly
focused on higher-value activities. To that end, we are aligning our services to help

clients:

* Re-design Hybrid Workforce Processes: Re-define operational flows for

seamless human-Al hybrid collaboration.

* Transition Teams to Greater Oversight Roles: Shift team focuses from direct
task execution to managing feedback and control loops, and ensuring Al

alignment.

*  Empower Al-Augmented Leadership: Equip decision-makers to work with Al as
strategic partners, for enhanced judgement and foresight, not just as Al tools

Technology-Enabled Solutions Powering Mission-Critical Global Scale

Events (FinTech, Saa$, VR, and AR)

Al progression extends our foundational strength: translating emerging technologies
into measurable business value. And as robust Al strategies become the new imperative
for many enterprises — replacing traditional basic digital transformation as a business
strategy priority--Vongroup intends to be positioned as one of the leading partners in
defining and implementing this strategic shift by clients. This extends through strategic
technology investments within our Vongroup technology ecosystem.

For example, our subsidiary Claman Global Limited’s FringeBacker Events division
operates a prominent SaaS platform in Asia, specialising in integrated EventTech and
FinTech solutions for large-scale mission-critical global occasions. Recognised for
exceptional user experience, the platform serves as the technological backbone for some
of Hong Kong’s major international events. It delivers robust, high-security premium

white-label services, which is a key competitive differentiator.

Digitally hosting mission-critical mega-events (frequently engaging hundreds of

thousands of local and international participants) demands:

* Advanced Technology & Project Management: Deep expertise in complex logistics

and systems integration.

«  Stringent Security & Privacy: Enterprise-grade protocols for data protection and

operational integrity.

* Innovative FinTech Infrastructure: Reliable, scalable payment solutions for global

users.

*  Proven Operational Reliability: Consistent execution under high-stakes conditions.

We are actively integrating Bl, VR and AR technologies across the FringeBacker platform.

By doing so, this convergence enhances:

*  Real-time operational management and reporting
*  Secure, seamless payment processing

*  Dynamic participant engagement tools

*  End-to-end immersive experience delivery

Furthermore, we are enhancing Bl and Al-driven management capabilities specifically for
flagship international events — including marathons, trade expositions, premium ticketed
events, and advanced payment ecosystems — leveraging Vongroup’s technology ecosystem

to drive measurable operational efficiency and innovation.
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Transforming Enterprise Workflows: Al-Enabled Mobile Solutions for
Distributed Teams

Our subsidiary TeamTech advances mobile enterprise applications through its flagship
TeamSoft platform. As hybrid and field-based work models solidify for many enterprises
and industries, we provide tools that enhance their productivity, operational visibility,
and agility beyond the traditional office environment.

TeamSoft is evolving into an Al-empowered enterprise-level Saa$S platform, designed to
empower remote and mobile teams with intelligent workflows, real-time data access, and
embedded Al-driven insights. The platform aims to adapt, learn, and support decision-
making as business complexity scales.

We are expanding TeamSoft’s capabilities to serve industry-specific field operations,
including construction, maintenance, logistics, and health services. Our primary focus
targets SMEs with distributed workforces, where digital adoption might present significant
business opportunity for them and where mobility solutions deliver high ROI.

In the evolving landscape of Al-native operations, TeamSoft seeks to function as an
intelligent field operations platform, enabling enterprises to:

*  Accelerate and improve decision-making
«  Optimise resource allocation

*  Minimise operational friction

*  Enhance predictive capabilities

Future-Proofing Talent Through Al-Driven EdTech

As demand for continuous learning and digital fluency accelerates, our Greenie EdTech
division is evolving to meet the moment. Recognising the transformative potential of Al
in education and workforce development, we are enhancing our platforms with Al-driven
capabilities to support the next generation of enterprise learning.

Greenie EdTech provides a robust suite of remote learning tools, corporate and sales
training programmes, and technology platforms that support skill-building and
organisational agility. These solutions play a key role in helping clients address skills gaps
and adapt to evolving market conditions.

Looking ahead, we are actively integrating Al to personalise learning experiences,
automate training workflows, and provide real-time insights into learner progress and
outcomes. These enhancements will help our clients foster a future-ready workforce that
is capable of thriving in a business environment shaped by Al.

In this new phase, Greenie EdTech intends not only to respond to change — it will help
to lead it. By aligning education technologies with Al innovation, we are positioning
ourselves and our clients to succeed in a world where continuous learning and intelligent
systems are central to growth.

Strategic Expansion: Building a Scalable Base in Key International
Markets

While our presence in Asia continues to yield strong momentum, we are accelerating
growth in the UK, EU, and select international markets. We are strengthening our UK
operational base to serve as a strategic hub for regional initiatives tailored to European
client needs.

This expansion is driven by our clear vision: to facilitate business superintelligence and
digital transformation globally, leveraging our history of proven technology-for-business
successes from Asia. This approach combines:

* Cross-Border Expertise Transfer: Applying Asian market experience to European
opportunities

* Localised Innovation: Developing region-specific solutions from our UK base

*  Regulatory Alignment: Ensuring compliance within diverse operating environments

*  Customer-Centric Engagement: Building deep client relationships across regions

In doing so, we are extending our global footprint while enhancing our capacity to deliver
intelligent, scalable, and adaptive enterprise transformation solutions worldwide.
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Future Growth Prospects

As we accelerate our transformation to aim to be a leader in Al and other intelligence-
for-business-outcomes, Vongroup is actively focused on both opportunities and
internal technology development. In regard to opportunities, we prioritise strategic
investment, acquisition, and technology collaboration — particularly to scale-up in areas
that complement our existing technology ecosystem and that expand our capabilities
in intelligence-for-business-outcomes in general, and Al in particular, together with
enterprise automation, and vertical SaaS platforms.

We believe that the next wave of enterprise growth will be driven by ecosystems, not just
standalone products. By partnering with, investing in, or acquiring high-impact ventures
and technologies that are aligned with our vision, we aim to:

*  Expand our footprint in strategic markets

* Integrate next-gen Al tools into our platforms

e Fast-track product innovation across verticals

*  Enhance our ability to serve global clients with local relevance

This forward-looking strategy will allow us to scale intelligently, access new customer
segments, and jointly create future-ready solutions with partners who share our ambition
to redefine business performance.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Overall Performance

We are pleased to report a year that reflects our ability to execute our businesses with
discipline amid a dynamic business environment. For the year under review, Vongroup’s
overall revenue increased by 4.2% to HK$213.1 million (2024: HK$204.5 million). These
results underscore the resilience of our core operations and the accelerating demand for
our technology platforms across key markets.

At the heart of our business model is a commitment to long-term client value, driven
by a customer-centric mindset and strategic foresight. By proactively identifying and
investing in emerging technology trends, particularly in the fields of Al and intelligence-
for-business-outcomes, we seek to position ourselves towards the forefront of enterprise
transformation.

Our sustained client relationships remain a cornerstone of recurring revenues. At the
same time, our continued advancement into Al-enhanced platforms has opened new
verticals and product lines, deepening our relevance and expanding our addressable
market. This dual focus, on loyalty and innovation, has helped us generate consistent
service flows and repeat engagements from a high-quality client base.

Looking ahead, we will continue to strengthen and scale our operations through strategic
investments in people, platforms, technologies, and partnerships. With diversified
revenue streams and a clear roadmap for future innovation, we are confident in our
ability to deliver continued value for our clients, partners, and shareholders.

Technology-Related Business

The Group’s core revenue engine continues to be its technology-related business,
which encompasses Enterprise management systems, technology-intelligence-for-
business solutions, EventTech, FinTech, mobile enterprise solutions, EdTech, cloud-based
operations platforms, IT consulting, and enterprise digital transformation services. Our
offerings address the evolving needs of modern enterprises, with a focus on high-impact,
scalable technologies that enhance business performance and agility.

Our key areas of expertise include:

* a dynamic portfolio of technology-for-business solutions, with an increasing
empbhasis on intelligence-for-business

« Integrated EventTech and FinTech solutions for mega events

*  SaaS mobile enterprise solutions tailored for remote and hybrid workforces

* Al-powered learning and development platforms through our Greenie EdTech
division

* Virtual and hybrid conferencing, marketing, and engagement tools
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During the year under review, the segment achieved steady growth, with revenue
increasing by 4.8% to HK$206.8 million (2024: HK$197.4 million). Segment profit
amounted to HK$44.7 million (2024: HK$42.9 million), reflecting transitional investments
into platform innovation, Al integration, and market expansion-especially in the areas of
business superintelligence and data-driven solutions.

Revenues are derived from both new client acquisitions and ongoing engagements with
existing clients, who continue to rely on us to support their evolving business needs.
This combination provides a balanced and resilient revenue base, enabling us to reinvest
steadily into platform innovation and service enhancement.

By designing our technology eco-systems to be modular and integration-friendly,
we enable clients to extend capabilities in line with their growth ambitions while
maintaining consistency, continuity, and reliability in their operations. This approach
reinforces our role as a trusted long-term partner, supporting enterprises to achieve
resilience, agility, and intelligence in a rapidly evolving business environment.

Our success is also underpinned by the strength of our people. With multidisciplinary
expertise in business intelligence, enterprise management, data analytics, and digital
transformation, our teams take pride in delivering solutions that are both technically
robust and commercially relevant. Their dedication reflects the Vongroup commitment to
empowering organisations with high-impact, intelligent, and client-focused technologies.

As we continue evolving our Vongroup technology ecosystem, the Group remains
focused on enhancing the intelligence, interoperability, and commercial scalability of
our platforms. We see strong market demand for smart, industry-specific technologies
that enable data-informed decision-making, remote collaboration, and intelligent
automation. By staying ahead of these trends, we are well-positioned to create sustained
value for our clients and long-term growth for our business.

Potential Additions to Strengthen Our Base

As we accelerate our transformation into a leader in Al and other technologies-for-
business, Vongroup is actively focused on both acquisition opportunities and internal
technology development. In regard to opportunities, we prioritise strategic investment,
acquisition, and technology collaboration — particularly in scaling-up in areas that
complement our existing technology ecosystem and expand our capabilities in
technology-for-business in general, and Al in particular, enterprise automation, and
vertical SaaS platforms.

Property and Other Businesses

In response to ongoing shifts in Hong Kong's property landscape, the Group continues
to adopt a disciplined and adaptive approach to managing its real estate portfolio.
Our property business operates on a dual-value strategy-generating both capital gains
through strategic disposals and stable income via rental yield.

The Group’s portfolio comprises a diverse range of asset classes, including commercial
properties in Kowloon East’s CBD, prime residential units, and carpark properties. While
Hong Kong remains our core focus, our footprint extends to select holdings in Mainland
China and Macau. Each asset is actively managed to maximise long-term value through
selective acquisition, repositioning, operational improvement, and timely divestment.

In light of continued high interest rates and subdued market sentiment during the year
under review, particularly within the Hong Kong real estate sector, property valuations
have adjusted accordingly. As at 30 April 2025, the Group reported an unrealised fair
value of HK$210.6 million (2024: HK$228.3 million), with rental income for the year
under review totalling HK$4.6 million (2024: HK$5.5 million). This softening reflects
broader macroeconomic headwinds, yet the segment continues to contribute steady
cashflow and long-term value.

Looking ahead, we will continue to manage our property exposure with caution-focusing
on yield optimisation, defensive positioning, and identifying undervalued opportunities
both locally and overseas. Our priority is to ensure resilience and flexibility within this
segment while aligning our capital with the Group’s more scalable and growth-oriented
businesses.

The Group’s financial services division, encompassing securities trading and other related
operations, recorded revenue of HK$1.7 million (2024: HK$1.7 million) and a profit of
approximately HK$0.2 million (2024: HK$0.1 million).
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RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group is exposed to the risk of negative, volatile or of uncertain developments,
including but not limited to negative, volatile or uncertain developments in the global,
regional and local economies, in the financial and property markets, and in the changes
in patterns of consumption. These developments might reduce revenue or result in
reduced valuations of the Group’s investment properties or in the Group being unable
to meet its strategic objectives or in negative effect to its financial condition, results
of operations and businesses. The Company has adopted and will continue to adopt
prudent financial policies to cope with the impact of uncertain factors.

FUND RAISING EXERCISES

The Company did not have any equity fund raising activity during the year. There were no
unutilised proceeds brought forward from any issue of equity securities made in previous
years.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Potential Acquisition of Equity Interest in Rosarini International
Limited — FashionTech

On 27 May 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Rosarini Purchaser”)
entered into a share purchase and strategic alliance agreement with Karen Michelle
Scheinecker (the “Rosarini Vendor”), pursuant to which the Rosarini Purchaser
conditionally agreed to acquire, and the Rosarini Vendor conditionally agreed to sell, 40%
equity interest in Rosarini, which is principally engaged in the FashionTech business, at a
consideration of HK$22.0 million, which shall be satisfied as to HK$11.0 million in cash
and as to HK$11.1 million by the allotment and issue of 17,000,000 consideration shares
of the Company at an issue price of HK$0.65 per share.

Pursuant to the share purchase and strategic alliance agreement, the Rosarini Vendor
additionally conditionally granted to the Rosarini Purchaser the right to acquire up
to a further 11% equity interest in Rosarini from the Rosarini Vendor, which right is
exercisable at the discretion of the Rosarini Purchaser within 2 years of the completion
of the acquisition, at an exercise consideration of HK$6.1 million, or pro rata amount for
partial exercise.

If the Rosarini Purchaser fully exercises its right in respect of such additional acquisition,
and assuming no change in the shareholding of Rosarini, the Group will hold 51% of
Rosarini, in which case the financial results of Rosarini would then be consolidated
into the accounts of the Group. Details of this transaction were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 27 May 2021. As at the date of this report, this
acquisition has not yet completed.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

The Group had no significant investment of carrying value of 5% or more of the total
assets as at 30 April 2025 and 30 April 2024.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group maintained cash and bank balances as at 30 April 2025 amounting to
approximately HK$23.2 million (2024: HK$53.1 million). The Group’s current ratio as at
30 April 2025 was 5.1 (2024: 4.0). The total equity of the Group amounted to HK$562.1
million as at 30 April 2025 (2024: HK$546.5 million).

Gearing

The gearing ratio, as a ratio of interest-bearing borrowings to total equity, was 0.08 as at
30 April 2025 (2024: 0.10).
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EEENWRD A

Exchange Rate Exposure

The Group’s assets, liabilities and cash flow from operations are mainly denominated
in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars and Renminbi. The Group currently does not have any
related foreign exchanges hedges, however the Company monitors its foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedges should the need arise.

Treasury Policies

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated resources and bank
and other facilities. The interest rates of borrowings, if applicable, are generally charged
by reference to prevailing market rates.

As at 30 April 2025, there were bank borrowings and overdraft facility, which were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, of approximately HK$35.6 million (2024: HK$37.6
million) and approximately HK$7.3 million (2024: HK$14.6 million) respectively. The bank
borrowings that are not repayable within one year from the end of the reporting period
but contains a repayment on demand clause. The bank overdraft facility is used by the
Group as a flexible facility for daily operations similar to other banking facilities. All bank
borrowings were classified into current liabilities of the Group.

As at 30 April 2025, there was no unsecured loan entered into by a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary, which was denominated in Hong Kong dollars (2024: HK$0.8 million).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 30 April 2025, the Group did not have any material contingent liability (2024: nil).

Pledge of assets

As at 30 April 2025, the bank borrowings of the Group were drawn under banking
facilities. The banking facilities are secured and guaranteed by:

(i) Investment properties of the Group with an aggregate net carrying amount of
approximately HK$167.9 million (2024: HK$181.0 million);

(i) Leasehold land and buildings of approximately HK$9.5 million (2024: HK$10.0
million); and

(iili) An unlimited corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

All of the banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating to the
respective subsidiaries as are commonly found in lending arrangements with financial
institutions. If the subsidiaries were to breach the covenants, the drawn down facilities
would become repayable on demand. In addition, the subsidiaries’ loan agreements
contain clauses which give the lender the right at its sole discretion to demand
immediate repayment at any time irrespective of whether the subsidiaries have complied
with the covenants and met the scheduled repayment obligations.

Commitments

The Group had no capital commitments as at 30 April 2025 (2024: nil).

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 April 2025, the Group had 34 (2024: 38) employees in Hong Kong, Mainland
China, and the UK. The total staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) for the
year were approximately HK$8.8 million (2024: HK$8.5 million). The Group has
not experienced any significant problems with its employees or disruptions due to
labour disputes nor has it experienced difficulties in the recruitment and retention of
experienced staff. The Group remunerates its employees based on industry practices.
Its staff benefits, welfare, share options and statutory contributions, if any, are made
in accordance with individual performance and prevailing labour laws of its operating
entities.
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Executive Directors

Vong Tat leong David, aged 63, has been a director of the Company since 2005 and serves
as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He is also director of certain subsidiaries of
the Group. He was formerly Vice Chairman of the board of directors of CITIC 21CN Company
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange, from 2003-2004. Before that, he was
director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer of i100 Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, since he co-founded the 100 Group in 2000 with an international consortium
whose key participants included management and leading institutional investors. Prior to
that, he was Chief Executive Officer at Pollon Infrastructure Corporation, an infrastructure
investment holding company focused on power and telecom assets, since 1997. Mr. Vong is
a graduate of Yale Law School and The London School of Economics and Political Science.

Xu Siping, aged 66, has been a director of the Company since 2005 and held a series
of senior policy positions for about 18 years at the PRCs State Economic and Trade
Commission and the National Development and Reform Commission (formerly the State
Planning Commission), from 1983-2000, before retiring from public service in the central
government. Mr Xu is a graduate of Dalian University of Technology.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Daphne Bontein da Rosa Gohel, aged 64, has been an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company since 2023. She is a member of the Company's Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee. She is a senior management
executive, and has been engaged in executive management, international governmental
relations matters, technology business operations and port management business for over
30 years. She holds a Diploma in Human Resource Management from the University of
Hong Kong and is an Associate Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Human Resource
Management.

Ms Gohel was formerly a senior manager in the Group Managing Director's Office at
Hutchison Port Holdings Limited, a group that is engaged in the operation of ports in over
20 countries.

Fung Ka Keung David, aged 62, has been an Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company since 2005. He is the chairman of the Company’s Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Company’s Nomination Committee. He
holds a master degree in Business Administration from the University of Leicester. Mr.
Fung possesses more than 30 years of experience in accounting and finance. He was
the executive director of Asia Energy Logistics Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 351) from January 2010 to June 2017. Mr. Fung is a fellow member
of both the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

Susie Au, aged 62, has been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
since February 2024. She is a member of the Company's Audit Committee. She is a senior
executive with a degree from the State University of New York. Bringing over 25 years of
extensive experience in executive and operational management, she currently serves as
a senior management executive, and director of Handmade Films Limited. Her expertise
also encompasses evaluating media investments and businesses, devising media and
business strategies, overseeing production and execution as well as creative direction.
Ms Au has worked in partnership with corporates and partners, both in Hong Kong
and internationally, particularly in live and major events involving art, music and the
integration of related technologies.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited financial statements of
Vongroup Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended
30 April 2025.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of
the Group comprise technology businesses, property businesses and financial services
businesses.

Business Review

A review of the Group’s business during the year, which includes performance analysis,
particulars of important events and future developments of the Group’s business, are
set out in the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 11 to 18 of this report. This
discussion forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group is committed to complying with all environmental policies and other relevant
laws and regulations related to its business operating environment. During the year
ended 30 April 2025, the Group complied with all other relevant laws and regulations in
different jurisdictions (for example, Employment Ordinance and Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance). The relationships among the employees, customers, suppliers
and environment are discussed in the Environment, Social and Governance Report set out
on pages 34 to 42. In addition, the shares of the Company are listed on The Hong Kong
Stock Exchange Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), therefore, the Company is also required
to comply with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) and other relevant regulations.

Relationship with Employees, Customers and Suppliers

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship with its
employees and customers to meet its short-term and long-term business goals. During
the year ended 30 April 2025, there was no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its employees and customers.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to operate in compliance with the applicable environmental
laws as well as to protect the environment by minimizing the negative impact of the
Group’s existing business activities on the environment.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

There are various risks and uncertainties including business risks, operational risks
and financial risks that may have different levels of impact on the Group’s financial
performance, operations, business as well as future prospects. For risks and uncertainties
relating to the business and operation of the technology business, which is the major
business of the Group, the Group’s ability of innovation and adaption of rapid change
of the technology business are critical to success and growth. If any stricter regulations
regarding the Group’s operation or the technology industry are enacted in the future,
business and operation of the Group may also be significantly impacted. Security
breaches and attacks against the Group’s systems and network, and any potentially
resulting breach or failure to otherwise protect personal, confidential and proprietary
information, could damage the reputation and negatively impact the business, as well as
materially and adversely affect the financial condition and results of operations.

Details of the financial risks are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Vong Tat leong David
Xu Siping

Independent non-executive Directors:

Daphne Bontein da Rosa Gohel
Fung Ka Keung David
Susie Au

In accordance with article 87 of the Company’s articles of association, Vong Tat leong
David and Xu Siping will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

None of the above Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Confirmation of independence

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an
annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and the Company considers the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Directors’ Interest in Transaction, Arrangement or Contract of
Significance

Details of the related party transactions for the year ended 30 April 2025 are set out in
notes 8 and 31 to the consolidated financial statements. The related party transactions as
set out in notes 8 and 31 constituted fully exempt continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Nothwithstanding the above, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Group was a party and in which a Director
or his connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
during or at the end of the financial year.

Five Year Summary of Financial Information

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page
115.

Donations

No donation was made by the Group during the year (2024: Nil).

Share Capital

Details of the share capital are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Distributable Reserves

As at 30 April 2025, the Company’s reserves available for distribution amounted to
approximately HK$278.8 million (2024: HK$275.0 million).

Dividends

The Board does not recommend payment of final dividends for the year ended 30 April
2025 (2024: Nil).
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Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to Article 165 of the articles of association (the “Articles”) of the Company, the
Directors and other officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain in the execution
of their duty, excluding any losses and liabilities that arise from fraud or dishonesty. The
above indemnity provision was in force during the course of the year and remained in
force as of the date of this annual report.

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 31 October 2022 (the "Scheme").
Pursuant to the Scheme, the Directors of the Company, at their discretion, may grant
options to Directors, officers and employees (whether full time or part-time) of the
Company or a subsidiary and any other groups or classes of suppliers, customers, sub-
contractors or agents of the Group from time to time determined by the Directors as
having contributed or may contribute to the development and growth of the Group. The
Scheme will expire on 30 October 2032. The total number of share options available for
grant under the Scheme was 22,707,483 as at 1 May 2024 and remained the same as at
30 April 2025. The total number of Shares available for issue under the Scheme as at 31
July 2025 was 22,707,483, representing 8.4% of the issued Shares on that date. No share
options were granted during the financial years ended 30 April 2024 and 30 April 2025.
Please see note 26 to the consolidated financial statements for further details.

Commitments

The Group had no capital commitment during the year (2024: Nil).

Events After the Reporting Period

No significant event has occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this
report.

Director’s and Chief Executive’s Interests in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures

The interests and short positions of Directors, including the chief executive of the
Company in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) as at 30 April 2025 as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”), are set out below.

Long positions in shares of the Company
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22,707,483  WHE—_ZE-_HFWUWA=Z+HRETE -HE—
TRAFLA=+T—H REZTEUBRTHOROEEA
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BEMEER
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R-ZB-AFWA=1R BER(BERARFAERITHRAR)
RAR B R EAEAEEE (REEENE1EES RIS
P78 5 R B E &P 1) SExXval 2 F 5 ) 2 Bt K A8 RE A 1)
BEBREREES LB RIIE2FFE 2 ELMA - X
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Percentage of

Name of Director Nature of interest Number of shares shareholding
EEpE EEME R &E BFREDL
Vong Tat leong David Interest in a controlled corporation 146,184,436 (L)% 53.98%'"

=ED BRI GIRER A
Notes:
(1) The interest in these shares was held by Vongroup Holdings limited which is wholly owned by

Vong Tat leong.
) The letter “L” denotes long position in the Shares.

3) As at 30 April 2025, the total number of issued Shares was 270,827,299 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 April 2025, none of the Directors or chief executive of
the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be recorded in the register kept by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Other than the New Share Option Scheme disclosed above, at no time during the year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement which enables the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

Substantial Shareholder’s Interest in Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 30 April 2025, so far as is known to the Directors, the following persons (other than
a Director or chief executive of the Company) had interests in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

Long positions in shares of the Company
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Percentage of issued

Name Capacity Number of shares share capital
=18 14 RHHE HMERITREZES L
Vongroup Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 146,184,436 (L) 53.98%
(note 1) (HE1) EmfEA A

Allyking International Limited Beneficial owner 34,885,000 (L) 12.88%
(note 2) (K1z£2) EmfEA A

Kingston Investment Assets Limited Beneficial owner 23,252,466 (L) 8.6%

(note 3) (M17£3) EnBEAA
Notes:
(1) Vongroup Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Vong Tat leong David, an executive Director

and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
) Allyking International Limited is wholly owned by Huang Rong.
3) Kingston Investment Assets Limited is wholly owned by Nip Brian Donald.

Save as disclosed above, no other persons had any interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company as at 30 April 2025 as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

Investment Properties

Details of the investment properties of the Group are set out in notes 12 to the
consolidated financial statements and the list of properties set out on page 116.

Bank loans and other borrowings

Particular of bank loan and other borrowings of the Group as at 30 April 2025 are set out
in note 23 to the financial statements.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the
year.

Major Customers and Suppliers

Sales from the five largest customers of the Group accounted for less than 30% of the
total Group’s turnover for the year.

Purchases from the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for less than 30% of the
total Group’s purchases for the year.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their close associates
or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of
issued shares of the Company) had an interest in these major customers and suppliers.
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(1) Vongroup Holdings Limited BZAA A RIITE = RITHABH EEFLE
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(2)  Allyking International Limited i 2 & 2 &4 ©
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Purchases, Sale or Redemption of Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 30 April 2025.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the company has maintained the prescribed public float
under the Listing Rules.

Closure of Register of Members

The annual general meeting of the Company is scheduled to be held in October 2025.
The closure of the register of members of the Company for determining the entitlement
to attend and vote at the annual general meeting will be set out in the notice of annual
general meeting which will be despatched to shareholders of the Company in due course.

Auditors

Mazars CPA Limited resigned as the auditor of the Company on 1 March 2024 and
Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited (“Zhonghui”) was appointed as auditor of the Company
on 1 March 2024. Save as aforesaid, there has been no other change in auditor of the
Company in any of the preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2025
have been audited by Zhonghui who shall retire and, being eligible, offer itself for
re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution to appoint
Zhonghui as the auditor of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix its
remuneration will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Vong Tat leong David
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong
31 July 2025
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The Company is firmly committed to maintaining and improving the quality of corporate
governance so to ensure better transparency of the Company, protection of shareholders’
and stakeholders’ rights and enhance shareholder value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year under review, the Company has complied with the code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) and periodically reviews its
corporate governance practices to ensure that these continue to meet the requirements
of the CG Code, except for the deviation from code provisions C.1.7, C.2.1, and B.2.2 in
the CG Code as described below.

Under code provision C.1.7, the Company should arrange appropriate insurance cover
in respect of legal action against its directors. However, the Company did not take out
insurance cover in respect of legal action against the Directors during the year ended 30
April 2025 because it is believed that this legal risk to the Directors is quite low.

Under code provision C.2.1, the role of chairman and chief executive officer (the “CEQ”)
should be performed by different individuals. Vong Tat leong David, who is a director
and CEO of the Company, has also carried out the responsibilities of the chairman of the
Company. The Board considers the present structure is more suitable to the Company for
it can provide strong and consistent leadership and allow for more efficient formulation
and implementation of the Company’s development strategies.

Under code provision B.2.2, every Director should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. The independent non-executive Directors of the Company are not
appointed for a specific term which is derivated from code provision B.2.2. In accordance
with Article 87 of the Articles of Association adopted on 31 October 2022 (the “Articles”) of
the Company, at least one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office
by rotation, who have been longest in office since their last re-election, provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once
every three years. As such, the Board considers that this deviation is acceptable.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as the
code of conduct regarding securities transactions of the Directors. The Model Code
applies to all Directors and to all employees who are informed that they are subject to
its provisions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirms that
all Directors have complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code during
the year ended 30 April 2025.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board comprises five members: two executive Directors, namely Vong Tat leong
David and Xu Siping; and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Susie Au,
Daphne Bontein da Rosa Gohel and Fung Ka Keung David. The Board members have
different academic and professional backgrounds and possess excellent commercial
relationships in their professional fields. The biographical details of the Board members
are set out on page 19 of this Annual Report.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among themselves.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Roles and Functions

The function of the Board is to formulate corporate strategy and business development.
The Board meets regularly to discuss operational issues and evaluate the financial
performance of the Group. The Board will consider and approve acquisition and disposal,
remuneration policy, appointment and retirement of Directors, connected transactions,
placing and repurchase of shares and dividend policy of the Group in pursuit of its
strategic goals. Control and day-to-day operation of the Company is delegated to the CEO
and the management of the Company.

Directors’ Attendance Record

The Board held nine Board meetings during the year ended 30 April 2025. The Directors
who cannot attend in person might participate through other electronic means of
communication. Notices of meetings and board papers were given to all Directors prior
to the meetings in accordance with the CG Code. The attendance record of Directors at
Board meetings, Board committee meetings and the annual general meeting held on 31
October 2024 (the “2024 AGM”) are as follows:
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Attended/Held

R CETES
Remuneration Nomination Audit
Committee Committee Committee
Board meeting meeting meeting meeting 2024 AGM
FHESS REZES BREES TECMEF
Members of the Board E=EgHE EzgeR = b= g% RBREBEXE
Executive Directors: HTES:
Vong Tat leong David il 4/4 11 11 N/ATE A 11
Xu Siping RETTE 4/4 N/ATiE N/ATNE N/ATNE 0N
Independent non-executive Directors: B FHITES :
Daphne Bontein da Rosa Gohel Daphne Bontein da Rosa Gohel 4/4 171 il 3/3 11
Fung Ka Keung David 55 4/4 171 11 33 11
Susie Au & 4/4 N/ATNE A N/ATNE 33 0/1

Directors’ Training Record

The Directors are encouraged to attend external seminars and training programmes at
the Company’s expense to update themselves with legal and regulatory developments,
and the business and market changes to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.
Continuing briefings and professional development for Directors will be arranged
whenever necessary.

During the year, the Directors were provided with regular updates on the Group’s
business and operations and attended training, seminars and webinars and read the
update news about Listing Rules and/or related materials.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of the Chairman and CEO are currently held by the same individual, Vong
Tat leong David. Mr. Vong is responsible for formulating the corporate strategies of the
Group. He also provides leadership to the Board and the management, monitors the daily
operation of the Group and evaluates the effectiveness and efficiency of the business
operations of the Group in order to ensure the outcomes are in line with the strategies.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Continued)

The Board will continue to review and consider segregating the roles of the Chairman
and CEO at an appropriate time, taking into account the circumstances of the Group as a
whole.

Appointments and re-election of Directors

Pursuant to the Articles of the Company, every Director shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy or as an additional Director shall hold office only until the first annual
general meeting after his appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election.

As at 30 April 2025, Fung Ka Keung David (“Mr. Fung”), has served as independent non-
executive Director for over nine years. In accordance with the requirement of the Listing
Rules, his appointment as independent non-executive Directors of the Company is
subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”).

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

The Company’s Audit Committee is composed of three independent non-executive
Directors, currently, Fung Ka Keung, David (Chairman of the Audit Committee), Daphne
Bontein da Rosa Gohel and Susie Au. The Audit Committee members performed their
duties within written terms of reference formulated by the Company in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules. Its primary duties are as below:

(1) make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or
dismissal;

(2) review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable standards;

(3) review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems;

(4) review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices; and

(5) discuss the risk management and internal control systems with the management of
the Company to ensure that management has performed its duty to have an effective
system, including the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function.

The Board has also delegated the corporate governance function to the Audit Committee.
The delegated authority for performing the corporate governance duties sets out below:

(1) to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on corporate governance
and make recommendations to the Board;

(2) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of the
Directors and senior management;

(3) to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with all legal
and regulatory requirements;

(4) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any)
applicable to employees and Directors; and

(5) to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

During the year under review and up to the date of this Annual Report, the Audit
Committee has performed the following duties:

— reviewed the interim report and annual report of the Group;

— reviewed the significant accounting policies and the impact of the adoption of new
accounting standards;

— discussed the audit issue with the external auditors;

— made recommendations to the Board in relations to the re-appointment and change
of auditors of the Group, discussed independence of the auditors and approved the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the auditors;

— reviewed the internal control system and risk management; and
— discussed and reviewed the Group’s compliance with the CG Code.

Remuneration Committee

The Company’s Remuneration Committee is composed of two independent non-
executive Directors, Fung Ka Keung, David (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee)
and Daphne Bontein da Rosa Gohel, and one executive Director, Vong Tat leong David.
The Remuneration Committee members performed their duties within written terms of
reference formulated by the Company in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules. Its primary duties are as below:

(1) make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for
all directors’ and senior management remuneration and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(2) review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

(3) determine with delegated responsibility or make recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration packages of individual executive directors and senior
management; and

(4) make recommendations to the Board regarding the remuneration of non-executive
directors.

Director's remuneration package has been reviewed annually with respect to his/her
individual performance, responsibilities, and financial performance of the Group.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the remuneration
policies and approved the remuneration of the Directors. None of the Directors
participated in his/her own remuneration discussion in the meeting.

Nomination Committee

The Company’s Nomination Committee is composed of two independent non-
executive Directors, Daphne Bontein da Rosa Gohel and Fung Ka Keung David and one
executive Director, Vong Tat leong David (Chairman of the Nomination Committee). The
Nomination Committee members performed their duties with written terms of reference
formulated by the Company in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. Its
primary duties are as below:

(1) formulate nomination policy for consideration by the Board and implement the
nomination policy approved by the Board;

(2) identify suitably qualified candidates to become Board members, select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships or to fill casual vacancies of directors for the Board’s approval;

(3) review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board at least annually and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

(4) assess the independence of independent non-executive directors;

(5) make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
directors and succession planning for directors, in particular the chairman of the
Board and the chief executive;

(6) review Director Nomination Policy; and

(7) review the Board Diversity Policy and review the measureable objectives for
implementing diversity on the Board.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee assessed the independence of
the independent non-executive Directors and made recommendations on the re-election
of retiring Directors to the Board.

Board Diversity Policy

According to the Board Diversity Policy of the Company, board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service etc. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service etc. The responsibilities
and authority for selection and appointment of Directors is delegated to the Nomination
Committee but the ultimate responsibility for selection and appointment of Directors of
the Company rests with the entire Board. The final decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

In addition, the Policy is reviewed annually to ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

The Board is composed of members of different genders to maintain an appropriate
balance of diversity. For the year ended 30 April 2025, the proportion of male and female
members of the Board was approximately 60% and 40% respectively, achieving gender
diversity on the Board.

As at 30 April 2025, the proportion of male and female in the workforce of the Company
was approximately 53% and 47% respectively. The Company will also ensure that there is
gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid to senior level.

Director Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy for the election of Directors. The policy,
devising the criteria and procedures of selection and performance evaluation, provides
guidance to the Board on the nomination and appointment of Directors of the Company.

The Nomination Committee and the Board may nominate candidates for directorship.
In assessing the suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed
candidate, the Nomination Committee may make reference to certain selection criteria,
such as personal reputation, academic and professional qualifications and skills,
accomplishment and experience in the technology markets, time commitment and
relevant contribution, diversity in all aspects.

The Nomination Committee shall discuss each nomination and make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment of Director. The Board, with the recommendation from
the Nomination Committee, should make a balanced and informed decision on the
appointment of Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Procedures for Nomination of Director by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 88 of the Articles, no person other than a retiring Director shall,
unless recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for election to the office of
Director at any general meeting, unless notice in writing by a Shareholder (not being the
person to be proposed) entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice
is given of his intention to propose such person for election as a Director and notice in
writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the office
or head office of the Company at least seven days before the date of the general meeting,
such period for lodgment of the notices shall commence no earlier than the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no
later than seven days prior to the date of such meeting provided that such period shall be
at least seven days.

The Board and the Nomination Committee will only consider the candidate nominated
by Shareholder(s) if the above procedures are followed and the required notices are duly
served to the Company.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fees for audit services payable to Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited for the year ended 30
April 2025 was HK$1.25 million (2024: HK$1.3 million).

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing consolidated financial
statements for the financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group and of the Group’s results and its cash flows.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The senior management has provided to the Board, on a monthly basis, the necessary
explanation and information to enable the Board to make an informed, balanced and
understandable assessment of the financial position of the Company, which is put
forward to the Board for approval.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company and its subsidiaries and reviewing their effectiveness. The Board oversees the
overall risk management of the Group and endeavours to identify, control impact of the
identified risks and facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. If risks
and irregularity events which may bring any material adverse impacts to the Group, the
outcome will be discussed in the Board.

During the year under review, the Company has adopted and reviewed the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control and risk management procedures which include
the policies, procedures, monitoring and communication activities and standard of
behaviour established for safeguarding the interests of the Shareholders. The risk
management and internal control systems of the Company aim to help achieving the
Group’s business objectives, safeguarding assets and maintaining proper accounting
records for provision of reliable financial information. However, the design of the systems
is to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement in
the financial statements or loss of assets and to manage, rather than eliminate, the risks
of failure when business objectives are being sought.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (Continued)
Risk Identification

» Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment

*  Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria developed by the
management; and

*  Considers the impact and consequence on the business and the likelihood of their
occurrence.

Risk Response

«  Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk assessment; and

* Determines the risk management strategies and internal control processes to
prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

*  Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and ensures that appropriate
internal control processes are in place;

*  Revises the risk management strategies and internal control processes in case of any
significant change of situation; and

*  Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management and the Board regularly.

The Board reviewed the risk management and internal control systems on an annual
basis and identified certain risks, namely (i) cybersecurity risk, (ii) talent shortage and (iii)
rapid technological change, in our operating environment. Such risks are discussed in
the Directors’ Report set out on pages 20 to 24. The Board considered that the Group has
adequate resources, including headcount and budget, for the accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions.

Internal Audit Function

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by the internal auditor who reports
directly to the Audit Committee. The internal auditor plays an important part in the
assessment of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group and reports directly to the Audit Committee on a regular basis.

The internal auditor conducts internal reviews on material controls and compliance with
policies and procedures of the Group at both operational and corporate levels. Plans and
tools for corrective actions and control improvement are identified and communicated
with operations management to address an issue, non-compliance or deficiencies
identified. The internal auditor monitors the implementation of his recommendations by
operations management and reports the outcomes to the Audit Committee.

Based on its assessment which covers all material controls including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions, the Board believes that for the
year ended 30 April 2025, the Company’s internal control and risk management systems
are effective and adequate. The Board is satisfied that there are adequate resources of staff
with appropriate qualifications and experience in its accounting and financial reporting
team and that sufficient training and budget have been provided.

Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company has a policy for handling and disclosing inside information for allowing
a balanced, clear and fair assessment of the Group’s performance by the Shareholders,
potential investors and stakeholders of the Company. The Company understands its
liabilities under the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong). As the Group has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
for securities transactions by Directors and designated staff, their dealings in the Company’s
securities are strictly prohibited before the publication of inside information to the public.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (Continued)

Whistleblowing Policy

The Group has a whistleblowing policy in place which allows our employees and
business partners (including customers and suppliers) to report any concerns, suspected
fraudulent or unethical acts or non-compliance issues to the Board or the Company
Secretary or the chairman of the Audit Committee. Any report must be in writing and an
anonymous report is not encouraged. In addition, the whistleblowing policy also set out
the procedures for handling cases and the guideline for protecting whistleblowers.

Anti-Corruption Policy

A fair and open business environment is important for every business. Corruption will
undermine a fair playing field and destroy the reputation of the business. Therefore, we
required all employees, suppliers and customers to comply with all relevant laws and
regulations in different jurisdictions, such as Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter
21 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Criminal Law of the PRC, Anti-Unfair Competition Law of
the PRC. The Group will take follow-up action if a non-compliance case is noted, such as
termination of the contract and reporting to a related authority. We have reviewed the
existing anti-corruption approach and considered it satisfactory.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Wong Wing Cheung (“Mr. Wong”) was appointed as the company secretary (the “Company
Secretary”) and the authorized representative of the Company in August 2024. Mr. Wong
is a Practicing Certified Public Accountant certified under the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He holds a bachelor degree in business administration in
accountancy from City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Wong has over 15 years of experience
in initial public offering, corporate acquisitions and restructuring, due diligence, audit
and internal control. From 2005 to 2014, Mr. Wong held various positions in several audit
firms, providing audit services in China and Hong Kong to various corporations. Prior
to joining the Company, Mr. Wong has set up a consultancy firm for providing advisory
services on financial, tax, internal control and daily operation of listed companies.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company does not have any predetermined dividend payout ratio. The declaration
and payment of dividends shall be determined at the sole discretion of the Board after
taking into account, among others, the general financial condition of the Group, the
capital and debt level of the Group, the future cash requirements and availability for
business operations, business strategies and future development needs, the general
market conditions and any other factors that the Board deems appropriate. The payment
of dividends by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under all applicable laws,
rules and regulations and the Articles.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Constitutional Documents

There has been no change to the Company’s constitutional documents during the year
under review. An up-to-date version of the Company’s Articles of Association is available
on the Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s website.

The Company is committed to maintaining good relations with its Shareholders and the
investment community. The shareholders’ communication policy sets out the principles
for handling Shareholders’ matters and the investment community in an equal, open and
timely manner. Shareholders could understand our business development and financial
position by visiting the website of the Company, reading any corporate communications
(such as announcements, interim and annual reports) and should actively participate in
general meetings of the Company. The Board reviewed the shareholder’'s communication
policy and was satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of the policy.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Procedures for Shareholders to convene an EGM

Pursuant to Articles 58 of the Articles, an extraordinary general meeting (‘EGM”) can be
convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders of the Company holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth (10%) of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the
Company, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit, the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at shareholders’ meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles or the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands for
shareholders to move new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to
move a resolution may request the Company to convene a general in accordance with the
procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send requisitions and requests to the Board or the secretary of the
Company in writing to the principal place of business of the Company at 17A, EGL Tower,
83 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the Company’s
Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Investor Services Limited.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R -HERERRE

BOARD STATEMENT

The Board is pleased to present this Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(“ESG Report”), which reviews the Group’s ESG initiatives, plans, performance, as well as
its sustainable development in respect of environmental protection, labour practices,
business operations, supply chain management and other ESG issues for for the year
ended 30 April 2025. As a responsible corporate, the Group views ESG commitment as
part of its responsibilities and is committed to incorporating ESG considerations into its
decision making process.

The purpose of this ESG Report is to improve stakeholders’ understanding and to
introduce ongoing sustainability initiatives directed towards the community and the
environment.

This ESG Report supplements information disclosed elsewhere in our Annual Report
2025. For the governance section, please refer to the Corporate Governance Report
as set out on pages 25 to 33 of our Annual Report 2025. The Company has adopted
the principles and the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in Part 2 of
Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The Company has complied
with all the code provisions set out in the CG Code throughout the year under review,
except for deviations as described elsewhere in our Annual Report 2025.

REPORTING STANDARD AND PRINCIPLES

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide set out in
Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules and the operational status of the Group.

During preparation of this ESG Report, the Group has applied the following reporting
principles of the ESG Reporting Guide.

Materiality: Materiality assessment was conducted to identify and prioritise material
ESG issues during the Reporting Year, thereby adopting the confirmed material ESG
issues as the focus for the preparation of this ESG Report. The materiality of ESG
issues was reviewed and confirmed by the Board and senior management of the
Group. Please refer to the section headed “Stakeholders Engagement” and “Materiality
Assessment” for further details.

Quantitative: The standards and methodologies used in the calculation of relevant
data in this ESG Report, as well as the applicable assumptions are disclosed. The key
performance indicators (“KPIs”) are supplemented by explanatory notes to establish
benchmarks where feasible.

Consistency: The preparation approach of this ESG Report are substantially consistent
with the ESG report of previous year and explanations were provided regarding data
with changes in the scope of disclosure and calculation methodologies. This ESG Report
has undergone the internal review process of the Group’s management and has been
approved by the Board.

THE ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is responsible for the Company’s approach, strategy and reporting in
respect of the ESG issues. The Board, with the assistance of the Audit Committee and
the management of the Group (the “Management”), reviews the effectiveness of the
internal control system, risk management, including the risk management mechanism,
policies and procedures, and major control measures implemented covering aspects
of finance, operation, compliance as well as sustainable development. The Board also
reviews ESG reports and the progress made against ESG-related goals and targets from
time to time, inspects the ESG-related issues and identifies the key opportunities.
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THE ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE (Continued)

The Board has delegated to the Management the overall responsibility to implement the
approved ESG strategies and policies. The Management is responsible for examining and
addressing all the environmental and social issues listed in the aspects and areas in the
ESG Guide, as well as managing the established key performance indicators in line with the
Group’s strategies and policies. The Management evaluates ESG related issues and assesses
their materiality to our business as well as to our stakeholders regularly. The Management
also reviews the process, attainability and implementation of the sustainable development
measures against the ESG related goals and targets of the Group periodically, to ensure
that the Group fulfills and complies with its environmental and social responsibilities
and obligations in compliance with the ESG Guide, the laws and related regulations and
all relevant statutory requirements, operating practices and standards of Hong Kong.
Communication with the stakeholders will be strengthened and sustainable development
policies will be adjusted if the performance does not meet the expected targets and operations
of the Group. The Management confirmed that those systems are effective for the reporting
period under review.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values the mutual understanding with its stakeholders and believes that
fostering a sound relationship with the stakeholders is the premise of value creation for
all. In order to strengthen our understanding of stakeholders’ expectations and needs,
as well as to identify material issues, the Group maintained diversified communication
channels for the external and internal stakeholders (including but not limited to, where
applicable, shareholders, customers, suppliers, employees, governmental organisations,
and regulated bodies).
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STAKEHOLDERS COMMUNICATION CHANNELS EXPECTATIONS
BiE BERE M2
Shareholders and Investors + Annual general meeting I AT KE + Financial performance 8/ 7§%& 3R
BRRREEE + Financial reports B 73R & « Information transparency {=.8.% 8
+ Announcements and circulars 255 % 38 X + Operating risks management & & @[3 & 12
« Company website 22 &) 48uf « Corporate sustainability DS [ E % E
» Enhancement in company core value
ReARNZOMER
Management and employees « Trainings and workshops 555l & T {ES « Humanity and labour rights A8 & 45 TH#E25
EEERER + Performance evaluation or appraisal + Occupational health and safety Bt EFE KL 2
EREHE S EZ « Career development EFHE
« Internal announcement AEEA S « Equal opportunity ‘FE <
* Face to face communication [ ¥ /&8
Suppliers and business partners + Meetings €% + Selection with due care to ensure fair and open
HERREERT « Direct contacts (telephone and/or email) procurement of stable and qualified products and
HEE(EERER) services
« Business cooperation AAFARAN A N EREHERREEEBERER
A EIE B EE G A AR 7S
* Supply chain management
HEsE TR
* Ensuring contractual obligations are in place to
protect mutual benefit
BRETEAHES  RERE =
Customers * Meetings and events + Ensuring contractual obligations are in place for
LSS VST protection of customers’ benefits and rights
- Direct contacts by telephone and/or email BRETEAHET  MRERP Fa RIEF
FEBEERNEBIE B « Collecting customers’ opinion from various channels
in order to improve customer satisfaction
HEBREWEREFER URABFPREE
Government and regulatory bodies » Written or electronic correspondences » Compliance with local laws and regulations
U K LB et EEXEFRA BT E A IR
» Regular reports and filing « Compliant operation and corporate governance
TEBARE K B R AREENMPEESR
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group identified ESG related issues which are considered to have impacts on the
environment and the society during our operation in accordance with the disclosure
requirements set out in the ESG Guide and the business nature and operation of the
Group. Through a variety of open communication channels, the Group gains a deeper
understanding of its stakeholders’ concerns and expectations, which facilitates the
Group to better position itself in the competitive market and to make rapid and
appropriate strategic adjustments and helps the Group to determine the materiality of
ESG issues. The ESG issues considered to be material and with areas of improvement in
the future ESG work of the Group are listed below:

ASPECTS
=]

EEMME

AREBERFIRE LG MEREIINKERR  HEAKE
MEBEEREEER BALRMAEERRPRARY
REMMIELFENORE HEREAHEMBE - BB%
R BERRE  AEBERAIBEREDE R R
ZMADAEEERFRNNT ST EERHEE F
EATREM WREMEE HBERE . T ARE A ER
FodghkEamEmER N  AEEHRRERRE HE M
BRTERPHEAEAEAFRENRE HLERERE
R -

MATERIAL ISSUES
EREH

Emissions and Use of Resources

PR K B IR A

Employment Management

EREERE

Operating Practices
BEER

Community Investment

HERIRE

REPORTING SCOPE

During the year under review, the Group has three business segments which are (i)
technology-related, (ii) property-related and (iii) financial services-related. Revenue
generated from the technology-related segment represented about 97% of the total
revenue of the Group for the year ended from 1 May 2024 to 30 April 2025 (the
“Reporting Period”). The Board considered that technology-related business is our core
business and, therefore, allocated resources accordingly to this business segment. This
report mainly covers the operational information of the technology-related segment
and certain activities of the Group for the Reporting Period.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL
Aspect A1: Emissions

Our policy is to minimize environmental impacts and to fully comply with laws and
regulations in relation to air and greenhouse gas (‘GHG”) emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes. During the
reporting year, the Management provided confirmation on compliance with those
laws and regulations. In our business, we focus on minimizing our environmental
footprint in order to make a positive impact on the environment. We also engage our
staff and partners to promote environmentally sustainable business practices.

Our environmental footprint is mainly comprised of GHG emissions from electricity
and water consumption from our business operations, which are mainly office-
based, and therefore do not result in massive air emissions, discharges into water
and land or generation of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes.

* Greenhouse gas emissions
B ZE R

» Energy consumption and savings
BLIREFE R BEIRENAY

« Water consumption and savings

FEZKE M Hi7K

* Employee welfare and working conditions
B BRI R TEEY

* Work-life balance
TR AE T

« Occupational health and safety
BEREETS

« Staff training and development
BTHEIIRER

* Human rights and equal opportunities

AERTFERE

» Supplier selection mechanism
A 7 T A

* Quality Assurance & Customer satisfaction
nEEEREPREE

* Business ethics
[BESEE:

* Community Services
I AR TS

* Charity
RE

BEHE

REBEFER  REBHEE )RR ())EBE R
BRBEB=EXE M- BE_FT_HFAA-—RE_
ZoRFMA=TRALEFE(RSH]) BEBESBES
BV AKME AR BRI A% - EF R RARIERE RS
ERMOLLER  BMMAZET D B ERZER - AR
SEBRERETHANMBZAE S MOLLEH AR AREE
BETES
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BRE HEREAES

A BT (&)

Aspect A1: Emissions (Continued) EBEA1 - HiWy (&)
Key Performance Indicator: EERAENFENE -
Types 2025 2024
5l —E-RF —ZomE
Total Intensity Total Intensity
we RnE nE mE
(CO.e per (COse per
(in CO,e) million revenue) (in CO,e)  million revenue)
(=EfLa (&L
1 % BE
(ZEtmEE) BEBWA) (Z&lbiEs) BERA)
GHG emissions = SRR HEA 21,473 117 20,450 115

We support environmental conservation at all our offices and business locations.

We advocate paperless office in all our business operations. We encourage staff
to think about the necessity of printing and the promotion of use of electronic
banking, e-statements, e-bill, e-receipts, e-copies, and e-filing. For documents
circulated internally, we set a printing policy of using recycled paper first and
double-sided printing the next. Other office measures to reduce the use of
disposable consumables, the separation of waste for reuse and recycling are in
place. We also have special recyclers or service providers for handling cartridges,
toners, computers and waste paper with confidential information that must be
separated from other daily solid waste.

We also encourage and support our staff to implement green initiatives, join
recycling programs at our offices and business locations, e.g. paper, plastic bottles
and metal cans recycling and we will continue to adopt more green initiatives
when it is feasible to our business operations.

As our GHG emission is energy indirect GHG emission, we target to reduce our GHG
emission by reducing our electricity and water consumption intensity. Details of
our targets and steps taken to achieve them were set out in “Aspect A2: Use of
Resources” of this Report.

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

The Group consumes electricity and water during operation, and our policy is to
ensure efficient use of resources at all our offices and business locations.

The Group encourages the reduction of energy consumption. Energy-saving light
bulbs and LED lighting systems are used in all offices of the Group. The Group
encourages making use of natural daylight and refraining from turning on
unnecessary lights during the daytime. Other energy-saving measures include,
but not limited to, (i) switching off lights and equipment if they are not in use, (ii)
shifting to sleep mode for printers and photocopiers after office hours or in idle,
and (iii) turning off lights and computers before leaving the offices.

BRI RERABEB SO IFIRRRE
BN AFELTEFETERERD - RMEBHET
EZEITANOMEEARRBECRBLRT EFAE
B BfIRE -EFURE ETRIALNEFER -SRA
BEMa T BRAHET EERBLER  BERER
FIENE) FI ENBSR = AP HETT EL M 3 R = HE e - DAL A
REERR BRI ERERY SR - RATAER
FIf B E s RGIRM AR AR M A FEEER
MaESFNEE B AERE SR EROER -

BT EE RFE THTRRE R 28R AEME
3t B m Wt & - Pl a0 akoR - 28 2 Ko S5 B e - 3P A%
HBEEBEEMTNERATRAEZRRE, -

BN HAFIER ERE N2 RE R ER BN &
P96 B AR 2 38 18 P AKX AP HO B 0 MK #0 8 R 22 1 2108,
PEMEEREBHEM - RPN E FMER S LB FA
REWTZROFEANABRENEEA2 : EIREM )
i o

EBEA2 : ERFER

AEERESEBREFEAS N RAK BMOBEZ
f%ﬁxﬂ(ﬁﬁﬁ BIR ”Tﬁﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ’]ﬂ#"ﬁﬁii‘“ﬁﬁﬁﬂ’)
BEIR KK o

REBEFERERLRRER EESRQAER FEEER
BEFBRIEDRARS BRBERARAA N T
FIRRZE L B HYE L - B ERBE 2R 18 B R 1B IR 12 (i) B8 B
BEEERRE ()RR RE RS TE®RE
ENHepI = pRIR AR S - M (i) N HERTBARI B & S B A
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued) 5 (&)
Aspect A2: Use of Resources (Continued) EBEA2: ERER (&)
Key Performance Indicator: EERAENFENE -
Types 2025 2024
5l —B-HF —ZomE
Total Intensity Total Intensity
we BE nE mE
(per staff) (per staff)
(88T) (BEI)
Electricity (kwh) BH(FEE) 28,113 107 30,985 119
Office (kg) MARE(FR) 152 123 138 101

As water usage in our offices and business locations is minimal, we will continue
to carry out our water saving measures, and we will nevertheless consider carefully
the issue of water conservation whenever possible. During the reporting year, there
was no issue for the Group in sourcing water.

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

Due to the nature of our business, apart from electricity and water consumption as
discussed above, the Group’s business activities on the impacts of the environment
and natural resources during the reporting year is immaterial.

Actions have been taken by the Group to reduce its impact on the environment by
adopting energy-saving measures as set out in Aspect A1: Emissions and Aspect A2:
Use of Resources of this Report.

Aspect A4: Climate Change

Climate change gives rise to certain risks to our business. We address climate
change risks as part of our corporate risk management process. We first perform a
climate-related risk assessment, and then develop strategies in line with the Group
practices to mitigate the impact of climate change on our operations, to adapt our
operations to cope with it and to increase our resilience to climate change.

The two major risks of climate change that have potential impacts on the Group’s
business are physical risk and transition risk.

Physical risk refers to the risk of property damages and economic losses caused by
extreme weather-related events. Our investment properties are built with certified
materials and are not located in low-lying areas and the related risk is therefore
considered minimal.

Transition risk refers to the risk of higher operating costs caused by transition to
a carbon neutral economy. One of the decarbonization strategies as stated in The
Hong Kong’s Climate Action Plan 2050 published by the Hong Kong government is
to reduce the overall electricity consumption of the buildings through regulation.
As we had introduced measures to improve the energy and water consumption
efficiency in our buildings, we believe our business operations align with Hong
Kong decarbonization goal. The Management will continue to monitor the
climate related risks that may affect the Group and take appropriate actions when
considered necessary.
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B.

SOCIAL

Aspect B1: Employment

The Group recognizes that employees are important and valuable assets to the
corporate contribution and is committed to building a pleasant and valued-adding
workforce and workplace. As recruiting and retaining talent is vital for us to stay
competitive, attractive and competitive remuneration packages are offered to our
employees and reviewed on performance basis within the general framework of
the Group’s salary and bonus system.We also encourage our staff to maintain a
work-life balance and support them to actively pursue their personal development
by participating in different roles and activities in the community.

Being an equal-opportunity employer, we implement fair employment practices
and no one will receive less favourable treatment on the ground of, for example,
race, disability, age, gender, sex, sexual orientation or religion. We believe that each
individual has his or her unique strengths and contributions that can add value to
the Group and the society at large.

For the year ended 30 April 2025, the breakdown of employees and turnover rate
by gender, age group, employment type and region is set out below:
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e
EBmEB1 : EfE

AEERARENECEREMTEZRETENEE  HAit
ﬁﬁkiﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁjﬁmﬂ/\ﬁE’]If'ﬁ.%f—ﬁi%ﬁﬁ E2)iS
BERBEATERBEMEFHEFTNBEESE  #HAW
BERHERS| N REFHNFINGTE TR AEEL
Bl N FEAL 2 O B BRAE 2R MR TR RIBIEIRAT - BAPIIR
SEE TRIFTELETE IR RERTEEET
RAER2ENREE  AZEERBEARER-

ERRFREFENRET RMAETATNRERBER
BAANERBMER RIK - Fik - MR EIR R R
MEHRENFE - BABEE LB T TRIELESR
HEHLER RAKERERHERINER-

E!zi “THEMAB=TRHIEFE  RER - Fikl
E*ﬁf”&iﬁ&%ﬂ D EE B RAE B AR L R 5 MR

‘R%WJZZD—F :

2025 2024
—E-RHE —T-WF
Number of employees EEAH
By gender bgedsll
— Male - 5% 18 19
— Female -t 16 19
By age group LA R
— Under 30 — 305 A T 9 7
-30to0 50 — 30E507% 18 21
— Above 50 — 505 E 7 10
By employment type RIEMHBEE
— Permanent —KH 30 31
— Temporary — B 4 7
Geographical region i@
— Hong Kong —&E 29 28
— China —h 2 5
— Others —EAftb 3 5
staff turnover ratio (Note 7) BIRKR(MHET)
All grades FiEE#
— Male - 5% 10% 10%
— Female -t 14% 8%
By age group R AR
— Under 30 — 30BA T 14% 16%
-30to 50 — 30E507% 11% 1%
— Above 50 — 505 £ 0% 0%
By geographical region i@
- Hong Kong — &5 21% 27%
— China —rh 4% 0%
— Others —H1h 0% 0%
Note: s -

1. Staff turnover represents the employees (permanent and temporary) leaving the Group

voluntarily.

During the reporting year, the Group complied with laws and regulations in
relation to labour and human resources practices and our Management provided
confirmation on the compliance. Also, our employees are encouraged to have
direct dialogue with the Management and can freely bring up issues to the
Management when they considered necessary.

1. BInAEIEEREREFERENES (REREGE)
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B. SOCIAL (Continued) B. & (&)

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

The Group endeavours to provide a safe, healthy and pleasant working
environment, which protects the physical and mental health of our staff and
minimises the risk of occupational diseases. Periodic cleaning of air-conditioning
systems, the office areas, pest control services and regular floor care maintenance
are carried out to ensure a hygienic working environment.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, surgical masks, disinfectant detergents, and
alcohol-based hand sanitisers were available to employees in order to protect our
employees from possible virus infection. Video conferencing facilities were setup
and software were installed for the employees to have meetings while they were
working from home.

Due to the nature of our business operations, work related injuries and
occupational health hazards are not significant risk factors to us. During the
reporting period, the Group achieved zero work-related fatalities, and no work
fatalities were reported for the past three years.

The occupational safety and health related policies and practices are regularly
reviewed by the Group so that preventive and corrective measures are
implemented to minimize occupational health and safety hazards. During the
reporting year, the Group complied with laws and regulations in relation to health
and safety and our Management provided confirmation on the compliance.

Aspect B3: Development and Training

Continuing education and development of our employees is a priority for the
Group. In order to create a supportive workplace that develops the competency of
our employees and supports their personal growth, the Group actively invests time
and resources in staff training and development. On the job training is provided
to all employees and employees are encouraged to take job-related courses.
This ensures our employees are constantly updated with adequate skills and
professional knowledge to perform quality work.

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

We comply with the Employment Ordinance and respect human rights. All
employment with the Group is voluntary and child and forced labour is prohibited
in any of our operation.

To ensure the Group is legally complied with local laws and regulations, it has
implemented effective controls in the recruitment process, for example, the
applicant’s identity is checked, including but not limited to his or her age and
eligibility for employment. We avoid engaging vendors of administrative supplies
and services and contractors that are known to employ child or forced labour
in their operations. If child labour is detected, a corrective plan is required and
implemented by the suppliers/contractors. The plan must take into consideration
the child’s best interest, including their family and social situation. If concrete
steps are not taken to eliminate the problem, or there are repeated violations, the
contracts will be terminated and no new contract will be issued.
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B. SOCIAL (Continued)

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

Our main business suppliers include technology products and service providers,
professional and other business service providers. Among the suppliers, the
technology service providers are our key service provider which pose a significant
impact. During the Reporting Period, the Group has over 50 regular suppliers. Most
of them are located in Hong Kong.

We carefully select our business suppliers and assess them based on a list of criteria
including not only the financial status, reputation, past performance, reliability
and costs, but also the environmental and social standards relating to their services
provided. The Group encourages our suppliers the efficient use of resources and
gives higher priority to the suppliers that incorporate and promote sustainable
practices at their work.

Aspect B6: Product/Service Responsibility

Quality Assurance and Customer Satisfaction

We endeavor to maintain a close and lasting relationship with our customers and
pursue their satisfaction. In addition to our business teams, customers can also
contact our management team directly via telephone and emails as and when
needed. We also pay attention to the customers’ satisfaction and put the best effort
to respond instantly to any issues or problems encountered by our customers. For
the reporting period, there were no substantiated complaints received relating to
the provision of use of products or services that have a significant impact on the
Group. In case, we receive any customer’s feedback, the management team will
closely liaise with the customers to understand his/her needs, then work with the
business team or relevant parties to take suitable follow up actions to address the
concerns.

The Company also regularly reviews its strategies and adopts special measures in
order to maintain long term business partnership with our customers.

Data Protection and Privacy Policies

The Group ensures a high standard of security and confidentiality of personal
data throughout its business and operation. We only collect personal data for
operational needs and clearly inform all customers or persons about the intended
use of the data and their rights to review and revise their information. Collected
information is accessible on a “need-to-know” basis. Disclosure of personal data
to any third parties without explicit permission, unless required by law, is not
allowed. Statutory requirements are strictly adhered to and employees are required
to retain in confidence any and all information obtained in connection with their
employment, including but not limited to trade secrets, client personal data and
information, supplier information and other proprietary information.

Intellectual Property Protection

The Group respects intellectual property rights. Employees are not allowed to
possess or use copyrighted materials, including computer software and published
materials, without the permission of the copyright owners. The Group maintained
proper records of software applicants and assured only legitimate and genuine
software is installed to the employee’s computer.

The Group was not aware of any violation of product responsibility laws and
regulations relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.
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Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

The Group prohibits all forms of bribery, extortion, fraudulent, money laundering
and corruption activities in connection with any of its business activities. Code of
conduct with anti-bribery and anti-corruption principles are established to provide
guidance to our staff when discharging their duties and obligations. All directors
and employees are required to possess high ethical standard and demonstrate
professional conducts in our business operation. They are notified not to engage in
any form of corruption and not to request, receive or accept any form of benefits
from any persons, companies or organizations having business transactions
with the Group. Also, the Group complies with relevant laws and regulations
and adopted whistleblowing procedures for employees to raise concerns, in
confidence, about possible improprieties in any matters related to the Group. Our
employees can report any unlawful conduct, incident of corruption, incorrect or
improper financial reporting and other fraudulent activities directly to the chief
financial officer. Any reported case of fraudulence will receive immediate, fair and
independent investigation and appropriate follow-up action. The Management
will regularly review and monitor the anti-bribery and anti-corruption principles
and procedures. The Group did not provide any internal anti-corruption training
to directors and staff during the reporting year, but they are encouraged to attend
anti-corruption training provided by external parties.

During the reporting year, the Group received no complaints or legal cases in
relation to corruption. The Group was also not aware of any non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations in relation to anti-corruption and our Management
provided confirmation on the compliance.

Aspect B8: Community Investment

The Group did not participate in any charity or community events during the
Reporting Period. However, we still expressed our respect for our community
and all our investment and business decisions did not have any negative impacts
on society. The Company often explores the opportunities of incorporating
environmental and social elements into its investment decisions and operational
management, with reference to best practices in the industry and internationally
recognised ESG standards.
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To the members of Vongroup Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Vongroup Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 47 to 114,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 April 2025,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group as at 30 April 2025, and of its financial performance
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”)
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements”
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Fair value of investment properties

Refer to Notes 2 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s investment properties were measured at fair value of approximately
HK$210,620,000 as at 30 April 2025.

The management of the Group has estimated the fair values of the Group’s investment
properties based on independent external valuations. These valuations are dependent
on certain key assumptions that required significant management judgement, including
market unit value of comparable properties, premium or discount adjustments to
these market values for factors specific to the characteristics of the Group’s investment
properties compared to recent sales on the comparable transactions and assuming the
investment properties are capable of being sold in existing status.

We have identified the above matter as a key audit matter because the valuation of the
investment properties, which are material, involved significant judgements and estimates
including the determination of valuation techniques and the selection of different inputs
in the models.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Fair value of investment properties (Continued)

Our audit procedures, among others, included:

a) evaluating the objectivity, capabilities and competence of the independent
professional valuer;

b) reviewing the valuation report from the independent professional valuer and
discussing with management of the Group and the valuer to understand the
valuation basis and methodology used, underlying assumptions applied and critical
judgements used in the valuation of investment properties; and

¢) checking, on a sample basis, the underlying data including comparable of market
transactions being used by the independent professional valuer and assessing the
appropriateness.

We consider that the Group’s fair value measurement of investment properties is
supported by the available evidence.

Allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) assessment on accounts
receivable, loan receivables and deposits and other receivables

Refer to Notes 2, 18, 19, 20 and 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 30 April 2025, the Group had accounts receivable, loan receivables and deposits
and other receivables (net of loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL")) of
approximately HK$145,357,000, HK$31,265,000 and HK$82,471,000, respectively. The
loss allowance for ECL on accounts receivable, loan receivables and deposits and other
receivables were approximately HK$12,817,000, HK$3,861,000 and HK$2,724,000,
respectively, as at 30 April 2025.

The management of the Group performed periodic assessment on the recoverability of
the accounts receivable, loan receivables, and deposits and other receivables and the
sufficiency of provision for loss allowance for ECL based on information including credit
profile of different debtors, ageing of the accounts receivable, loan receivables, and
deposits and other receivables, historical settlement records, subsequent settlement
status, expected timing and amount of realisation of outstanding balances, and ongoing
trading relationships with the relevant debtors. The management of the Group also
considered forward-looking information that may impact the debtors’ ability to repay
the outstanding balances in order to estimate the ECL for the loss allowance for ECL
assessment. The Group engaged an independent professional valuer for ECL assessment
on accounts receivable, loan receivables, and deposits and other receivables.

We have identified the above matter as a key audit matter because of its significance
to the consolidated financial statements and the subjective judgements made by the
management of the Group over assessing the credit standing of the Group’s debtors and
therefore the estimation of ECL of accounts receivable, loan receivables, and deposits and
other receivables.

Our audit procedures, among others, included:

a) obtaining an understanding of the Group’s credit risk management and practices,
and assessing the Group’s impairment provisioning policy in accordance with the
requirements of applicable accounting standards;

b) evaluating the objectivity, capabilities and competence of the independent
professional valuer;

) assessing the application of impairment methodology of ECL, and checking the
assumptions and key parameters to external data sources where available, on a
sample basis;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) assessment on accounts
receivable, loan receivables and deposits and other receivables (continued)

d) inquiring of management of the Group for the status of each of the material
accounts receivable, loan receivables, and deposits and other receivables past due
as at year end and corroborating explanations from management of the Group with
supporting evidence, such as understanding ongoing business relationship with
the debtors based on trade records, checking historical and subsequent settlement
records of and other correspondences with the debtors;

e) assessing the reasonableness and relevancy of the external information used by the
Group as the forward-looking information including economic data and forecasts
published by government bodies and monetary authorities; and

f)  checking the accuracy of the calculation of ECL based on the methodology adopted
by the Group and the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in relation to credit risk
exposed by the Group in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s ECL assessment on accounts receivable, loan receivables and
deposits and other receivables is supported by the available evidence.

Impairment assessment on intangible assets and goodwill

Refer to Notes 2, 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 30 April 2025, the Group had intangible assets of approximately HK$73,920,000 and
goodwill of approximately HK$39,331,000 arising from acquisitions of subsidiaries.

The Group is required to perform impairment assessment of goodwill at least annually.
For intangible assets with definite useful lives, the Group is required to estimate the
recoverable amount of intangible assets when an impairment indication existed.

For the purpose of assessing impairment on goodwill, goodwill is allocated to cash
generating units (‘CGUs”). The Group has appointed an independent professional valuer
to assist in determining the recoverable amount of each CGU identified supported by
value-in-use calculation, which is based on future discounted cash flows, prepared by the
management.

We have identified the above matters as a key audit matter because of calculation of
recoverable amount involves significant estimates and judgments about future market
conditions, including the growth rate of revenue and discount rate applied in the
calculation.

Our procedures, among others, included:

a) assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology used in the impairment
assessment;

b) assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions adopted by the management
in calculating the recoverable amount based on our knowledge of the business and
industry;

) testing, on a sample basis, the accuracy and reliance of the input data used;

d) testing management sensitivity analysis of the key assumptions to ascertain that
selected adverse changes to key assumptions would not cause impairment loss; and

e) evaluating the objectivity, capabilities and competence of the independent
professional valuer.

We consider that the Group’s impairment assessment on intangible assets and goodwill is
supported by the available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the Company’s 2025 annual report
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements is located at the HKICPA's website at:

http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwong Man Fai, Eric

Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number P08000
Hong Kong, 31 July 2025
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BAEEARAR FH2025

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mERERAMEERER
YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2025
BEB_AFNA=+HILEE

2025 2024
—EB-HE —E-NE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mfat FERT FAT
Revenue Wz 4 213,116 204,545
Other revenue H e 5 4,554 275
Cost of inventories FERK A (8) (1,000)
Staff costs 8 TAA 6 (8,837) (8,530)
Expenses recognised under short-term leases RHEEETRR AL (7) (47)
Depreciation and amortisation expenses WTE R 11,13 (10,955) (10,956)
Administrative and other operating expenses TR M E SRS (156,924) (163,435)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR Z Uz 28 328 944
Impairment losses, net, recognised in respect of financial —~ FhiZ# SR AT E > SR EERR Y
assets at amortised cost REEIEFE (5,083) (30)
Change in fair value of investment properties WEWMEZAFEE 12 (17,710) (5,720)
Change in fair value of contingent consideration payable — FE{IsiAKE AT EEH) - 7,973
Finance costs B TSR AR 6 (2,968) (2,893)
Profit before income tax BR AT 1S 8 A1 s A 6 15,506 21,126
Income tax credit/(expense) Fris®is e, (Fx) 7 448 (4,075)
Profit for the year REERA 15,954 17,051
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year AEEHMEE(ER) WA
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss E & AJfEEF 71 F 1575 2 TH H
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations — #AZ iGN EFEE 4 7 [E X =58 (366) 288
Total comprehensive income for the year FAEEBARLTE 15,588 17,339
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: THEEEREERT,(BER):
Owners of the Company ZIN/NETE R = DN 10,524 21123
Non-controlling interests FEFERR 2R 5,430 (4,072)
15,954 17,051
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year THEEEAEERERE (&HE) 458
attributable to:
Owners of the Company Fi/NSIE7 Y =N 10,158 21,411
Non-controlling interests IR R 5,430 (4,072)
15,588 17,339
Earnings per share SRERN 10 HK cents &1l HK cents /&1L

— Basic and diluted

—EARLHE

3.89

8.21
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FEUBMRRE
AS AT 30 APRIL 2025
R-B-HFEWA=+H

2025 2024
—E-RE —EUF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
et FET FET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% BB L& E 11 9,533 9,970
Investment properties R 12 210,620 228,330
Intangible assets EBREE 13 73,920 75,867
Goodwill G 14 39,331 39,331
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 3@ HE fh 2 E k32 A T EHIEE ([ F B EM
income (“FVOCI”) 2HEBEEATFEIER]) 2 2mEE 15 - -
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVPL") & i@1BmiZ A EVIE([FBERIEAFE
FIER Dz e MEE 16 1,592 1,592
334,996 355,090
Current assets REEE
Financial assets at FVPL BRBRERATEIEZSHEE 16 5,360 6,482
Forfeited collaterals held for sale FERLUEER R 17 - 282
Accounts receivable YRR R 18 145,357 125,992
Loan receivables BB R 19 31,265 34,603
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables e BIBRRREAMEKERER 20 84,751 45,275
Bank balances and cash RITHEB MRS 21 23,176 53,104
289,909 265,738
Current liabilities REAE
Accruals, deposits received and other payables JEFTFUE - BEURS R H AL RUE 2 5,859 6,735
Interest-bearing borrowings AEEE 23 42,825 53,012
Tax payables FERI BB 7,708 6,734
56,392 66,481
Net current assets REBEETFE 233,517 199,257
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERE 568,513 554,347
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIARE 24 6,413 7,835
6,413 7,835
NET ASSETS EEFE 562,100 546,512
Capital and reserves BAREE
Share capital &N 25 10,833 10,833
Reserves & 27 495,414 485,256
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RAEHEE ARG E 506,247 496,089
Non-controlling interests IEEpAR RS 29 55,853 50,423
TOTAL EQUITY s 562,100 546,512
These consolidated financial statements on pages 47 to 114 were approved and — F47E ZFE 1148 2458 HRAZCHEEFER —E - AF

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 July 2025 and signed on its behalf

by:

Vong Tat leong David
HES
Director

BE

Xu Siping
Director

BE

A=+ —AMERIRETZ Il TIEFAREE -



BAEEARAR FH2025

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
HBEEZEEHR

YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2025
BE-Z-_AENA=1THLEE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

ARAHEAELR
Reserves
L
Financial
Property Capital ~ Statutory assetsat — Exchange Non-
Share Share  revaluation  redemption surplus FVOU - translation Other  Accumulated controlling
cpital — premium reserve reserve eserve Teserve Teserve reserve losses Total interests  Total equity
ijert
2EHA
BATE
DREH ARRD  iERB JIEZER EX Zif AR
R RiEE 1 i FE  AERE FE  HEibEE ER ey BE o BER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tér  TEr  TER  TER T  TEr  TEr  TEr  TER  TEn  TEn TER
(Note 25) ~ (Note 27)) ~ (Note 27b)  (Note 27(c) ~ (Note 27(d) ~ (Note 27e)  (Note 27f)  (Note 27g)
(W) (W) (i) (Weng) () (Were)  (Watry)  (Witrg)
At 1 May 2023 R-Z-=FRA-H 9,903 634,804 131 262 270 (10213) 663 - (165,515) 471405 57,299 526,704
Profitfor the year AEREA - - - - - - - - m @ 7m
Other comprehensive income A2 EHA
ltem that may be reclassified RETHEN S BZRR Y
subsequently to profit or loss EH
Bichange differences on translation ~ AEBIEREEZESR
of foreign operations ] - - - - - - 288 - - 28 - 288
Total other comprehensive income  AEEEMA2HUALE
for the year - - - - - - 288 - - 288 - 288
Total comprehensive income/(loss)  ER2EUA /(F8) 48
for the year - - - - - - 288 - n13 141 (4.072) 17339
Transactions with owners REEARS
Contributions and distributions BERAK
Shares issued for acquisition of non-  BRE—BIMBAR 23
controlling interests of a subsidiary ~ RiERTET 2R
(Note 27g) (W) 930 4,697 - - - - - 2354) - 3073 B27) -
Disposal of subsidiaries (Vore 28) I EMERR(Hit28) - - - - - - - - - - 469 469
Total transactions with owners ~ EREFARZEE 930 4,697 - - - - - (2354) - 328 (2.804) 469
At 30 April 2024 R-E-MERA=+A 10833 639,501 1231 262 210 (10213) 951 (23%) (144392 496,089 50423 546,512
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HEAEZEEHR
YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2025
BE-_Z-_AENA=1THLEE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

RARBEAERE
Reserves
it
Financial
Property Capital  Statutory assets  Exchange Non-
Share Share  revaluation  redemption surplus  atFVOCl  translation Other  Accumulated controlling Total
capital ~ premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
et
2EHA
#178
B EREE  EERR KRG EX 2t FER
k& ROEE e B fE HERE i HfbE it | &t BE  fEs
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn Thn Thn Thn Thn Tén Tén Tén Tén Tén
(Note 25)  (Note 27(a))  (Note 27lb)) ~ (Note 27(c))  (Note 27/d))  (Note 27(e)] ~ (Note 27(f))  (Note 27g)
(Wi2s) (W) (Wdarw)  (WEang)  (WEaw)  (dane)  (WEa7)  (Karg)
AU30 April 2024 and 1 May 2024 HZEZRENA=THER
“E-mFRR-H 10,833 639,501 1,231 262 270 (10,213) 951 (2,354) (144392 496,089 50,423 546,512
Profitfor the year REREA - - - - - - - - 054 1054 540 1595
Other comprehensive loss A2 EER
tem that may be reclassified RRTEEN EE R
subsequently to profit or loss EH
Exchange differences on translation BB G5 EBELE ZEY
of foreign operations 28 - - - - - - (366) - - (366) - (366)
Total other comprehensive loss for  AEERM2EHREH
the year - - - - - - (366) - - 366) - 366)
Total comprehensive income/(loss)  ER2EUA /(F8) 48
for the year - - - - - - (366) - 10,524 10,158 5,430 15,588
At 30 April 2025 R-Z-REMA=1H 1083 639,501 1,231 ) m o (10213) 585 (354 (133868 506247 55853 562,100




BAEEARAR FH2025

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HEBRESRER

YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2025
BE-_ZE_HFNA=1tHLEE

2025 2024
—E-RHE —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Jiop23 FiEx FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXEB
Profit before income tax ¥ FT 1S AE A 15,506 21,126
Adjustments for: KD
Bank interest income RITFIBIA 5 (44) (69)
Finance costs BTSN AR 6 2,968 2,893
Dividend income from listed equity securities ETRAESZRBRA 4 (234) (272)
Amortisation of intangible assets B AE#H 13 10,517 10,517
Depreciation E 11 438 439
Written off of property, plant, and equipment M R KR E A 11 1 -
Impairment losses, net, recognised in respect of financial MIEBER AT EZ S REERARERSE
assets at amortised cost FEE 5,083 30
Change in fair value of investment properties REME L NTER 12 17,710 5,720
Change in fair value of listed equity securities at FVPL BRBHEBRATEYEZ FTRAEFATE
g 4 120 314
Change in fair value of contingent consideration payable JERZARE 2 ATER - (7.973)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERBARZ IS 28 (328) (944)
Operating cash inflows hefore movements in working capital ZEELUBFHELRERE 51,747 31,781
Changes in working capital: LEEeEE
Financial assets at FVPL BRBREATEIR SREE 1,002 -
Accounts receivable FEUER (48,218) (42,694)
Loan receivables ERER 331 (8,664)
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables Be  BNRRREAMERERR (42,668) (24,358)
Accruals, deposits received and other payables FERT B BURS R E AR FUR 35,499 16,214
Cash used in operations REERFARS (2,307) (27,721)
Income tax paid ERFTEH - (491)
Net cash used in operations activities REEBMARLFE (2,307) (28,212)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Bank interest received B UERITHI 8 44 69
Dividend received from listed equity securities B ETRAESFRES 234 272
Additions to intangible assets RNEELEE (8,570) (24,750)
Additions to property, plant and equipment NEWE BEREE (12) (12)
Net cash outflows from disposal of subsidiaries HEWNBARZEERLFE 28 (5,796) (33)
Net cash used in investing activities REERFMAZRETE (14,100) (24,454)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEED
Repayment of interest-hearing borrowings BEHEEE (2,848) (2,153)
Interest paid BFE (2,968) (2,893)
Net cash used in financing activities METBHRACRETE (5,816) (5,046)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReRBLEEEBRLFE (22,223) (57,712)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting BEHNEERREZMEER
period 38,502 95,926
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INERE RSB & (366) 288
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period REHARERBREZMEER 15,913 38,502
Analysis of the balance of cash and cash equivalents ReRBREEEBALERIN
Bank balances and cash RITEHRRER S 21 23,176 53,104
Secured bank overdrafts BHERBITEY 23 (7,263) (14,602)

15,913 38,502
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REMB|RME

Year ended 30 April 2025

BE-_Z_AFNA=THLEE

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Vongroup Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The shares of
the Company are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company is situated at Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business
is situated at 17A, EGL Tower, 83 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is an investment holding. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Vongroup Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), is the immediate and ultimate holding company
of the Company, and Mr. Vong Tat leong David is the ultimate controlling party (the “Ultimate
Controlling Party”) of the Company, who is also the chief executive officer and an executive
director of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards, which collective term includes all individual applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), Hong Kong Accounting Standards (‘“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. The consolidated financial statements also comply
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”).

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$'000”), unless otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis consistent with the
accounting policies adopted in the 2024 consolidated financial statements except for the
adoption of the new/amended HKFRS Accounting Standards that are relevant to the Group and
effective from the current period.

Adoption of new/amended HKFRS Accounting Standards

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the HKICPA that are relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting year
beginning on 1 May 2024. The adoption of these new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards
did not result in significant changes to the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the
Group’s consolidated financial statements and amounts reported for the current year and prior
years.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is
historical cost basis, except for investment properties, financial assets at FVPL and financial assets
at FVOCI which were stated at fair value as explained in the accounting policies set out below.
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BRAB(ERM]D)ERET - AARZEMPERLAED
7] 2 FER i BB AL Cricket Square,Hutchins Drive, P.0.Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-111, Cayman Islands » E = Z& ¥ B 0 &
BEBIRSEES TR REES7A
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B R T35
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and
all of its subsidiaries. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as that of the Company using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which the Group obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from owners of the Company, in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and within equity in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The non-controlling interests in the acquiree,
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets in event of liquidation, are measured initially either at fair value or at
the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. This choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are initially measured at fair value,
unless another measurement basis is required by HKFRS Accounting Standards.

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests (if applicable). Total comprehensive income
is attributed to the owners of the Company and the non-controlling interests (if applicable) even
if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

Changes in ownership interest

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of
control are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest determined at the date when control is lost and (ii) the
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interests at the date when control is lost. The amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for on the same
basis as would be required if the holding company had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. Any investment retained in the former subsidiary and any amounts owed by or to
the former subsidiary are accounted for as a financial asset, associate, joint venture or others as
appropriate from the date when control is lost.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is presented in Note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment
loss. The carrying amount of the investments is reduced to its recoverable amount on an
individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

BAEEARAR FH2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M EHmRMETE
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business (including the acquisition of joint control
of a joint operation in which the activity constitutes a business) is measured at the excess of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if
applicable) and the fair value of any previously held equity interest in the acquiree over the
acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed of the
acquired business.

Goodwill on acquisition of business is recognised as a separate asset and is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, which is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. For the
purpose of impairment test and determination of gain or loss on disposal, goodwill is allocated
to cash-generating units. An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed.

On the other hand, any excess of the acquisition date amounts of identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed of the acquired business over the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree (if applicable) and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree, if any, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as an income from bargain purchase.

Any resulting gain or loss arising from remeasuring the previously held equity interests in the
acquiree at the acquisition-date fair value is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income, as appropriate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated impairment losses of property,
plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives as set out below from the date on which
they are available for use and after taking into account their estimated residual values, using the
straight-line method. Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis and depreciated separately:

Leasehold improvements
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

5 years or the lease term, whichever is shorter
5to 10 years
5 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the period in which
the item is derecognised.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties that are held by owner to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation. These include properties held for a currently undetermined future use
and properties that are held under operating lease, which satisfy the definition of investment
property and carry at fair value.

Investment properties are stated at fair value at the end of the reporting period. Any gain or loss
arising from a change in fair value is recognised in profit or loss.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or
loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets

Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred on development activities, which involve
the application of research findings to a plan or design for the production of new or substantially
improved products and processes, are capitalised if the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible and the Group has sufficient resources to complete the development.
The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Other development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as an
expense as incurred.

Internally generated intangible assets — application software

An internally generated intangible asset arising from the Group’s application software
development is recognised only if all of the following conditions are met:

—  Anasset is created that can be identified (such as application software and new processes);
— Itis probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits; and
—  The development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Internally generated intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Licence

Licence with finite useful lives that is acquired separately is carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for license with finite useful
lives is calculated using the straight-line method over the expected lives of the licence, which is
determined to be 20 years.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination — customer relationships and software

Customer relationships and software acquired in a business combination and recognised
separately from goodwill are initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, the software and customer relationships with finite useful lives
are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, on
the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately. Amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method over the expected lives of the software and customer relationships,
which are determined to be 5 and 8 years, respectively.

Intangible assets are derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are
expected from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of intangible assets,
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Forfeited collaterals held for sales

Forfeited collaterals are initially recognised at the amortised cost of the related outstanding
loans on the date of repossession, which is generally below the net realisable value of the
repossessed assets. Upon repossession of the assets, the related loans and advances together with
the related impairment allowances, if any, are derecognised from the consolidated statement
of financial position. Subsequently, forfeited collaterals are carried at the lower of the amount
initially recognised or net realisable value and are therefore written down if and when the net
realisable value falls to below the carrying amount of the asset. The excess of the net proceeds
over the carrying amount of the forfeited collaterals is recognised as a gain upon the disposal of
the assets.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the Group’s contractual rights to future
cash flows from the financial asset expire or (i) the Group transfers the financial asset and either
(a) it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
asset but it does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises the financial asset to the extent
of its continuing involvement and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a significant financing component which
are initially measured at their transaction price) are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in
the case of financial assets not carried at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial assets.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i) measured at amortised cost; (i) debt
investment measured at FVOCI; (iii) equity investment measured at FVOCI (“Designated FVOCI”);
or (iv) measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics.
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group
changes its business model for managing them, in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first annual reporting period following the change in the
business model.

1) Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions
and is not designated as FVPL:

(i) itis held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest
method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from impairment,
derecognition or through the amortisation process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include accounts receivable, loan receivables,
deposits and other receivables, and bank balances and cash.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

2)

3)

Designated FVOCI

Upon initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent
changes in the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument that is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination
to which HKFRS 3 applies in other comprehensive income. The classification is determined
on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

These equity investments are subsequently measured at fair value and are not subject to
impairment. Dividends are recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other gains or losses are recognised in
other comprehensive income and shall not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
Upon derecognition, the cumulative gain or loss is transferred directly to accumulated
profits or losses.

The Group’s financial assets at designated FVOCI include unlisted equity investments not
held for trading.

Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are not measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI, including financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition as at FVPL, financial assets resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies and financial assets that
are otherwise required to be measured at FVPL. They are carried at fair value, with any
resultant gain and loss recognised in profit or loss, which does not include any dividend or
interest earned on the financial assets. Dividend or interest income is presented separately
from fair value gain or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:
(i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term;

(i) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and
for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on
initial recognition; or

(i) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or not a designated and effective
hedging instrument.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at FVPL only if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise
from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains or losses on them on different
bases.

The Group’s financial assets measured at FVPL include listed equity securities and unlisted
debt securities of club memberships.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the liability is extinguished, that is,
when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the case of financial
liabilities not carried at FVPL, transaction costs that are direct attributable to the issue of the
financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accruals, deposits received and other payables, bank
overdrafts and interest-bearing borrowings. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method,
unless the effect of discounting would be insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Financial liabilities at FVPL include financial liabilities held for trading, financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL and financial liabilities that are contingent
consideration of an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies. They are
carried at fair value, with any resultant gain and loss (excluding interest expenses) recognised
in profit or loss, except for the portion of fair value changes of financial liabilities designated
at FVPL that are attributable to the credit risk of the liabilities which is presented in other
comprehensive income unless such treatment would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch
in profit or loss. The amounts presented in other comprehensive income shall not be
subsequently transferred to profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets and other items under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises loss allowance for expected credit losses (‘ECL”) on financial assets that
are measured at amortised cost and contract assets to which the impairment requirements
apply in accordance with HKFRS 9. Except for the specific treatments as detailed below, at each
reporting date, the Group measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to
the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition. If the credit risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial asset at an amount equal to
12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls)
over the expected life of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the difference between the contractual
cash flows that are due to an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects
to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on the
following one or more shared credit risk characteristics:

(i) past due information

(ii) nature of instrument

(i) nature of collateral

(iv) industry of debtors

(v) geographical location of debtors
(vi) external credit risk ratings

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk and loss since initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss
allowance are recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial instrument.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial asset that meets any of the following
criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(ii) there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. In
particular, the following information is taken into account in the assessment:

»  the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or interest on the due dates;

« an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external or
internal credit rating (if available);

« anactual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and
» actual or expected changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment

that have or may have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument
has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date.

Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:
(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term; and

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

Bank balances and cash are determined to have low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For accounts receivable without a significant financing component or otherwise for which the
Group applies the practical expedient not to account for the significant financing components,
the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL. The Group recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial
difficulties; or

(f)  the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred
credit losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no reasonable expectations of
recovering the contractual cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The
Group has a policy of writing off the gross carrying amount based on historical experience of
recoveries of similar assets. The Group expects no significant recovery from the amount written
off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into account legal advice if
appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost, which comprises all
costs of purchase and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads, is calculated using the first-
in, first-out method. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash equivalents comprise short-
term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows.

Revenue recognition

Rental income

Rental income under operating leases is recognised when the assets are let out and on the
straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate are initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date and subsequently
adjusted when such index or rate changes. Such payments are recognised as income on the
straight-line basis over the lease term. Other variable lease payments are recognised as income in
the period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs.

Dividend income

Dividend income from financial assets is recognised when the Group’s rights to receive dividend
is established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably. Dividend income
from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payments have been
established.

Disposal of forfeited collaterals held for sale

Disposal gain or loss is recognised when the buyer of the forfeited collaterals take control of and
accepts the goods.

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is the provision of technology and
related services and financial consultancy services.

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or services promised in a contract with a
customer and identifies as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the customer
either:

(a) agood or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and that have the same
pattern of transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if both of the following criteria are
met:

(@) the customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with other
resources that are readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service is capable of
being distinct); and

(b) the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately identifiable
from other promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or service is
distinct within the context of the contract).
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring
a promised good or service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the
customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and, therefore, satisfies a performance
obligation and recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset (for example, work in progress) that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group satisfies the performance
obligation at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the promised asset. In
determining when the transfer of control occurs, the Group considers the concept of control and
such indicators as legal title, physical possession, right to payment, significant risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Revenue from provision of technology and related services is recognised at a point in time in the
accounting period when the actual service provided.

Sale of goods is recognised at a point in time at which the customer obtains the control of
the promised asset, which generally coincides with the time when the goods are delivered to
customers and the title is passed.

Commission income from provision of financial consultancy services on capital funding is
recognised at a point in time in accordance with the terms of the underlying agreement or deal
mandate when relevant significant act has been completed.

Transaction price: significant financing components

When the contract contains a significant financing component (i.e. the customer or the Group
is provided with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer), in determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised consideration
for the effects of the time value of money. The effect of the significant financing component is
recognised as an interest income or interest expense separately from revenue from contracts with
customers in profit or loss.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust
the consideration for the effect of the significant financing component if the period of financing
is one year or less.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the assets while it is applied to the amortised cost
(i.e. the gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) in case of credit-impaired financial assets.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer
pays consideration or before payment is due, the contract is presented as a contract asset,
excluding any amounts presented as a receivable. Conversely, if a customer pays consideration,
or the Group has a right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the Group
transfers a good or service to the customer, the contract is presented as a contract liability when
the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is the Group’s
right to consideration that is unconditional or only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either a net contract asset or a net
contract liability is presented. Contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in the currency of HK$, which is
also the functional currency of the Company and most of the subsidiaries, and rounded to the
nearest thousands unless otherwise indicated.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or
loss. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the retranslation of non-monetary items
carried at fair value are recognised in profit or loss except for those arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity, in
which cases, the gains or losses are also recognised directly in equity.

The results and financial position of all the group entities that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency (“foreign operations”) are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

« assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the end of the reporting period;

« income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are translated at average exchange rate;

» all resulting exchange differences arising from the above translation and exchange
differences arising from a monetary item that forms part of the Group’s net investment in a
foreign operation are recognised as a separate component of equity;

» on the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes a disposal of the Group’s entire
interest in a foreign operation, a disposal involving the loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or
an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest is no longer
equity-accounted for, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating to the
foreign operation that is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
separate component of equity is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the gain or
loss on disposal is recognised,

* on the partial disposal of the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation which does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of the cumulative amount of the exchange differences recognised in
the separate component of equity is re-attributed to the non-controlling interests in that
foreign operation and are not reclassified to profit or loss; and

« on all other partial disposals, which includes partial disposal of associates that do not result
in the Group losing significant influence, the proportionate share of the cumulative amount
of exchange differences recognised in the separate component of equity is reclassified to
profit or loss.
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2.

E-RFNAZTHLEFE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets, other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal and external sources of
information to assess whether there is any indication that the Group’s property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets), intangible assets and the Company’s investment in
subsidiaries may be impaired or impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may
be reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated, based
on the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Where it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the smallest group of assets that generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-
generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced
to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating
unit that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior periods.
Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as an income in profit or loss immediately.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income over the years necessary to match the grant on
a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to an
asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account/recognised as a deduction from the
carrying amount of the relevant asset and is released to profit or loss over the expected useful
life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income on the temporary investment of the
specific borrowings, that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at inception of the contract.
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term leases and low-value asset leases.
Lease payments associated with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components from lease components, and
accounts for each lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a lease contract as a lease separately. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the
relative stand-alone price of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a separate component are considered to
be part of the total consideration that is allocated to the separately identified components of the
contract.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset (included in property, plant and equipment) and a lease
liability at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises:
(@) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying asset, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are
incurred to produce inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liability. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and
the estimated useful lives of the right-of-use asset (unless the lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or if the cost of the right-of-use asset
reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option — in which case depreciation is provided
over the estimated useful life of the underlying asset) as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings 50 years or the lease term, whichever is shorter

As the Group’s lease payments for its leasehold land and buildings cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and buildings elements at the inception of the lease because similar land and
buildings are not sold or leased separately, the entire lease payments are included in the cost of
the leasehold land and buildings and are classified as right-of-use assets (included in property,
plant and equipment).

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at the commencement date of the contract.

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following
payments for the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date:

(@) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
(b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate;

() amounts expected to be payable under residual value guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option;
and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising an option to terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, or where it is not
readily determinable, the incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate when there are changes to the
lease payments arising from a change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original discount rate when there is a change in
the residual value guarantee, the in-substance fixed lease payments or the future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or a rate (other than floating interest rate). In case of a
change in future lease payments resulting from a change in floating interest rates, the Group
remeasures the lease liability using a revised discount rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment
to the right-of-use asset. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and
there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease liability, the Group recognises any
remaining amount of the remeasurement in profit or loss.

As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance lease or an operating lease at the
inception date of the lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a lease contract as a lease separately from
non-lease components of the contract. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on a relative stand-alone price basis.

As lessor — operating lease

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in HKFRS 9 to the operating
lease receivables.

A modification to an operating lease is accounted for as a new lease from the effective date of
the modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original
lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued
in the period in which the associated services are rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement scheme are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the
employees of the Group’s entities established in the PRC are required to participate in defined
contribution retirement plans organised by local governments. Contributions to these plans are
expensed in profit or loss as incurred and other than these monthly contributions, the Group has
no further obligation for the payment of retirement benefits to its employees.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the Group demonstrably commits
itself to terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by
having a detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a
corresponding increase in share options reserve within equity.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of
cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award and designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award.

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results for the period as adjusted for items
that are non-assessable or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of
the reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, any deferred tax arising from initial recognition
of goodwill; or other asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss is not
recognised.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to
the period when the asset is recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and credits can be
utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investment in subsidiaries except
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group,

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(ili) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a holding company
of the Group.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each
holding company, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(ili) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to the Group.

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of the entity).

(vii

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the holding company of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and
(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint
venture includes subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can
be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value
of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information about the Group’s position
at the end of the reporting period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is not
appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the financial statements. Events after the
reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements when material.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated
financial statements, are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management, which is the Group’s chief operating decision maker,
for the purpose of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various
lines of business and geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made by the management
of the Group in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. They affect the
application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis and are based on
experience and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate, revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period of revision and future periods, in case the revision also affects future
periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(i)~ Useful lives of property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets) and
intangible assets

The management of the Group determines the estimated useful lives of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of the relevant assets of similar nature and functions. The estimated
useful lives could be different as a result of technical innovations which could affect the
related depreciation charges included in profit or loss.

(if)  Impairment of non-financial assets, other than goodwill

The management of the Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets, including property, plant and equipment (including right-of-
use assets), intangible assets, at the end of each reporting period in accordance with the
accounting policies as disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. In
determining whether an asset is impaired or the event previously causing the impairment
no longer exists, the management has to assess whether an event has occurred that may
affect the asset value or such event affecting the asset value has not been in existence.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of the asset would be determined
as the greater of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, the calculations of
which involve the use of estimates. Owing to inherent risk associated with estimations in
the timing and amounts of the future cash flows and fair value less costs of disposal, the
estimated recoverable amount of the asset may be different from the amount actually
received and profit or loss could be affected by accuracy of the estimations.

BAEEARAR FH2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M EHmRMETE
Year ended 30 April 2025
BE-_Z_AFNA=THLEE

2. EREREE#®R)

BEBRER

RUA R BREE MR AN R TR EAEBRET
EENBEDEFAABREEE U RBRAHERER - 138
BEEGEEMEEE  WBEAK  BIRAGRAMBBEH TR
W -

DEH/E

BERERZELED BTG RUBREBNTE BIFEROE
ARROEERE YREARRUCZEREREUE - LETHF
1HE RPN SIRR o HERIRERBAIA A ARE

ERENLE -

AR EAZ EEDFEWHE LRASBIEHE BT T A5« 58
BEEMS BEIEAZGEHBREREFE - REHHLUS
BRI RRSIE  AEBIRNE - SRR
SHERTRHBH 2T EARETBRUHEFEELZ S 3
ok ERIREAZ MBS BUEBAB ZEHE - 70
HEH -

EREFHEF RHER

NREG AP HEHRERE  AEEEEE LG ARRKZR
R AE - R ERNASEMEFRRER BE AfF BWAR
X ZBESHE URAMEL 2 RE - RS RHEN G WHER
LEBRZRAER BEEHAENEREBATEARZRKER
ZEE-NEEERT iR ZETTEEIE T MR RS
(WA BB RT IR B RREM) T IARER -

THE a2 EERIF

() % BERRE(CEEHELE)REVEE JEHF
B

AEEERERBEAEUGERDENHEEENER
TEREHNBELR EEAEENYE BERRER
BVEENGR A EBES -t e AF N ERIE
MmARAE - WA T AREMARTERR -

(i) BREEIN 2B EpE

AEEEEEREBGESMBRERMEBEEZ G EERE
BERRTEREDEEAPRBRAAFEREE(REY
X MERREREECHEEE) BPEE)CHBRE-

RETEERTHARBEIBEEIREZEHELTE
TR ERERNGEGHRAZEEEBEIEF &
RHEBEEBEZENROTBRE-WEDRFE AE
AU EEEEAFERLERALEREBEZRSEET

A E S RIEHER - ARRRASRER D FERS
ERAZFHRRBAGEDSRERRR  MZEEZ AT
WE S G BERK RS ERA MR - Mt fEat 2 B

AEEHREmERTE -

69



70

Vongroup Limited Annual Report 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMB|RME

Year ended 30 April 2025

BE-_Z_AFNA=THLEE

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

Loss allowance for ECL

The management of the Group estimates the loss allowance for financial assets at amortised
cost including accounts receivable, loan receivables and deposits and other receivables by
using various inputs and assumptions including risk of a default and expected loss rate.
The estimation involves high degree of uncertainty which is based on the Group’s historical
information, recoverable amount of pledged collaterals, past collection history of debtors,
concentration risk of debtors, the Group’s actual loss experience, existing market conditions
as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of the financial assets at amortised cost.

Fair value of investment properties

The fair value of investment properties located in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC was
determined by independent professional valuer. The valuation performed was arrived at
with reference to recent market transaction prices at the end of reporting period and/
or market rental value for similar properties at similar locations with total fair value of
investment properties approximately HK$210,620,000 at 30 April 2025 (2024: approximately
HK$228,330,000). Favourable or unfavourable changes to recent market prices would
result in changes in the fair value of the Group’s investment properties and corresponding
adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported in profit or loss.

Fair value of financial assets at FVOC/

The fair value of financial assets at FVOCI that are not traded in active market is
determined by valuation techniques. Fair value of financial assets at FVOCI is determined
by independent professional valuer by using valuation techniques including the discounted
cash flow valuation model. Valuation techniques that include inputs that are not based
on observable market data and make assumptions that are primarily based on market
conditions existing at the end of each reporting period.

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgment on the future tax treatment of
certain transactions. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions and tax
provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes in tax legislation. Deferred tax assets are
recognised for deductible temporary differences and tax losses only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the deferred tax assets
can be utilised. As a result, management’s judgement is required to assess the probability of
future taxable profits. Management reassesses these estimates at the end of each reporting
period.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the goodwill has been allocated, which is the
higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
results in downward revision of future cash flows, further impairment losses may arise.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Future changes in HKFRS Accounting Standards

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been
issued but are not yet effective. The Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact
of these new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards but is not yet in a position to state
whether these new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards would have a material impact on
its results of operations and financial position except for HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statement” effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, which
is expected to affect the presentation and disclosures of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements in the future.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company, being identified as the chief
operating decision makers (the “CODM”), for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on nature of services provided. No operating segments
identified by the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable operating segments of
the Group.

The Group has determined that there are three reportable operating segments which are set out
below.

1. Technology:
2. Property:
3. Financial:

Technology and related activities

Real property and related activities

Consumer finance, securities trading, other financial/business services
and related activities

a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

Segment revenue represents revenue derived from the provision of technology services,
property leasing services, financial services and trading of listed equity securities.

Segment results represent the revenue reported by each segment without allocation of
certain other revenue and other gains, corporate expenses and finance costs. This is the
measure reported to the CODM of the Group for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 3.

a)

Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

The segment information provided to the CODM of the Group for the reportable operating
segments for the year is as follows:

Year ended 30 April 2025

TRER )

a)

SEEE & EERAE®RE)

RAFETZHEE
SRARIT :

BE-Z-_AENA=1AHILEE

DRMAEETELERKEERRZ

Technology Property Financial Consolidated

B L/ A e

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FERT FET FET

Segment revenue D 206,776 4,614 1,726 213,116
Segment results DEEELE 44,686 (13,617) 195 31,264
Unallocated other revenue and other gains 7 2 it E At 4 A I E U 2 121
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBREFRZ (12,911)
Finance costs B R AR AR (2,968)
Profit before income tax W P43 85 A 15,506
Income tax credit FiSHiE R 448
Profit for the year NG i F 15,954

Year ended 30 April 2024 HE-_Z-_WFOA=1tHILFE

Technology Property Financial Consolidated

TH LIES SR Ta

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET FAET FHAET

Segment revenue HEEWEE 197,368 5499 1,678 204,545
Segment results DEEEE 42,938 (820) 97 42,215
Unallocated other revenue and other gains 7 73 g At e A I E b Uk 28 135
Unallocated corporate expenses AABEEMAX (18,331)
Finance costs B AR AR (2,893)
Profit before income tax W P43 85 Al 21,126
Income tax expense e (4,075)
Profit for the year NF R T 17,051

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same on the Group’s accounting
policies described in Note 2.

&
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BN SRR EN 2T AN R E 2 @R HOERER



3.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

a)

Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by reportable and operating
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Year ended 30 April 2025

BE-_Z_AFNA=THLEE

3. PEERM#E)
a) SEWE ¥R EEREES)
BA2RREEHEBIA 2 AEEEAEREEZANDT :

segments:
Technology Property Financial Unallocated Consolidated
M mE kA Ear) mE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEx FiBx FTET FET
At 30 April 2025 R-ZE-_AFfWMA=+A
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets ERNBEE 320,248 222,585 40,801 41,271 624,905
Liabilities 8f&
Reportable segment liabilities E®mHEAE 21,384 36,722 359 4,340 62,805
Other information Hip&
Amortisation B 10,517 - - - 10,517
Depreciation biik 4 2 4 428 438
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENE AR 2 WE (296) - (32 - (328)
Change in fair value of investment REMEZ AFEE
properties - 17,710 - - 17,710
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment  FA3Z#k $5pX A 51 2 2 & @t
losses), net, recognised in respect of BERRAZBEBE/
financial assets at amortised cost CREEBED )T 1,837 - 3,515 (269) 5,083
Additions to intangible assets NEBVEAE 8,570 - - - 8,570
Additions to property, plant and equipment 7R D3 « R KR4 - - 12 - 12
Technology Property Financial Unallocated Consolidated
BHR LJES = ROEC Ra
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FAET FAET FAET FAT
At 30 April 2024 R-ZZE-NFNA=+H
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets ERHEEE 284,701 241,407 55,173 39,547 620,828
Liabilities b=
Reportable segment liabilities EHRNEAE 31,756 38,820 359 3,381 74,316
Other information Hiti g
Amortisation i 10,517 - - - 10,517
Depreciation e 6 2 2 429 439
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEME ARz W (944) - - - (944)
Change in fair value of investment BEME 2 AT ES
properties - 5,720 - - 5,720
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment  FA3Z # 5K A 518 2 & @8
loss), net, recognised in respect of BERRZBEBE/
financial assets at amortised cost CRBERERRE)FE 1,751 - (1,347) (374) 30
Change in fair value of contingent BRNAREB 2 ATEZE)
consideration payable (7,973) - - - (7,973)
Additions to intangible assets RNEEMEE 24,750 - - - 24,750
Additions to property, plant and equipment YR B 1% - BUE K 224 12 - - - 12
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3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 3. oEERE)
a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (Continued) Q) SEkG EE BEREESE)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between MEEDERBRAERSEEALRERME :
segments:
segment assets include certain property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use NEEEBEETYE BELARB(RECHAER
assets), investment properties, intangible assets, goodwill, financial assets at FVOCI, E)REWME BREE BE gBEME2EEAR
certain financial assets at FVPL, forfeited collateral held for sale, accounts receivable, AFEIRZEHEE - B TEBREBZRATENRZ
loan receivables, certain deposits and other receivables and certain bank balances and CREE FERSUIEHRS BRER BERER.
cash. Other assets are not allocated to operating segments as these assets are managed ETHe RAMBERZEURE TRITEGBRERS - H
on a corporate basis; and MEETARNBEELEN I  REALESEEIIZNE
HEAEEE K
segment liabilities include certain accruals, deposits received and other payables, SEEEREETREZE EWiRe REMENK
interest-bearing borrowings, contingent consideration payable, certain tax payables B EEE ENSIARE BETEMRBLETE
and certain deferred tax liabilities. Other liabilities are not allocated to operating ERBAE EMBBETAIEZLESH REAL
segments as these liabilities are managed on a corporate basis. ZRBENIRATEEEIE
b) Geographical information b) ibiFE R
The following table sets out information about the geographical location of (i) the Group’s TR#VNEAOEAEBINBELZBARGAEBRREY
revenue from external customers and (i) the Group’s investment properties, property, ¥ ME BERRE EFEERRE(HEHERDE
plant and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill (the “Specified Non-current Assets”). ENZHBAUBEER WRZHBNE NIREEERRE
The geographical location of the revenue is presented based on the entity’s countries of G TEIRRBDEEZMBMNENIEEEZEBRMUE (RIE
domicile. The geographical location of the Specified Non-current Assets is presented based EMENYE BELREMNS )VALESREBEEZE
on the physical location of the assets, in the case of investment properties and property, B (B EERBEMS )25 -
plant and equipment, and the location of the operation to which they are allocated, in the
case of intangible assets and goodwill.
Revenue Non-current assets
W RBEE
2025 2024 2025 2024
—E-RE —E-MF —E-RHE —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET FHET FAET
Hong Kong B 180,719 166,951 315,244 334,108
Mainland China (the “PRC") AR RRE([RE]) 2,920 4,560 5,960 6,390
Macau il 201 192 12,200 13,000
Thailand Z=H 12,898 13,972 - -
Indonesia ENE e 8,567 10,049 - -
Others Hph 7,811 8,821 - -
213,116 204,545 333,404 353,498
¢) Information about major customers o BBEIBEFZEH

No revenue from customers individually contributing 10% or more of the total revenue of
the Group for the years ended 30 April 2025 and 2024.

REBEEZZ-_RAFRZS-_MFOA=+THLEFE HER
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REVENUE

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

4. W
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REEFARE ZAMEFIAT

2025 2024
—E-HE —ZT-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Revenue from contracts with customers within BEBUBHREERFISHEZREEFENZ
HKFRS 15- point in time Wiz — RIS R
Provision of technology and related services RENEREBERY 206,776 197,368
Revenue from other sources FKE R MR Wz
Provision of property leasing services RV EBERE
— Gross rental income from investment properties —REWEZRES WA 4,614 5,499
Provision of financial related services RESBRERRY
— Interest income —FI B A 1,612 1,720
— Dividend income from listed equity securities — EmBRAES RS A 234 272
— Net loss on listed equity securities at FVPL (Note) —BBRBHRATEY R ETMRAES 2 BIRFE(MF) (120) (314)
1,726 1,678
213,116 204,545
Note: Mz -
2025 2024
—E-HE T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
Net loss on listed equity securities at FVPL BRBEEATEYREZ FTRAESZ BEFRE
— Change in fair value — N FEEEE (472) (314)
— Realised gain* —B# R 352 -
(120) (314)
*  The amount represented the proceeds from the disposal of listed equity securities of * ZEBIENE LTIRAES 2 A8 RIEA1,002,0008 T ( ZF Z MU ¢
approximately HK$1,002,000 (2024: Nil) less relevant costs and carrying value of the listed ) RPT S £ AR RE % 2 4B R AR K AR T (B 49650,00008 7T (= F =/
equity securities sold, of approximately HK$650,000 (2024: Nil). F )
OTHER REVENUE 5. Rftls
2025 2024
—E-HE —ZTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Bank interest income RITRB WA 44 69
Management fee income EEBWA 232 140
Written back of retainer fee payable FE R B R 1,835 -
Others Hity 2,443 66
4,554 275
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6. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

This is stated after charging (crediting):

6. BRATBBIATEFI

BB GEA AT EHZT

2025 2024
—E-HE —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Finance costs BB
Interest on banking facilities IRITRE L 2,901 2,822
Interest on other borrowings HiEEF S 67 71
Total finance costs BA R AN 4R RE 2,968 2,893
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) BEIRKX(BIZEESHH)
Salaries, allowances and other benefits in kind HE R REMEDREA 8,622 7,620
Contributions to defined contribution plans FEMRETEIER 215 910
Total staff costs #E TRRA 8,837 8,530
Other items EftEH
Auditor’s remuneration 2 EEM BN & 1,250 1,300
Amortisation of intangible assets B A ERH 10,517 10,517
Depreciation e
— Property, plant and equipment —E  BE R 11 Il
— Right-of-use assets —FREEE 427 428
Direct operating expenses arising from investment properties ~ESMHERAZREMEEL 2 EELEHT
that generated leasing income 185 192
Exchange loss, net M 5 B 18558 - 2
Research and development expenses (included in AT GIATTREEMEERFRS])
“Administrative and other operating expenses”) 22,780 29,000
Retainer fees (included in “Administrative and other operating B2:5% (5t A [1TH R HAab & &5 |)(Mfat)
expenses”) (Note) 125,665 122,329
Written off of property, plant and equipment WE - R K e 11 -
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses), net, IR B AR SREERRRERBE,
recognised in respect of financial assets at amortised costs OREEIERR) F5
— Accounts receivable — FEMBR R 1,837 1,751
— Loan receivables —ERER 3,007 (1,217)
— Deposits and other receivables — R RE M EWIA 239 (504)
5,083 30

Note: Retainer fees include, for example, payments to our business partners who are retained to
provide services to the Group and in relation to services that we provide to our customers.

Mt BREBRBPIMBEARMANEBEEBHEINNER Z5X£B4
VER LR FImR S SR (LBR A 0 ) A S B ER AR AS AR S 25 o
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RE M EHmRMETE
Year ended 30 April 2025
BE-_Z_AFNA=THLEE

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE FBHER) BX
2025 2024
—E-FHE ZEZE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TR
Current tax BIEA% 1R
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBENEH
Current year REE 974 1,412
Deferred taxation EIEBIE
Changes in temporary differences (Note 24) R A (M iF24) (1,422) 2,663
Total income tax (credit)/expense for the year REEMEHR(ER)/ FXE5E (448) 4,075

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits arising in or derived from the
jurisdiction in which entities in the Group are domiciled and operated.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the BVI, the Group is not subject
to any income tax under these jurisdictions.

The two-tiered profits tax rates regime in Hong Kong is applicable to years of assessment
beginning on or after 1 April 2018, under which, the profit tax rate for the first HK$2,000,000
assessable profits arising from Hong Kong of qualifying entities will be taxed at 8.25%, and
assessable profits arising from Hong Kong above HK$2,000,000 will continue be taxed at the rate
of 16.5%. As only one of the subsidiaries in the Group is eligible to elect the two-tiered profits tax
rates, profits of the remaining subsidiaries of the Group will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%.

For the years ended 30 April 2025 and 2024, Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated in accordance
with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax has not been provided for the years ended 30 April 2025 and 2024 as
the Group’s entities in the PRC incurred a loss for taxation purposes.

Reconciliation of income tax expense

&R BRGNS B E B8 P BE N AT B T A R R E A s SR
IR EREEGNAEH -

REASHENEBEZHENRARRD  NEBBEHNZ
S RERBE W ER TSN -

%%%‘J%ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁ%&%ﬂ@%ﬁé@: —N\EMA—BREMH

WRMFEE Bt 5 ERBEATEEEMNH2,000,000%8
m‘&‘%mmﬂﬁﬂgsZS%WRI%WM\J B Mt EBEED
2,000,000 7T LA = ) JE 2R 75 i 1) 5 488 48 121 6.5% KO Bt R i o |
RALENE-—RNBRARIAERERTSHMEMAS A%
B E AT A B 2 05 I i A 1B 121 6.5% A B — B R -

HEZZ-AGFR-TNFNA=THIEFE FBMNERT
IRIEF SRR ERR GG E -

HRAEBRPE BERERFEEN s 2BE AREE-F
—HFRZZZNFNA=THIEFENARTRPEGEMS
T -

PGB 2 H iR

2025 2024

—EBC-RE ke Sl 15 S

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Profit before income tax MRETS B AR R 15,506 21,126
Tax calculated at the rates applicable to the respective tax REAN ARG AR ZHEAE Z2IE

jurisdictions 2,306 3,435

Effect on graduated tax rate ZREBRFE (165) (165)

Non-deductible expenses AR X 2,307 2,173

Tax exempt income X (2,414) (2,360)

Tax effect of deductible temporary difference not recognised ~ FIERAIHIR L ZRE 2 HIEFE (295) 3,675

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses AR AERTIEER (2,187) (2,319

Others HAth - (364)

AEEMERER)/FIX

Income tax (credit)/expense for the year

(448) 4,075
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Year ended 30 April 2025

BE-_Z_AFNA=THLEE

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

8(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The aggregate amounts of emoluments received and receivable by the directors and chief
executive officer of the Company in connection with the management of the affairs of the

Company and its subsidiaries are as follows:

Year ended 30 April 2025

8. EBRTHASURIERSHFATIHME
8@ EERITHRARME
ARRBERITREHAREEARARARAMBRRZEH

BUREKROMEEENT

BE_Z_RENA=THLEE

Salaries,
Directors’ allowances and Discretionary
fees benefits-in-kind bonus Total
& RER
EEHS BEWER BERA oy
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTEx FERT FEx FE
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Vong Tat leong David (Note (i) HES S E (W) 600 600 - 1,200
M. Xu Siping HETFEE 500 - - 500
Independent non-executive directors BIFHTES
Mr. Fung Ka Keung David R E 100 - - 100
Ms. Daphne Bontein da Rosa Gohel (Note (ij)) Bontein da Rosa GohelZz (37 (i)) 100 - - 100
Ms. Susie Au (Note (i) & 5 22+ (i) 100 - - 100
1,400 600 - 2,000
Year ended 30 April 2024 HE-_T-_NFWNA=THILFE
Salaries,
Directors’ allowances and Discretionary
fees benefits-in-kind bonus Total
& 2R
E2He EWEN [ =petas st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FAET FAET
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Vong Tat leong David (Note (i) EEGILENED) 720 600 - 1,320
Mr. Xu Siping RETTE R A 500 - - 500
Independent non-executive directors BIYFHTES
Mr. Fung Ka Keung David BRBAE 100 - - 100
Dr. Lam Lee G. (Note (iv)) MKEE L (Mt(v) 120 - - 120
Ms. Wong Man Ngar Edna (Note (v)) T (M) 50 - - 50
Ms. Daphne Bontein da Rosa Gohel (Note (i) Bontein da Rosa GohelZz (4% (i)) 50 - - 50
Ms. Susie Au (Note (iii)) I 5 2 (i) 20 - - 20
1,560 600 - 2,160
Notes: Mzt -

(i)~ Mr. Vong Tat leong David is also the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and his emoluments

disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the Chief Executive Officer.

(i) Ms. Daphne Bontein da Rosa Gohel was appointed as an independent non-executive director with

effect from 6 October 2023.

(ifi)  Ms. Susie Au was appointed as an independent non-executive director with effect from 16 February

2024.

(iv)  Dr. Lam Lee G. has tendered his resignation as an independent non-executive director with effect

from 16 February 2024.

(v)  Ms. Wong Man Ngar Edna has tendered her resignation as an independent non-executive director

with effect from 30 October 2023.

() HEBEETAAARMITHAR M EXERENOMESEER
FEETRAEH A RAR RIS -

(i) Bontein da Rosa GohelZ T =T = =4+ A NHEZ(TAE LI
BITESE
(i) BEMZTHR_T_MF_A+ BREERBIIFENTES

(iv) MREELR T -WNF - A+ BBEBELIFRTES-

(V) EXHZEIR-B-=FTA=-TRABEBELFNTES-
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RE M EHmRMETE
Year ended 30 April 2025
BE-_Z_AFNA=THLEE

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND FIVE 8. EERTHRARURABESFALTHNEME(E)
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)
8(b) Emoluments of five highest paid individuals 8h) EEEEHALTHME
The five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2025 included two HE_Z_AFNWAZTALFE AEEMEREaFAL
(2024: two) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above and PEEMEZ(ZZENF  ME)ES HENHESRRE
three (2024 three) non-director individuals whose emoluments are disclosed as follows: WA B T=R(ZE_MF : =8)IFESATHHS
BWEMT :
2025 2024
—E-RHF ZETE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Salaries, allowances and benefits-in-kind &R REMEA 2,101 2,022
Contribution to defined contribution plans AREHRKETEIER 36 36
2,137 2,058
The number of the highest paid individuals (excluding the directors of the Company) whose HHBRUTHENSZSHAT(TEERARAGESE) A
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows: W
Number of individuals
A#
2025 2024
—E-FHF —T_F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZZ1,000,00075 7T 2 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,500,001/ 7T 21,500,000/ 7T 1 -
3 3
There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive officer, the five REBEEZZ-_RAFRZT-_MFONA=+THILEFE HEE
highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the years ETRAH IETaH ALTHEXRERETMAMSH
ended 30 April 2025 and 2024. In addition, no emolument was paid by the Group to the TR I BEE-_RAFEA_E_NFNA=FTHILF
any of the directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join, or upon B AEEVEATMNEEIAEZSZaFATIMNEE £
joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office for the years ended 30 April 2025 ARSI HEINANEB S INANE @R 7 SEE) S BB E o
and 2024.
DIVIDEND 9. KRE
No dividend was paid or declared by the Company for the year ended 30 April 2025 (2024: Nil). HE-T-AFMA=1TAHILFE ARAWKRIKMNKE IR EMA
The directors of the Company do not recommend for payment of a final dividend for the year RE(ZZE_F : #) AR EBV T EHERBE_S_1F
ended 30 April 2025 (2024: Nil). WA=+ ALFERMNRPRE(ZZZNE : )
EARNINGS PER SHARE 10. ZREF

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share for the current and prior year is based
on profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue during the years.

Diluted earnings per share were same as the basic earnings per share as there were no
potentially dilutive ordinary shares in existence during the years ended 30 April 2025 and 2024.

AEZMAEFEZSRARRETRADIREARBEE A
EIEFRENRFNEBTERRZ IEFHOETE -

HRBEE_Z AR " Z_NFONA=TALFEYEFE
EAEEEEERR  REREERT R RERENER
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BE-Z-AFNA=THLEE

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

11.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on:

10. SREF (&)

BIREAREERNIRBEA T REFE

Earnings ER
2025 2024
—E-RHE —T-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company, M EEREAREERFMENARGHE AELEER
for the purpose of basic and diluted earnings per share i 7l 10,524 21,123
Number of shares RHER
2025 2024
—E-RF —ZoEF
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose  BLatE SR EAN N 258 2 5 M 5 2w g 18R
of basic and diluted earnings per share 270,827,299 257,231,595
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 1. % BERRE
Right-of-use
assets — | hold L hold Furniture, fixtures
land and buildings improvements and equipment Motor vehicles Total
R
BE-HE HE B -H=E
T REF MELE PET RE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT FHT FHT FHT
Reconciliation of carrying amount-year REEHE-#HZE-T=-mF
ended 30 April 2024 MA=+HItFE
At 1 May 2023 RZZT_=FHA—H 10,332 - 66 - 10,398
Additions RE - - 12 - 12
Depreciation e (428) - (1) - (439)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 28) HEWB AT (H:728) - - (1) - (1)
At 30 April 2024 R-B-mEMA=+H 9,904 - 66 - 9,970
Reconciliation of carrying amount-year REEHER-BE-_ZT-HF
ended 30 April 2025 A=t+HLEE
At 1 May 2024 RZZT-ZWFHRA—H 9,904 - 66 - 9,970
Additions NE - - 12 - 12
Depreciation e (427) - (1) - (438)
Written off bk - - (11) - (11)
At 30 April 2025 R-Z-_HFWNA=+H 9,477 - 56 - 9,533




11.

12.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Right-of-use
assets — leasehold

FABEXARAT FiR2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M EHmRMETE

Year ended 30 April 2025

BE-_Z_AFNA=THLEE

1. Y% BRERREE)

land and Leasehold Furniture, fixtures
buildings improvements and equipment Motor vehicles Total
fERE
BEE-HE HE & £E
T REF WERE PET AE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FAT FAT FHT
At 30 April 2024 RZZE_WFEMA=+H
Cost AR 15,393 83 1,104 4,476 21,056
Accumulated depreciation Z2:tirE (5,489) (83) (1,038) (4,476) (11,086)
Net carrying amount BREFE 9,904 - 66 - 9,970
At 30 April 2025 R-Z-_HFWA=+H
Cost (P& 15,393 83 894 4,476 20,846
Accumulated depreciation BEHTE (5,916) (83) (838) (4,476) (11,313)
Net carrying amount BREFE 9,477 - 56 - 9,533
(i) At 30 April 2025, leasehold land and buildings of approximately HK$9,477,000 (2024: )y RZZE-AFWA=+H AEEDHKIF49,477,0007% T

approximately HK$9,904,000) were pledged to secure bank facilities granted to the Group
(Note 25).

(i) The total cash outflow for leases, which represents short-term leases, for the year ended 30
April 2025 was approximately HK$7,000 (2024: approximately HK$47,000).

(ZZ M4 © £99,904,000/870) 2 A E 1t R IEF LARS
FAEEZRITRE (FiFE25)°

iy BE-T-_AFWA=-TALFEREUREHRE) 2R
S BT AH7,000%8 7T (=T U4 : 4947,000/7T) ©

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 12. REWH
2025 2024
—E-RHE —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FA&T

Fair value ROTE

At the beginning of the reporting period R E ) 228,330 234,050
Net change in fair value recognised in profit or loss REZERZ AFEZEHFEHE (17,710) (5,720)
At the end of the reporting period RBEHR 210,620 228,330

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation purpose are measured at fair value model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties.

At the end of the reporting period, the investment properties of approximately HK$210,620,000
(2024: approximately HK$228,330,000) are held under head leases with the remaining lease
terms of 3 years to 818 years (2024: 4 years to 819 years).

Certain of the Group’s investment properties with an aggregate carrying value of approximately
HK$167,900,000 at 30 April 2025 (2024: approximately HK$181,000,000) were pledged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group (Note 23).

All investment properties of the Group were revalued at 30 April 2025. The valuations were
carried out by an independent firm of surveyors, AP Appraisal Limited (2024: AP Appraisal
Limited), who have among their staff fellows of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors
(2024: Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors) with recent experience in the location and
category of properties being valued. The management of the Group has discussions with the
surveyors on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is performed
at each interim and annual reporting date. In estimating the fair value of the investment
properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

AEEAKERERASEARDPEAS RASIEE R EER S
2B EEEEARTERNGE IARRREMENR -

RS B + £9210,620,00078 70( =T Z MM 4F : £9228,330,00078
T ZBEMERRBELELNFEMB THEN T3E18F(=
TPUF 1 458195 )

RZZF-RFWNA=1H #RMEE4167,900,000/8 T(=F
TP £9181,000,0008 7T ) 2 AREEE TR AW E D EHE
BEFAEEZRITRE (MizE23)0

REBAEREVER S _RAFMA=-TBEHEE - HE
A 2RM7TAP Appraisal Limited(=ZZ ZPO4 : AP Appraisal
Limited 1T EHRERFHUEMBE (T -WNF : E2X%
FPRIEMEE)XE cBEREGRIBMEYEMEMREREY
FETEEZER - RNERPEHRFERE S BAETHER A
SEEREE RS MEERRRAELER - REIRED
R RNTER ZEVEZGRRSERGRHEREME-
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BE-Z-AFNA=THLEE

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The property interests in investment properties thereon (including the whole or part of
undivided share in the underlying land) in Hong Kong of approximately HK$192,460,000 (2024:
approximately HK$208,940,000) are held by the Group as the registered owner. Those property
interests were acquired from the previous registered owners by making lump sum payments
at the upfront (which may be financed by a mortgage). Except for the variable amounts to be
charged by the government subsequently that are reviewed regularly with reference to the
rateable values, for example, there are no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of the
land lease.

Leasing arrangement — as lessor

The investment properties are leased to independent third parties for a term of 1 to 3 years
(2024: 1 to 3 years), which had an initial non-cancellable lease term of 1 to 3 years (2024: 1 to 3
years). Some leases do not include purchase or termination options and some leases provide the
lessees with options to renew the leases upon expiry at new terms.

The details of the leasing income from operating leases are set out in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The investment properties are subject to residual value risk. The lease contract, as a result,
includes a provision based on which the Group has the right to charge the tenant for any damage
to certain of the investment properties at the end of the lease, unless the loss or damage caused
through the act, neglect, omission or negligence of the Group. Besides, the Group has purchased
insurance to protect it against any loss that may arise from accidents or physical damages of the
properties.

Below is a maturity analysis of undiscounted lease payments to be received from the leasing of
investment properties.

12. REWMHE (&)

#9192,460,00078 7T ( —Z Z U4 : #£7208,940,000/8 7T ) ) B BB E
MENMEES(BRARTHN2IRIBI T D EHEE) A
REBERBEREFR/A - ZEWEEE DU — AR
X (ATEEBBIRBAARE)AATELETRE BREFEEES
B JE R 2 60 A (B E HAAR ST AT URER B2 B S A - A0 - AR IR £ 3t
TSGR R AR

HEZH-FRHAA

REMELETELE =7 BHMB3F(ZT_0OF 153
F) AR RBEER M E3IF(CE_WIF 1E3F )BT
HETBEBESRK DRER URBHEERERBATRE
ERNDI R RFHEREE -

KERENBAERAFBHN RS F B |ERM T4

REMEAZNHEERR Bt BEANEE —RES &
It REEERNEESRERE TREYEZ RFBERERS
RE BIFBAKEBERAKEZTH B2 BRLBRHAE
Heutdh AEBCBERR  UWREAMEERBIISMEZEL
B 5l AR -

AT REREEREMREIEZ KRR EEN KRB D -

At 30 April 2025 HK$’000
R-ZBE-_HEFEWNA=+H FET
Undiscounted lease payments to be received UGEL 7 R E N
— within one year ——FR 3,149
— In the second year —F=- 740
— In the third year —E=4F -
3,889
At 30 April 2024 HK$’000
RZTZNFMNA=+H THETT
Undiscounted lease payments to be received HUER 2 AR AR IR E R
— within one year —-—%R 4,230
— In the second year —E-F 2,729
— In the third year —$=F 464

7,423



Fair value hierarchy

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs to the valuation of
investment properties classified as Level 3 (Note 33) of the fair value hierarchy:

BAEEARAR FH2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. REWME(E)
AFEER

RE M EHmRMETE
Year ended 30 April 2025
BE-_Z_AFNA=THLEE

ATARSBEARTESRTE=RORED X (33 HE
FER PR B (E R e E B ABIRA R

Range of  Relationship of unobservable
Valuation techniques Unobservable inputs unobservable inputs  inputs to fair value
fh{E T TEHEE 28 AIE FUBEZHARE TUBEBBHEATEZBR

Investment properties in Hong Kong
REEZIREYE

— Commercial properties

CES/ES

— Residential properties

Investment properties in the
Mainland China
R EABEZ REYF

— Commercial properties

ES/ES

Investment properties in Macau
RBPIZREYE

— Residential properties

Direct comparison approach

BRLLEOR

Direct comparison approach

BRLEE

Direct comparison approach

BELLEOR

Direct comparison approach

B EE

Adjusted market price
(per square foot)

BRBZTEETAR)

Adjusted market price
(per square foot)

KABZHEEFIR)

Adjusted market price
(per square metre)

ERE TERETHR)

Adjusted market price (per
square foot)

RARZHEEFIR)

HK$7,855 to HK$23,913
(2024: HK$7,062 to
HK$35,652)

7,855/ 70 223,913/ 7T
T PO 7,062/
%35,652/57T)

HK$14,984 to HK$37,819
(2024: HK$16,545 to
HK$41,807)

14,984 7L 237,819 7T
ZZZPU4F 16,5458
41,8078 7T)

Renminbi (“RMB”)
RMB19,000 to RMB23,441
(2024: RMB21,548 to
RMB24,011)
ARB(TARKE])
AER#19,000TE
AR#23 4417

T PO
AR#21,5487L %
AE#24,0117T)

HK$5,210 to HK$5,635
(2024: HK$4,551 to
HK$6,868)

5,210/ 7L E5,6358 7T
(ZZ V04 4551787
%6,868/8 7T)

Assuming other factors remain
unchanged, the higher the
adjusted market price,
the higher the fair value

BREEMAZRETE - LAE
ZzTEMSATELS

Assuming other factors remain
unchanged, the higher the
adjusted market price,
the higher the fair value

BEREMARRETE  LRE
ZHEEEAFESS

Assuming other factors remain
unchanged, the higher the
adjusted market price, the higher
the fair value

BREEMARREDE - LRHE
ZHESEATFESS

Assuming other factors remain
unchanged, the higher the
adjusted market price, the higher
the fair value

BEREMARRETE  LRE
ZHEEEAFESS

83

The fair value of investment properties located in Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland China is
determined using direct comparison approach by reference to recent sales price of comparable
properties on a price per square foot/per square metre basis, adjusted for a premium or
discount specific to the quality of the Group’s properties compared to recent sales on the
comparable transactions. The higher the adjusted market price, the higher the fair value and a
favourable adjustment on the timing of comparable transactions will result in a higher fair value
measurement.

RIS BPI R EAR ZRANE 2 ATEEREEL R
EEEE  RESE AR BNERG TR G K EREE
HEZANEE ARRAEEETHEE Y TR E KT H(E
AN 20 5 L BB ) 1 R - G B2 T BB AR A
FEBSRMTHRE B 52 B S E AHE DU EH
HERBZATESS -

Fair value adjustments of investment properties are recognised in the line item “change in
fair value of investment properties” on consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. All gains (losses) recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income are arisen from the investment properties held at the end of
the reporting period.

REME L ATEREAERRGEREAMEERERFTNUIE
EWMEZAVERE | IR - NBERREELRENEE
EZ ARG (BR)EFAREREMEERERPHER
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

13. BLEE

Application
software
Customer development
Software  relationships Licence costs Total
FE R
B4 EFB% Bk BRR A “@Er
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET F&T FAT F&T FA&T
Cost 2%
At 1 May 2023 R-ZE-_=FAA—H 24,859 9,349 38,024 - 72,232
Additions NE - - - 24,750 24,750
At 30 April 2024 and 1 May 2024 REZZEZWFMA=1THK
ZEZMFERA—H 24,859 9,349 38,024 24,750 96,982
Additions RE - - - 8,570 8,570
At 30 April 2025 R-Z-_HAFWA=+H 24,859 9,349 38,024 33,320 105,552
Accumulated amortisation E-GE: £
At 1 May 2023 RZZTZ=FHA—H 7,872 2,726 - - 10,598
Charge for the year REEER 4,972 1,168 1,902 2,475 10,517
At 30 April 2024 and 1 May 2024 REZZEZWFMA=+THK
—E-MERA—H 12,844 3,894 1,902 2,475 21,115
Charge for the year REFER 4,972 1,168 1,902 2,475 10,517
At 30 April 2025 R-ZB-_HAFWA=+H 17,816 5,062 3,804 4,950 31,632
Net carrying amount IRERE
At 30 April 2024 RZZE-_WFMA=+H 12,015 5,455 36,122 22275 75,867
At 30 April 2025 R-ZE-HFNA=+H 7,043 4,287 34,220 28,370 73,920

Software and customer relationships are acquired through acquisition of subsidiaries in prior
year and amortised on a straight-line basis over 5 and 8 years respectively and tested for
impairment where an indicator of impairment appears.

Included in licence with carrying amount of HK$34,220,000 (2024: HK$36,122,000) which
represents a right of a series of online and offline education and related curriculum and related
materials, acquired through acquisition of subsidiaries during the year ended 30 April 2023. The
licence entitles the Group to develop and sell an education related online application for 20
years from the date of acquisition. The licence will therefore be amortised over the remaining
useful lives of 19 years and tested for impairment where indicator of impairment appears.

Application software development costs with carrying amount of approximately HK$19,800,000
(2024: HK$22,275,000) are internally-generated intangible assets arising from the Group’s
technology business. The directors of the Company reconsidered the recoverability of the
development costs at the end of the reporting period. The project of developing new application
software continues to progress in a very satisfactory manner. Based on the Group’s estimates of
the anticipated revenues from the project and anticipated margins on the relevant products, the
directors of the Company consider that the carrying amount of the development costs will be
recovered in full.

During the year ended 30 April 2025, capitalised application software development costs with
carrying amount of approximately HK$8,570,000 were recognised as intangible assets which were
not amortised as the related application software were not yet available for use. These assets
are tested for impairment annually by comparing their carrying amount with their recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is determined based on value-in-use calculations, which
involve discounted cash flow projections and apply a pre-tax discount rate of 20%.

BEREFEENR E—FEERRBHB ARG Lo RR
S RS IR EAVEH S - B E D R TR E R o

T ABRMI(E 34,220,000/ 70 (= Z =94 © 36,122,000/ 7T ) 2 7F A
BEBE-Z-_-FNA=THLEFERBKRENE QA
182 —RIVER RBERHE U AR R IR FARRIM L2 #EF o 3%
A EE T ASEEN T A WE A HE0FAMEREEEK
EBMNERERRER At ZFFEBIRBT19F 2 #EA
FHABE S - W HIRE D R TRE RS

JE PR SR B B 2 AR AN 2 BRTEN{E 49 419,800,00078 T ( =& Z PO 4 -
2227500087 ) REAEBENBEBEEZNBELEZERE
E-RREPHRARAREETGENERRMENE 2 AT EIME - F
BHERARNIEE #EBUS ARBEZ A RMBER - ERAE
EHIEEEHBARBMERBHRFIBENGHE AAREER
RFAERAZEEEES T2 -

REZZEZRFMA=+HIEFER  BREEX £8,570,000/ L2
BENMERRERAENAERAHMREH BREE REAR
HAERRENRAIRER ZSEESFEREBRAREER
HalgE e TR EAR - ATkl e yREFEAEEE

E i RGNS = T8 R K FE A 20% A9 B TR ER 3K o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M EHmRMETE

Year ended 30 April 2025

BE-_Z_AFNA=THLEE

14(a) Goodwill arising from acquisition of Claman Global Limited (“Claman”) and its

subsidiaries (collectively “Claman Group”)

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of the equity interests in Claman in prior years
was allocated to the technology and related activities CGU. The excess of the fair value
consideration transferred over the acquisition-date fair values of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed of approximately HK$39,331,000 was recognised as
goodwill.

At 30 April 2025, the Group assessed the recoverable amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit with reference to a value-in-use calculation based on the cash flow
projection of Claman Group. The calculation used cash flow projection based on financial
budgets approved by the directors of the Company covering a 5-year period. Cash flows
beyond the 5-year period have been extrapolated using a 2.5% long-term growth rate. This
growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the
average long-term growth rate for the relevant industry.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculation are as follows:

14. GOODWILL 14. B8
2025 2024
—E_FFE —E-NE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Reconciliation of carrying amount: REEYER
At the beginning and end of the reporting period RS By R ER 39,331 39,331
Claman Group RIERE Total
Claman£ & R EE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FAT
(Note 14(a)) (Note 14(b))
(Kizt14(a) (BtzE14(b)

At 30 April 2025 R-ZE-HEFMA=+AH
Cost %N 39,331 - 39,331
Accumulated impairment losses RETRERE - - -
39,331 - 39,331

At 30 April 2024 RZZEZWEMA=+H
Cost D 39,331 11,383 50,714
Accumulated impairment losses Z2:0REEE - (11,383) (11,383)
39,331 - 39,331

14(a) Wz B Claman Global Limited ([ Claman |) & E /i B 2 S48

(TClaman& @ ) EEzEHE

REMFEERBRamanE B BEEL Z2HEDERER
R REEESH ReEEEMN - MEEQAFERERBLT
WEA S EERFMAZEEBBERESERAFEZEZEN
39,331,000/ 7L 2 HER AR -

RZZB-AFMA=+H AEE2ZREAamanEH 2
RengBiltEzeREENAEEREELEL 2T
WE S - &t E T ERBRBEAATNESH A AFHH
BHEELETZRSRERE -BESFHIRERETNER
250 RS R RS - WIBRETVIRBABITRIEREN
AHE AUEBBERTEZ TORGEERE .

RARFAEERBEEZERHRRNOT

2025 2024

—E-RHE —T N

Long-term growth rate EHER 2.5% 2.0%
Discount rate (pre-tax) BRI R (BimT) 26.6% 21.7%

The management of the Group performed impairment test for the goodwill and determined
such goodwill was not impaired. Reasonably possible changes in key assumptions will not
lead to the goodwill impairment loss.

AEEERECYHHBETRENR TEFEZHELER
E-TERRNGEREZH TR ERERHR -
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BE-Z-AFNA=THLEE

14.

15.

16.

GOODWILL (Continued) 14. HEE)
14(b) Goodwill arising from acquisition of 1t 5 JEE 14b) WL RIEREE 2 HE
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of the equity interests in 1t RIBBHEEGRFIQ REMFEBRBEILLRIERRAZEEREEAT(ILERIE
7] (“4bJIEE”) in prior years was allocated to the financial services CGU for impairment B CEEEECEE IR ESRBREER Y HSELS
assessment purpose. iz - AVER BT o
The carrying amount of goodwill had been fully impaired during the year ended 30 April HATRAHA BEZEESERNEEZE T —NFEMNA
2014 due to the uncertain market conditions. =TRIEFEERERE
During the year ended 30 April 2025, the goodwill was derecognised as the Group disposed REE-T-_RAFNA=1TAHILFE BHECKEER R
of 100% equity interests in 1t JIE3E. Please refer to Note 28 to the consolidated financial B A EEHE R RIER 2 1002 - BRLHEHRB R
statements for the details of disposal of subsidiaries. BlZF#E  ELMRA M HRARM 28
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVOCI 15. BRHM2ERAZAFEIIRZERMEE
2025 2024
—EB-HE —E-HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value FLETRAKRE  ROFE
— Honest Pro (Holdings) Limited (“Honest Pro”) — Honest Pro (Holdings) Limited ( [Honest Pro]) - -
Notes: Bt -
Honest Pro is a company incorporated in BVI with limited liability. The principal activity of Honest Pro is Honest Pro& A B 2 22 B & H A 37 2 BBRA A ° Honest ProZ £ 254
investment holding. The Group had 20% equity interests in Honest Pro. The Group does not participate in B AR o AR B F Honest ProfF A 20%% 1 o AN B AR H 2 8 B Honest Pro
policy-making processes, including participation in decisions about dividends or other distributions of Honest AR B AL E DR ZRESHERFITBE -AAREERA A%E
Pro. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group does not exercise significant influence oM REBEBRRTBEATE N BHE_S_ZFMA=THILFE "
over the financial and operating policies of Honest Pro. For the year ended 30 April 2020, a fair value loss of AFEEE670,0008 TR IEAFEFAEMEERAKERNER - BEE
approximately HK$670,000 was recognised in FVOCI reserve. Subsequent to the fair value loss recognised for the E_Z_ZFNACHHIEFERRRAFEEE E RZE_AFRK-F
year ended 30 April 2020, the carrying value of investment in Honest Pro is nil as at 30 April 2025 and 2024. In ZEMA=Z+TERZBREZRAEAT - ALMEREF AHonest Pro
the opinion of the management of the Group, there was no fair value change in the investment in Honest Pro for CREARHZE_Z_RFER-_T_NFNA=FTHIEFE 2 A FETES
the years ended 30 April 2025 and 2024. o
Please refer to Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements for the details of fair value BEATEAEZFE BL2HGRAMBREWES -
measurement.
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL 16. BRBRRATEIEZSMERE
2025 2024
—ZE-RF —ZoEF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt FHET FHET
Listed equity securities EIRAES 16(a) 5,360 6,482
Unlisted debt securities-club membership FLTESES-SMeE 16(b) 1,592 1,592
6,952 8,074
Less: Non-current portion o FERENE S (1,592) (1,592)
Amounts shown under current assets REBEEBNIREHE 5,360 6,482
At 30 April 2025 and 2024, the carrying amounts of the financial assets represent the maximum REZZE-RAFER-ZT-NFNA=1+H ¢RMEEZEMEAZ
exposure to credit risk of those financial assets and there are no significant concentrations of EeMEE R EERRE TEHZSCMEETESAE
credit risk for those financial assets. EERER -
At the end of the reporting period, no financial assets at FVPL exceeded 10% of the Group’s total RBEEHR TESBESRATEIE cREERBARNESR

assets. BEFEZ10% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL (Continued) 16.
16(a) — Listed equity securities

At 30 April 2025 and 2024, the listed equity securities are listed in Hong Kong. The fair
values of the listed equity securities are determined on the basis of quoted market closing
prices available on the relevant stock exchanges at the end of each reporting period.

As disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, during the year, the trading
of listed equity securities activities has recorded gain of approximately HK$114,000 (2024:
loss of approximately HK$42,000) from a fairly diversified portfolio of listed equity securities
at FVPL, held for trading purposes. Although there was decrease in asset value, this was
almost entirely due to disposal of listed equity securities of approximately HK$1,002,000,
market-to-market unrealised loss of approximately HK$472,000, and realised gain
transactions of approximately of HK$352,000.

These transactions did not constitute notifiable transactions pursuant to Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules.

16(b)- Unlisted debt securities-club membership

The Group’s investment in club membership were revalued at 30 April 2025 and 2024 based
on valuations performed by BonVision International Appraisal Limited (2024: BonVision
International Appraisal Limited). The fair value of club membership was valued by using
market comparable approach.

The movement of the club membership at FVPL is analysed as follows:

RE M EHmRMETE
Year ended 30 April 2025
BE-_Z_AFNA=THLEE

ERBRBEATVEIRZEHEE )
16) — LW RAE %

RZZ-_AFR-ZF-_MFNA=1TH LTRAEHFRE
LM EMBRAES 2 AFENREREHAERGHE
ARGz MM EABERE -

MREMIEREM T4 ERE TR B2 LTRAFES
BREABEEERLATFEURERYE ETRAESRZHE
EZ A NKELN114,0008 T(ZTZWF : BEY
42,0008 7T) BRELAEEBBEAM K BT R2RELELE
T A% AN 75 %2 491,002,000/ 7T L M EFHEMN R E R EIBLD
472,000 7 + LA K BB IR I E 22 5 £9352,000/48 7€

ZERXGTBRIRE LT RAIFUENATAMRS

16h) —F LHEKES -SREHE

NEBREMEEREN - E-_RAFEFR _T_MNFMNA
=T ERERREBRTHEERAFNZEZNF : ZEH
BB ERARDETNEEENEHE - e MEBENATE
RATSLBEETEE-

BRATEFABREZGMEREZEHHMNT

2025 2024
—E-RHE —TOF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
At the beginning and end of the reporting period RS B R ER 1,592 1,592
17. FORFEITED COLLATERALS HELD FOR SALE 17. FEHRBGEHR R

During the years ended 30 April 2025 and 2024, the Group obtained assets by taking possession
of collaterals held as security. The nature and carrying value of these assets held as at 30 April
are summarised as follows:

HE-Z-_AFR-_ZT-_NFNA=-THILFE A£EEB%
BEHEERNEAQEREE -REA=+AZSEEZHER
BREERMET

Forfeited collaterals held for sale —a mix of gold and jewellery & RUIKIFR —=€ RKEAS

As at 30 April 2025, the Group no longer held these assets, following the disposal of one of
its subsidiaries which previously held them. In the prior year, the estimated market value of
the repossessed assets held by the Group as at 30 April 2024 was approximately to its carrying
amount. It comprises gold and jewellery in respect of which the Group has acquired access or
control for release in full or in part of the obligations of the borrowers.

2025 2024
—E_RF —ENE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT

- 282

RNHERNFAZRSEECET —HWB ARG FEER-F
THEMNAZTRATERARSEE -RBEFE AKER -
EoNFNAZTEMBRKREEE (IS EEEERE
EFE - AeE A HASE AR HARRERAZDREBS
BEEZESRUE -
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18. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

18. EEWERRX

2025 2024
—Z-RfF —T-mEF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt FHET FAET

Accounts receivable FEWERRX
From third parties kEE=H 158,174 136,972
Less: Loss allowance o IR RS 32 (12,817) (10,980)
18(2) 145,357 125,992

18(a) Accounts receivable from third parties

The ageing of accounts receivable based on invoice date, net of loss allowance for ECL, at

the end of each reporting period is as follows:

18(a) FEU 58 = 75 BR 3K

REREHRBRERARLN 2 BERRTREHEEE

BZERBUE) ZREDMERIIMT

2025 2024

—E-RE —T-mEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Within 90 days 90H A 39,335 35,050
91 to 180 days 91H%E180H 33,238 43,926
Over 180 days HiB180H 72,784 47,016
145,357 125,992

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of accounts receivable, net of loss

allowance for ECL, by due date is as follows:

REREHRIZIIGA 27| 2 BUESRR(INRERERER

ZEERE) ZRESTHIINT

2025 2024

—E-HE —ET-NEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTAET FHETT

Not past due Rign Hf 39,335 35,050
Past due: FHA

Less than 90 days 90H A 33,238 43,926

91 to 180 days 91H=180H 38,486 37,481

Over 180 days HBiE180H 34,298 9,535

106,022 90,942

145,357 125,992

The Group generally allows an average credit period range from 90 to 180 days (2024: 90 to
180 days) to its customers. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss allowance on accounts
receivable are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

AEERBZAEEFPEEZFHIE

EEINT90H =1808

(ZZ-EF :90AE180R ) AEBEY WA ZFHEBITEE

Al AR G o

BRASEMEKERE G EERBR REERE &R

HNR A P WAM 32



19. LOAN RECEIVABLES

BAEEARAR FH2025
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19. BWER

REMBRRME
FOR THE Year ended 30 April 2025
BE-CZ-AFNA=THLEFE

2025 2024
—E-HE —E-mE
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt FHT T

Loan receivables Bl ER
— Unsecured — K 35,126 35,457
Less: Loss allowance o RS 32 (3,861) (854)
31,265 34,603

The loan receivables bear interest rates ranging from 3.0% to 30.0% (2024: 3.0% to 30.0%) per
annum and are repayable according to the respective loan agreements which usually cover

periods not more than one year.

a) Maturity profile

JEUE M A G RN F3.0%230.0% = F = M9 F ¢ 3.0%%
30.0%) WARKES BERGEEERE E—REBRTBER—F-

a) EHHfER

2025 2024
—E-HE —E-_NE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Due within 1 month or on demand MEARE Hsiz 2 sk(EE 31 301
Due after 1 month but within 3 months 1B A #8318 A A EE 1,000 1,000
Due after 3 months 3MEAEEIE 34,095 34,156
35,126 35,457

b) Loan receivables that are not considered to be impaired are as follows: b) RERBEEZEWERNT :
2025 2024
—E-HE —ZTHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Neither past due nor impaired Rig B TR AR E 35,095 35,156
Less than 1 month past due wE D RAE A - -
110 3 months past due wHEE=3ME A - -
Over 3 months past due mEREA L E 31 301
35,126 35,457

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss allowance on loan
receivables are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

20. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

BREAEE R

ExmE s EERRREBEREZEHN

BN R A BB IwAME32

20. BE - AARAREBERRR

2025 2024

—E-RHE —E_NEF

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

Mt FHET FAT

Prepayments TEfTERIK 2,280 1,690
Deposits for retainers related to technology business BB ESRECEEE 19,314 17,051
Deposits for software development projects NHRBIEE 2Eke (a) 21,730 -
Rental and other deposits e kEMmiEe 5,252 4,522
Rental receivables FEUFRE 1,143 667
Interest receivables LRI B, 1,856 2,133
Consideration receivables FEYARAE 28 12,865 4,000
Other receivables Hb U EIE (b) 23,035 20,851
87,475 50,914

Less: Loss allowance o RS 32 (2,724) (5,639)

84,751 45,275
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20. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a) Deposits for software development projects

As at 30 April 2025, the Group had deposits of HK$21,730,000 (2024: Nil) paid to certain
retainers for the development of several customised software. The projects are still in
progress up to the date of this report.

(b) Other receivables

As at 30 April 2025, other receivables included deposits totalling HK$13,000,000 (2024:
HK$13,000,000) paid to financial advisors for certain proposed investments for which the
due diligence is ongoing and the acquisition has not yet been completed up to the date of
this report.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss allowance on deposits and
other receivables are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

21. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

As at 30 April 2025, bank balances and cash in the Mainland China amounted to approximately
HK$319,000 (2024: approximately HK$7,561,000). Remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject
to the exchange controls imposed by the PRC government.

20. BE - FANFER A EREIE )

) BHMREERS

RZZ-_AFHA=TH AEEERAEE TRREE
HRETZERENZME$21,730,0008 T (T - MHF -
) BEARE B ZFBEMEETF -

(b) HAtFEWFRIE

RZZ-_RAFNA=1H EMERFECERE TERK
BEMMBER 2 ES A $£13,000,0008 T (=T —HF ¢

13,000,000/ 7T) MERBESNEETHEHEERAREH
HA BB M R TR ©

ERAKERRE REMRKARRZ EERR A RE
BEH ARBI N R MBRRME2 -

21. |RITEHRRES

RZZ-_RAFNA=TH RPRKEZBITEHRERESEA
#49319,000/8 7L ( ZZ = U4 : 497,561,000/ 7T ) © 8 & & [
LASNEE <7 R BT e N2 SNE B VB TE e

2025 2024

—E-HE —TUF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FAET

Bank balances and cash IRITHEBEES 23,176 53,104

Secured bank overdrafts (Note 23) BEMRITES (H17523) (7,263) (14,602)
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement GeRenERANRe ME2EEEE

of cash flows 15,913 38,502

22. ACCRUALS, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND OTHER PAYABLES 22, BEETRUE BRREREMBEMNRE

2025 2024

—E-RHE —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Accruals FERTFRIE 1,431 1,761

Accrued retainer fee (Note) FEETIEE B (M a7) - 1,835

Accrued staff costs FEEHE TR - 687

Rental and other deposits received Bl K EMmRE 1,315 1,160

Other payables E b3R8 3,113 1,292

5,859 6,735

Note:  The accrued retainer fee are non-interesting bearing and the Group is normally being
granted with credit terms range from 30 to 150 days (2024: 30 to 150 days).

Mt ERTIEEERTRE  ARE—RER0E150R (T -MF : 302




23. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

At the end of the reporting period, the details of the interest-bearing borrowings of the Group
are as follows:

BAEEARAR FH2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME
FOR THE Year ended 30 April 2025
BE-CZ-AFNA=THLEFE

23, FHEEE

RRERR AEEFESEEZFENT

2025 2024
—EB-HE —E-HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Interest-bearing borrowings HEEE

— Secured bank loans —BEMRITER 35,562 37,660
— Other secured borrowings —HhBEHEE - 750
35,562 38,410
Secured bank overdrafts BEMRITEL 7,263 14,602
42,825 53,012

Carrying amounts of interest-bearing borrowings that are BT BEEZREEMZE)

repayable (Note)

Within one year —ER 9,125 17,132
More than one year, but not exceed two years BiE—FEIARER 1,687 2,282
More than two years, but not exceed five years BAMFEIREFER 5,497 4,937
More than five years BBREF 26,516 28,661
42,825 53,012
Less: Amount shown under current liabilities B RBBEBETATERE (42,825) (53,012)

FRBABETHTREHE

Amount shown under non-current liabilities

Note: All interest-bearing borrowings contain a repayment on demand clause and are shown under current
liabilities. The amounts due are presented based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements.

The ranges of interest rates on the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings are as follows:
Secured bank loans of approximately HK$6,080,000 as at 30 April 2025 (2024: approximately
HK$7,152,000) is charged interest from 0.7% per annum over 1-month HIBOR* to 2.5% per

annum below prime rate for both years.

Secured bank loans of approximately HK$29,482,000 as at 30 April 2025 (2024: HK$30,508,000) is
charged interest 1.7% per annum over 1-month HIBOR* for both years.

As at 30 April 2024, other secured borrowings of approximately HK$750,000 is charged interest
3% per annum over Hong Kong dollar prime rate.

Secured bank overdraft of approximately HK$7,263,000 as at 30 April 2025 (2024: HK$14,602,000)
is charged interest overnight HIBOR* or 2% per annum below the Bank’s Hong Kong Dollar Best

Lending Rate, whichever is higher for both years.

* Hong Kong Interbank Offer Rate

Wit A EEEEEREREEERINABRER IR - ZEL
HeBREEIGRAREERERHZ -

AREBEEZMNEHENT

RZTE-RAFNA=+RHAZHBEMRITE 46,080,000 7T(=
T ZPF 497,152,000 70 R EFEIR —E A BBRITRE
Hr 25 000.7% % FR A8 BB 3R G F % 2.5%51 8. ©

RZZZRAFMA=+RH 2B EMEITE 429,482,000/ 7T
(ZZ P04 ¢ 4930,508,00078 70 ) 7 R A 6 € 12 — & A & RAT
[FIZEHRExIN1.7%5T 8.

RZTZNFNA=+AH EthFEREEL750,0008TRAE T
BEEFEMTFI%TE

RIZ-RFMA=+Hz2BEEMPIEITEZ47,263,0008T( =
T P04 ¢ £914,602,00078 7T ) R EF E LR R BB RITRIZER
BrRRITE T REEFEREFN R (UAREEBE)TE -

¥ BBIRITIAIEFE
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23.

24.

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (continued)

The other secured borrowings are borrowed from a financial institution, an independent third
party, and guaranteed by unconditional corporate guarantee provided by the Company and a
non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary.

The bank borrowings are drawn under banking facilities. The banking facilities are secured and
guaranteed by:

(i) Investment properties of the Group with an aggregate net carrying amount at the end of the
reporting period of approximately HK$167,900,000 (2024: approximately HK$181,000,000)
(Note 12);

(ii) Leasehold land and buildings of approximately HK$9,477,000 at the end of the reporting
period (2024: approximately HK$9,904,000) (Note 11); and

(i) An unlimited corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

All of the banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating to subsidiaries’
ratios based on their statements of financial position, as are commonly found in lending
arrangements with financial institutions. If the subsidiaries were to breach the covenants, the
drawn down facilities would become repayable on demand. In addition, the subsidiaries’ loan
agreements contain clauses which give the lender the right at its sole discretion to demand
immediate repayment at any time irrespective of whether the subsidiaries have complied with
the covenants and met the scheduled repayment obligations.

The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants and has made payments
according to the schedule of the loans and does not consider it probable that the banks will
exercise its discretion to demand repayment so long as the Group continues to meet these
requirements. Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in Note 32
to the consolidated financial statements. As at 30 April 2025 and 2024, none of the covenants
relating to drawn down facilities had been breached.

DEFERRED TAXATION

The following is the deferred tax liabilities recognised and movements thereon during the years
ended 30 April 2025 and 2024.

adjustments
arising from
acquisition of

23. FHEMEEE)

HiBRMERDER —HUBERE  —2BUE=7 YhA
RARHZ BRI LEERR BB QR Z FFERBRER

RITHE B RTTRE AL - SRITALE DA T 205 S4BT

iy RIMEPREFERFEL167,900,0008T(ZF-PIF : 4
181,000,000/ 7T ) KA SR B#% & ¥ 2 (M 5E12)

(i) AMERZEE T RIEF 49,477,000 (= F =Y
£+ 9,904,000 70 ) (Mi5E11): &

(i) ADARHEMRELDFER -

A RTREI AN R B T2 LR (EREHBRAK) B
BIERHERE - RS ER AR RSB L HRR
Pheb - MR A AR R 25 - AR RO BARAREREE -
Besh - B 23 A 2 BRI S U B T B AR 2RI AS
SRENRHE A 3 - TN A MR DT M TR RETH
BlE R -

REBTRELENER 25 EXBIEER
TER URARBAREEEETRZERT  RITH TR
TEERBEERER - AERERRP LR 2E — FFHIEH
FINGAPBRRMIER2 RZE-_AFR-T-MFNA=+
B R EC R E A AR -

24, EERIE

NTARBE-Z-_AF LT -_MFNAE=THILFECE
RZEEHBABREZS-

Fair value

Unrealised fair
value change
in investment

Capitalisation
of development

subsidiaries costs properties Total

W BB B B A REYEZ

BEZ BAEE AR A RERAFE
DNFEFE &N 14 b=l Fo
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FAT FAT
At 1 May 2023 R-ZTE-=FRA—H 4,631 - 541 5172
(Credit)/debit to profit or loss (Note 7) (Gt A0k G485 (f1at7) (1,013) 3,676 - 2,663

At 30 April 2024 and 1 May 2024 RIZZZWNFNA=+HRK

—E-mMFERA—H 3,618 3,676 541 7,835
Credit to profit or loss (Note 7) st AB=(Hat7) (1,013) (409) - (1,422)
At 30 April 2025 R-ZE-_HFMA=+AH 2,605 3,267 541 6,413

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had estimated unused tax losses of approximately
HK$43,780,000 (2024: approximately HK$57,031,000) available for offset against future profits,
no deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
The unused tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

RS IR - N & B (5T %A R B A B I8 E5 18 4943,780,00058 7T
(ZZ P4 ¢ 4957,031,0007 7T ) 7] A K 85 R SOE ) o R
AT AR AT - M EERELEHIBEE - ASAHEBIE
AR ER AL o
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SHARE CAPITAL 25, IR
2025 2024
—E-RHE —E-WmE
No. of share HK$’000 No. of share HK$'000
RHEHE FHET fi&17 & B FAET
Authorised: SEE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each BRMEE0.048 T2 LAk
At the beginning and the end RIRE BRI RER
of the reporting period 5,000,000,000 200,000 5,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRER :
At the beginning RERY) 270,827,299 10,833 247,574,833 9,903
Issue of shares in respect of LU B T BB A R 2 B BT AR 1D
acquisitions of shareholdings of (K1az)
subsidiaries (Note) - 23,252,466 930
At the end of the reporting period RIFEHIK 270,827,299 10,833 270,827,299 10,833

Note:

On 1 December 2023, the Company allotted and issued 23,252,466 consideration shares at an issue price of
HK$0.242 per share upon completion of the acquisition of to approximately 4.5% equity interest in Claman.
Details are set out in Note 27(g) to the consolidated financial statements.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme of the Company adopted on 30 September 2011 had been expired
on 29 September 2021. The Company has adopted a new share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
pursuant to a ordinary resolution passed on 31 October 2022. The purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. The Scheme unless otherwise cancelled or amended, remains in force for 10 years
from that effective date which was expired during the year ended 30 April 2033. Eligible
participants of the Scheme include the Company’s directors, including non-executive directors,
employees of the Group, any other groups or classes of suppliers, customers, subcontractors
or agents of the Group and the Company’s shareholders determined by the directors of the
Company as having contributed or who may contribute to the development and growth of the
Group.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted to be granted under the
Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible
participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject
to shareholder’s approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to any director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company,
or to any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-
executive directors of the Company. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an
aggregate value (based on the official closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of the
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the date of offer,
upon the payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. An option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during the period commencing
from the date on which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted and expiring on a date
to be notified by the directors to each grantee, which shall not be more than 10 years from the
date on which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted. There is no minimum holding
period before an option may be exercised.

26.

Mzt

RZBZ=F+=ZA— 8 ARAAETESR242E TR 8 R E1T
23,252,466 B R 17 + LAMLEE I 404 S%RR 4 o SFB MR & A SR & MY o
27(g)°

LBERAABRUDARER RS  WARRARRBRAS LREK
BE—F A TRARRARRRBEEZT ARSI -

BREstal

ARRR-_E——FNA=ZTERAZBREAEER=Z
Z—FAAZTNBER - ARARBER_Z__F+A=+—
BBz — AL @RBREM—EB R (a8 ).
WA AEEEBRNELERMZAER2EERTNER
BE - BOERBITHESERT BRI EIK B £ A W +F
A—BEEX BRBE—Z-_=FNA=TRILFEEN- 15
ZEERZEEQBRARRAZER(REFNTES) A£ERE
8 AKEEIECARIKER 2 SR BE 2 R RE
B ARARFEFRRBELTRSHARAXFERLER
BEBMZARRRR -

RIRET & RE AR W R TT R 2 AR R AT TS R
2By ERAER AR BEEARREE BTN Z210% ° £ Ef
ToERYRE FERAERDEEER BRI N 2 ATHTT
Bt EBR AR B (EAIRF B BT 2 1% - BESMR LB I
UEIR BE 2 R A B R R K& R AL

BETPEMES THERIARFEERER - RiKE 2 M
AL ZBERE VAREBEARARR ZBIIFNTESL A I
S WRER T ZEAARER T AR RRRKBIUIFNITE
FHREZEABEALZRBEEZ BEBBARFEEMR
BEETRG 201%RAERBEAR AR LBEREE AR
Wetn 2 B 75 W B 55 ) #8385,000,000/8 7T - ARAIERRAE
IERCRALE -

ARATERLBREZZHE B — T N\BAXNERER
BTz R2HRE BRARRE BERETRERARHRESR
REENH(AEFAEEREA) BRBERRIE EGERITE
HERARTEBRARREREAR L REWNE AL TF-
BRETTEA L RS EHR -
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the directors of the Company, but may
not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the
date of grant of the share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s
shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’
meetings. No share options under the Scheme were granted and outstanding during the years
ended 30 April 2025 and 2024.

The total number of share options available for grant under the Scheme was 22,707,483 as at
1 May 2024 and remained the same as at 30 April 2025. The total number of shares available
for issue under the Scheme as at 30 April 2025 was 22,707,483, representing 8.4% of the issued
shares of the Company.

27. RESERVES

(@) Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in
share premium account are distributable to shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

(b) Property revaluation reserve

Property revaluation reserve relates the property reclassified from owner-occupied to
investment properties. For such reclassifications, the accumulative increase in fair value
at the date of reclassification in excess of any previous impairment losses is included in
the property revaluation reserve and will be transferred to retained earnings upon the
retirement or disposal of the relevant property.

(c) Capital redemption reserve

The capital redemption reserve represents the amount by which the Company’s issued
share capital has been diminished on the cancellation of the shares purchased. Under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the capital redemption reserve may be applied
by the Company in paying up its unissued shares to be allocated to shareholders of the
Company as fully-paid bonus shares.

(d) Statutory surplus reserve

According to the articles of association of the subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC,
the PRC subsidiaries are required to transfer 10% of its net profit after tax, as determined
in accordance with the PRC accounting rules and regulations, to the statutory surplus
reserve. When the balance of the statutory surplus reserve reaches 50% of the subsidiaries’
registered capital, any further appropriation is optional. The transfer to this reserve must be
made before distribution of a dividend to the shareholders.

Statutory surplus reserve can be used to make up previous years' losses, if any, and may
be converted into capital in proportion to their existing shareholdings, provided that the
balance after such conversion is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

26. BBRER ()

BREZTEERHEEET ETEERTIRSE  ()EE
RS B AR R RE P2 B : () ARFMRAD N ERE
RHBREER B DER S BB FHRmE  Ri) A&
AR 2 HME

BREYERTREAZTERELNBRAS LREZHEF - R
HEZT-AFLKR-T-NFNA=THIEFE HEERED
IRIE AT B R AR AT o

RZZE-WMFRAA—RB BEZMEIRBZBRELHA

WAZ=+H - REZE B BT 2 B 48 80R22,707,4830% - 15
ARADETTH8.4% °

27. &

(a) MREEE

BEERZEBXHASHEARNEMAE REFSEHS
RAVE BIDVAERZESA DR TFARABRE  HEARARAE
EZEREERRERSREAADERNEEEREERD
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(b) MIEEMEE

MEEGHBLEAEAENIRERENEZNEER -5t
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EABEREREZ ZRADESERE  LHRAEY
EHER N ERBARB R
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27. RESERVES (continued)

(e)

(f)

Financial assets at FVOCI reserve

Financial assets at FVOCI reserve represents cumulative gains and losses on revaluation of
financial assets at FVOCI recognised in other comprehensive income less those cumulative
gains and losses recycled and transfers amounts from this reserve to accumulated losses
upon derecognition of financial assets of FVOCI.

Exchange translation reserve

The exchange translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of operations outside Hong Kong. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Other reserve

During the year ended 30 April 2024, the Company allotted and issued 23,252,466
consideration shares at an issue price of HK$0.242 per share to acquire approximately
4.5% additional equity interests in Claman. Upon completion of the acquisition on 1
December 2023, the Group holds 54.8% equity interests in Claman. The amount debited
to other reserve of HK$2,354,000 represents the excess of the total consideration paid of
HK$5,627,000 over the adjustment to the non-controlling interests of HK$3,273,000 as a
results of the acquisition.

28. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended 30 April 2025

During the year ended 30 April 2025, the Group disposed of its 100% equity interests in 1t
JIE3E through contractual arrangement and 100% equity interests in Best Profit Global Trading
Limited (“Best Profit”) to independent third parties, at a cash consideration of HK$4,565,000
and HK$4,300,000, respectively. Details of the assets and liabilities as of the respective days of

BAEEARAR FH2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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27. w®EE)

(e)

(f)

(g)

ERHMEHARARLIVPEIR SHMEERE

BREMEARARAFEIEZEREEREREERR
Hit 2 MWARR 2 EBEMEERARATEIIRS
BAEE 2t LR REERZ RetRERER -

ARBUERRABBEMEEARARATEINEZEBEE
B CEAZREERERNEBR

ERfERE

EXRERERRERBMINEB ZMBREMELEZME
SMNEZRE - ZRBRIBES M B RRM 2B 2 GFEUR
BRI o

HAitf# A

REBEE-ZT-_NFENA=1TALFE ARAKRETEESR
0.24278 TU B 3 [ 3£1723,252,466 B B AL D A WS 2 Z85M
45%RE - R_T=F+-A—AKKEE KNEEH
B2 54.8% MR o B E A B N 2 £ 582,354,000 THEE
AR (E5,627,000/% 7T 18 18 A W I8 M 4 eI iR i e VE
23,273,000/ T 2 £ FE

28. HEHBAR

BE-Z-AFNA=THLEFEHERBE AR

HE-Z-_AFNA=THLFE ASESBEOTHRE
S =5 E H L R IE 2 100%0% # K2 7 Best Profit Global
Trading Limited([Best Profit]) Z100%%# HIR &K EH B A
4,565,000/ 7T 124,300,000 L - HE S HEBHEERBEZF

disposals are set out as follows: EEHINT
b RIER Best Profit Total
Fob
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost: X EZEHEZEEREESN :
Forfeited collaterals held for sale FERRYER R 279 - 279
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables e - T RUE R E AR GRIR 53 - 53
Accounts receivable FEUS BR X - 31,316 31,316
Amount due from previously ultimate holding company JE UK R B 4R 2 B A B FUIB - 7,468 7,468
Bank balances and cash RITHBEIRS 5,796 - 5,796
Accruals, deposits received and other payables FEETFUE  BUUR e R EHA B FRIE (1,595) (34,780) (36,375)
Net assets disposed of BEHEEEFHR 4,533 4,004 8,537
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMB QT Z W :
Net cash consideration receivable YGRS REFEE 4,565 4,300 8,865
Less: Net assets disposed of B BHEEEFE (4,533) (4,004) (8,537)
Gain on disposal HE WS 32 296 328
Net cash outflows arising on disposal: HEEE 2RSSR HBE
Bank balances and cash disposed of EHERITEHBEES (5,796) - (5,796)
(5,796) - (5.796)
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28. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended 30 April 2024

During the year ended 30 April 2024, the Group disposed of its 51% equity interests in Four
Directions Ecommerce Limited (“4D E-Comm”) and 100% equity interests in Vongroup Financial
Holdings Corporation (“VFHC) to independent third parties, at a cash consideration of HK$1
and HK$4,000,000, respectively. Details of the assets and liabilities as of the respective days of
disposals are set out as follows:

28. HEWBAR(#)

BE-_Z-_NFENA=THLFEHERBE AR

REBEE-_Z-_NFNA=THILFE AEERBIFE=F1E
Four Directions Ecommerce Limited([4D E-Comm |) 2 51%M%# K
Vongroup Financial Holdings Corporation ([ VFHC]) 22 100%% & - 35
SRED B AT KX4,000,0005 T - HESHERHEERA
BEZFBEHINOT -

Total
4D E-Comm VFHC st
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost: %k EZFIECEERBES T
Property, plant and equipment M WE R 1 - 1
Inventories TE 233 - 233
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables && - FERARRIERE A KGRI 724 - 724
Accounts receivable FEUBR R 78 28,053 28,131
Bank balances and cash BITEHERS 33 - 33
Accruals, deposits received and other payables FERTFUE  BUUR e R EHAM R FRIE 271) (24,508) (24,779)
Interest-bearing borrowings FEEE (1,756) - (1,756)
Net (liabilities)/assets disposed of BERE(AR)BEFE (958) 3,545 2,587
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMBARZWE :
Net cash consideration receivable EUYGR & REFHE - 4,000 4,000
Non-controlling interests eI i (469) - (469)
Less: Net liabilities/(assets) disposed of R BHEAE(EE)FE 958 (3,545) (2,587)
Gain on disposal HE s 489 455 944
Net cash outflows arising on disposal: HEEE 2RSSR HBE
Bank balances and cash disposed of BHERITEBRERS (33) - (33)
(33) - 33)
29. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 29. FIERER

The following table shows the information relating to the non-wholly owned subsidiary, Greenie
EdTech Corporation (“Greenie”), Claman and TeamTech that has material non-controlling interests
(“NCI”) during the year ended 30 April 2025. The recognised financial information represents
amounts before inter-company eliminations.

As at 30 April 2025

TREREE - ZT-_AFNA-+BHLEERHEASEANIE
TRk ([ FEE R R |) 2 FE2 & [T B 2 BlGreenie EdTech
Corporation([ Greenie )+ Claman & TeamTechZ &£} - B R 15
BRI ARIMYHEAT 2 S5

R-ZB-REWMAE=+A

Greenie Group Claman Group TeamTech Group

GreeniefE @ Claman¥ @ TeamTech& @

Proportion of NCI's ownership interests eI i R P A R A L 1B 49% 45.2% 49%
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET FHET

Non-current assets IERBEE 34,222 7,627 7,069
Current assets MENEE 6,083 71,339 25,634
Current liabilities mEAalE (8,594) (18,689) (3,643)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE - (964) (1,641)
Net assets EEFE 31,711 59,313 27,419
Carrying amount of NCI FEIE I R < BREE 15,538 26,879 13,436




As at 30 April 2024

29. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

29. FIERAER (A7)

R-T-mEmA

Greenie Group

FAREARARF FiR2025
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FOR THE Year ended 30 April 2025
BE-CZ-AFNA=THLEFE

=tH

Claman Group

TeamTech Group

Greeniefs & Claman%s & TeamTech £ [&]

Proportion of NCI’s ownership interests FEIE AR ZS T B RERE RS EL I 49% 45.2% 49%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHET FHET

Non-current assets ERBEE 36,123 5,466 12,041
Current assets REEE 12 46,307 17,949
Current liabilities mBEE ) (3,934) (3,799)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE - (1,157) (2,461)
Net assets BEFHE 36,131 46,682 23,730
Carrying amount of NCI eI e 2 BRE (R 17,704 21,091 11,628

Greenie Group
Greenie5E[H

Claman Group
Claman£

TeamTech Group
TeamTech%E

For the year
ended 30 April

For the year
ended 30 April

For the year
ended 30 April

For the year
ended 30 April

For the year
ended 30 April

For the year
ended 30 April

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
—E-RE —EFE —E-RE —E-F —E-RE —ZENE
mMAE=+H MA=+H MA=+AH MA=+H MB=+A mA=+H
LR LFE EFE FE LFE ILFE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHT FTER FHT FTER FHT
Revenue Uz 4,690 - 33,040 18,964 11,098 8,564
Other income HAbg A - - 2,336 30 - 489
Expenses =2 (9,110) (1,901) (22,376) (22,543) (7,638) (12,190)
Income tax (expenses)/credit R (FX), KR - - (189) - 229 -
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive — E XTI, (E518) &
income/(loss) for the year 2EMNE(EE) B (4,420) (1,901) 12,811 (3,549) 3,689 (3,137)
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive  3E{RA%HERS FE(E E A
income/(loss) for the year EH, (B8 &
attributable to NCI 2EME(FHE)8E (2,166) (932) 5,788 (1,603) 1,808 (1,537)
Net cash flows from/(used in): B8/ (TR B REFH:
Operating activities P 4,691 - (2,903) 9,297 (2,026) (679)
Investing activities BREES - - - - - -
Financing activities BEES - - (1) - (817) (1,890)
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30. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

30. RERERBRZBHNESN

@ FEFREXZ

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, ,ﬁv?é.\ﬂﬁﬂiﬁiﬁﬁﬂ-‘ﬁ B BRI REBETHEE
the Group had the following major non-cash transactions: 3}53,%/\*
During the year ended 30 April 2024, the Group allotted and issued 23,252,466 REZZZ-_NFENA=TRHLEFE ALEEBREN

consideration shares of the Company as a part of the consideration to acquire
approximately 4.5% additional equity interests in Claman (Notes 25 and 27(g)).

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The movements of the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities are as follows:

BT AR F)23,252,4660 (LB B (ER B K E LU

Claman#94.5% %8 SN A (Pl 5525 5% 27(g) )

(b) BMEEHEEZRBEIHR

AEEREFHELZBEZEBHNT

Interest-bearing

borrowings

STEEE

HK$'000

T

At 1 May 2023 RZEZ=FAA—H 42,319

Finance costs BRSR AR 2,893

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 28) HEMEB AR (M aE28) (1,756)
Cash outflows in financing activities: AR 2B SR

Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings EiEFtEREE (2,153)

Interest paid EASFIE (2,893)

At 30 April 2024 and 1 May 2024 RE-B-NFNA=+HR=-Z-NEHEA—H 38,410

Finance costs BIIEAZR 2,968
Cash outflows in financing activities: MEFSHZHLSRL

Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings EEFEEE (2,848)

Interest paid EASFE (2,968)

At 30 April 2025 R-ZZB-HEFMA=+H 35,562

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those transactions information disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with related parties during the years ended —E-RENRZ

30 April 2025 and 2024:

(@) Remuneration for key management personnel (i.e. directors) of the Group

Further details of the directors’ emoluments are set out in Note 8 to the consolidated

financial statements.

(b) Related party transactions

31. BEALRS

UT%5 -

@) FEETEEBAS(NES)zHE

(b) BEEALRS

K? %?f:\Eﬁ%#ﬁ%ﬁi@ﬁﬁﬁﬂ&&%ﬂﬁx%ﬁﬂﬁl\ ' $‘§IEAESZI
“ENMA=TRIEFEREMEALE

BEME 2 — S FHBERIINGA M MK HTEES o

2025 2024

g R —ECEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHTT

Retainer fee to a related company (Note) WENRZERE(MF) 1,660 -

Note: The related company and the Company have a common director, that is Vong Tat leong David. st - AAREZHEBENR ARAEEAEES-



32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise of accounts receivable, loan receivables,
deposits and other receivables, bank balances and cash, financial assets at FVPL, accruals and
other payables, bank overdrafts and interest-bearing borrowings. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise and maintain finance for the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are market risk (including interest
rate risk, foreign currency risk and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below. The Group also monitors the market price risk arising from all financial instruments.

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:
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32. MIBABEEBEREER

AEEZTESRTAGFERERR BRER REREME
WHR RITESREAS BRRERATEIRIEREE
et ERREMENFIR RITEX R SER -ZE2MITA
ZIBMERR/IEERGLEERAREES -

AEESRTAMELNTEZRBR AT SRR (EEFREE -
SRR R AERRR) EERBREAPDECRR EFEE
MIYRSAMERE LS AERRZRE  WHRIT - REE IR
ERMASRTAEENTSERRR

ERTAZEFABRCANTIIRE

Financial Financial

assets at assets at
At 30 April 2025 amortised cost FVPL Total

R R A g icki=F

FTEZ RAVEIEZ
R-ZE-HFMA=1+H SREE SREE Fo
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET

Assets BE

Club membership at FVPL BBBRRATEYR G gE - 1,592 1,592
Accounts receivable FEURBR TR 145,357 - 145,357
Loan receivables FEYE TR 31,265 - 31,265
Deposits and other receivables Be REA UGS 82,471 - 82,471
Listed equity securities at FVPL FEimERR A TESR 2 ETMRAES - 5,360 5,360
Bank balances and cash SBITHEBNIRS 23,176 - 23,176
Total Ey 282,269 6,952 289,221

Financial Financial

liabilities at liabilities at
amortised costs FVPL Total

1R S AR A g okt

SRz BRATFEIEZ
cHas SRIBE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHET

Liabilities 8f&

Accruals, deposits received and other payables JEETFRIE - BWIR S R HABER FO8 5,859 - 5,859
Bank overdrafts RITEX 7,263 - 7,263
Interest-bearing borrowings EEE 35,562 - 35,562
Total st 48,684 - 48,684
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) 32. BIRAKMERBEEREKE)

Financial Financial
assets at assets at
At 30 April 2024 amortised cost FVPL Total
IREE PR AN FiRB
FEZ BRATFEYEREZ
RZZZNFMA=+H SREE SREE @st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHBT
Assets BE
Club membership at FVPL FiRBREATEIE 2 SMEE - 1,592 1,592
Accounts receivable TEUBE X 125,992 - 125,992
Loan receivables JEWE T 34,603 - 34,603
Deposits and other receivables 7&K H At fEUGIE 43,585 - 43,585
Listed equity securities at FVPL FRBRRATENER 2 ETRAES - 6,482 6,482
Bank balances and cash BITHEBRIRS 53,104 - 53,104
Total @t 257,284 8,074 265,358
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised costs FVPL Total
TR AR FEiREm
SR BAFENEZ
CRBE SRAE 45t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHAT FAT
Liabilities aff
Accruals, deposits received and other payables FEstaEE  c iR E R EMER RIE 6,735 - 6,735
Bank overdrafts RITEX 14,602 - 14,602
Interest-bearing borrowings AEEE 38,410 - 38,410
Total st 59,747 - 59,747
Interest rate risk T =R & px

Except for loan receivables and interest-bearing borrowings, the Group has no significant

interest-bearing assets and liabilities. The Group’s income and operating cash flows are

substantially independent of changes in market interest rates and interest-bearing borrowings
are carried at floating rates and certain other receivables and loan receivables are carried at fixed

rates.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to interest risks and

the Group’s interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR arising from the

Group’s interest-bearing borrowings.

The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings at

the end of the reporting period:

BEKERMAEREZIN AEBT SR REERAE

BEBARENBAREERERBERTE MG X

& BREEERTHMN
BESIREEARGE

5 )
EEH R TR AR R

AR SR E0 R RT ST AR R R LA S A R R - T AR 2 A
REBEBETRAREGSERAEEZEBRITRAERS

ZKE

TERHIAKEZF S EE

RIERZFRER -

2025 2024
—E-REF —ZUF
Effective Effective
interest interest
% HK$’000 % HK$'000
L SESA FHET BRI E% FAT
Variable rate borrowings BEFEEE
Bank overdrafts RITHEX 4.2 7,263 2.0 14,602
Interest-bearing borrowings EEE 3.3-5.6 35,562 2.3-8.0 38,410



32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

At 30 April 2025, it is estimated that an increase/decrease of 1% in interest rates would decrease/
increase the Group’s profit before tax by approximately HK$428,000 (2024: approximately
HK$530,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to the exposure to interest
rate risk for non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that date. The 1% increase or
decrease represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest rates
over the period until the end of the next annual reporting period. The analysis is performed on
the same basis for the year ended 30 April 2024.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s operations are mainly carried in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Operating
subsidiaries within the Group are exposed to foreign exchange risk from future commercial
transactions and monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in a currency that is not
the operating subsidiaries’” functional currency.

The Group currently does not have any related foreign exchange hedges, however the
management of the Group monitors its foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedges
should the need arise.

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the reporting period to foreign
currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the operating subsidiaries to which they relate. Such exposures arise
from the business operations in Hong Kong denominated in RMB and US$. As HK$ is pegged to
US$, the Group considers the risk of movements in exchange rates between HK$ and US$ to be
insignificant for transactions denominated in US$. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily
RMB. The Company is not exposed to material currency risk at the end of the reporting period.
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32. MBABEEEERBE @)

DES:NHE))

RZB-RFMA=+HE - (EatiasFEEm 60D

%R
N A2 B A 1) 49428,00078 7 (= = MU : 49530,0007
ok

FRBREES T TIBRAERRERR LR LB MET  WEA

R % B IR 2 3E0T A B S T A 2 B @B © 31%2 38 mskm 4
EERETHFERABAE T —EAFERSHREEA LR
ZE - BE_T_NENA=TRHIEFEZ DM IFAEREE
T

SERB

AEEZEBTBERERPEARE AEEBAT 2 EEMB R
BIFTER 2 IMERR - RE AL ENB R R 2 NG ETHE
CHERER G REKAERARE

7 52 B 3R A 0 £ () AR B MR S0 -
R - W E BT R S h o

WAREEZ EEEERAIN

TRADAEERBENRZAEBLERB RN EB AN
ERHEZCHRBEERRBEMELZINERR - ZERBES

ERBEBUARBRETHECEBEE AR BTEETE
0 AEERAYRURTHEZRSME  BLEEXTZHE

REHEBITEX -ELHEBROEEEIEZARE - AQF
RRERRTEMBERGERR -

2025 2024
—E-RE —T_F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Overall exposure arising from recognised assets and liabilities: 2 HEREE N BEMES 2 BiEE R
Bank balances and cash: RITHEHRRIES -
RMB ARE 21 22

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s profit before tax in response
to reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant
exposure at the end of the reporting period.

TRETHRBEPRAEEAFAZIERNAR 2 IEEX 2 AE
FEEE R M AEBBHANGEF R 2 MOEE)

2025 2024
—E-RHF —ToE

Increase Increase

(decrease) (decrease)

in foreign in foreign
exchange rate HK$’000 exchange rate HK$'000

INEEZE SN[
BORS) FAET LML) TR
RMB AR® 10% 2 10% 2
10% ) (10%) )

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to Group’s exposure to
currency risk for non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that date, and that all other
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The stated changes in foreign currency
represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates
over the period until the end of the next annual reporting period. The analysis is performed on
the same basis for the year ended 30 April 2024.

BB AT RIS E R R AR R TEAT - L
REARRRENSE2 AR U BT A2 R AR T
HEREF
EEERBRET WS R ARl RS 6
E-TCMEMASTALFEZ AN AERERET -
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32.

E-RFNAZTHLEFE
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) 32. MBRAKRERBERBERE)
Equity price risk RAEERRE
The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from equity investments of trading ZJX;‘EIE EoBEAFBEBHEATLEIE MR AELAZEE
securities classified as listed equity securities at FVPL. unﬁhéﬁﬁigi{ﬁ']ﬂﬁﬁﬁh FHEB o
The Group’s listed equity investments are listed on the Stock Exchange. Decisions to buy or sell AREFEY FHBARERBR LT - BERNHNEEEERE R
trading securities are based on daily monitoring of the performance of individual securities ENERTHERERZFFEERRENISEH L EMITESE
compared to that of the stock market index and other industry indicators, as well as the Group’s EBZREAURAEB RBESTEmMEL -
liquidity needs.
At 30 April 2025, it is estimated that a change of 30% (2024: 30%) in the relevant stock market RZZE-RAFMNA=+H" EH Eﬁ%%‘%ﬁ%ﬁ@(?ﬁiﬁﬁ;ﬁﬂﬁ
index (for listed investments), with all other variables held constant, would have changed the S )EBI0%( = ZUF : 30%) MFTA HE b BN EE - (A
Group’s profit before tax as follows: SEZBRBANGEMNES W T RAIRES -
2025 2024
—E-RHE —EE
Increase Increase
(Increase) (Decrease) Increase (Decrease)
Decrease in on profit (Decrease) in on profit
equity price before tax equity price before tax
IR BB AT R MR (B A% BR B A& A
OGRS EORA) EmCRL) IR L)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FHETT
Changes in the relevant equity HERERRESE 2
price risk variance:
Increase 1840 30% 1,608 30% 1,945
Decrease B (30%) (1,608) (30%) (1,945)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the reasonably possible changes in
the stock market index or other relevant risk variables had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to the exposure to equity price risk in existence at that date. It is
also assumed that the fair values of the Group’s investments would change in accordance with
the historical correlation with the relevant stock market index or the relevant stock market index
or the relevant risk variables, and that all other variables remain constant. The stated changes
represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in the relevant stock market
index or the relevant risk variables over the period until the end of the next annual reporting
period. The analysis is performed on the same basis for the year ended 30 April 2024.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
accounts receivable, loan receivables, deposits and other receivables, and bank balances and
cash. At 30 April 2025, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk, which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties arising from
the carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime ECL provision for all accounts receivable and applies simplified
approach to assess ECL on other financial assets at amortised cost including loan receivables and
deposits and other receivables. To measure the ECL, loan receivables have been grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics. The Group has performed historical analysis and identified
the key economic variables impacting credit risk and ECL. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer and therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arises when the Group
has significant exposure to individual customers.

FREITETR  BREETHSESRAMABEREENEE
AR EBHE N RERREAE  YEEARNZ R R FENRAE
RER - TMRRAERERE 2 AT EBRRABRETRSREEEK
FHRREECELBEEMED MAEEMEERGTE
IRz EBEERETGERERET SERIEHRAREERN
HAET —EFERENRAEHRZAEAREED -BHE-T
ZMEM A=+ B IEFEZ AN IRARRELEETT

°

FERE

F%Hﬁb*%ﬁiﬂéﬁhm? BEERAKESRYBER

- A& EERRTIZRE RN BRER &
&EI@%H&WLEM&%EH EHERe R-_ZE-_RAFEA=+
B AKBEELXZEFINERERRRER SR HBER
BERBTAEMEBUREEE LN BB RN ER T A R &
REERBAGEBBERRKRMAIIZEEENREE  AREL
EREEMERRREAERERNARERESREESHN
SERER -

AEEREF BB RELRIFRAR T RAA LI AHRIES
EEBERE AMAMARKERRAZBERCEBERR
e URABHCEATEREERAG B A EREE(RRE
M B FUA R 2 & B H A FOR) 2 REIE BB R - Rt 88
BEEBR BREREZARFERRSHS M REEEE
TEESH THEZEFERRRANEEBRNIRERE
ge EIE%‘J%T%E’JQ@EEZT%E’JH\ EALER

AEEARE ERARTETSERF ZERBEYE Al
WAEERAANESEATEARR AHRRESEET 2 EE
VS



32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of accounts receivable, and deposits and other receivables, the Group’s exposure to
credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each debtor. The default risk
of the industry and country in which debtors operate also has an influence on credit risk. At
the end of the reporting period, other than the accounts receivable gross carrying amount of
approximately HK$158,174,000 (2024: approximately HK$136,972,000) (Note 18) as discussed
below, the gross carrying amount of the refundable deposits of approximately HK$13,000,000
(2024: approximately HK$13,000,000) (Note 20), and the gross carrying amount of loan
receivables of approximately HK$35,126,000 (2024: approximately HK$35,457,000) (Note 19) as
discussed below, the Group has no other significant concentrations of credit risk which individual
balance at the end of the reporting period.

At 30 April 2025, the Group had a concentration of credit risk as approximately 6% (2024: 7%) of
the total accounts receivable was due from the Group’s largest customer and approximately 24%
(2024: 27%) of the total accounts receivable was due from the Group’s five largest customers.

At 30 April 2025, the Group had a concentration of credit risk as approximately 22% (2024: 22%)
of the total loan receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer and approximately 81%
(2024: 80%) of the total loan receivables was due from the Group’s five largest customers.

Accounts receivable and deposits and other receivables

Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit terms. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s past history of making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well as to the economic environment.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the management
of the Group reviews the recoverability of each trade debt at the end of each reporting period to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group applies
simplified approach on accounts receivable to provide for the ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9. The
Group measures loss allowance for accounts receivable at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, which
is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different customer
bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECL for
accounts receivable as at 30 April 2025 and 2024.

At 30 April 2025
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32. MBABEEEERBE @)

FERBE)

HREUEF AR REMEBRRENS  AEEEAZZEE
FREBIEEBAZ ARG TE - EEALEMETE
RARZEZNRBRTZEEERR RNRSHA BT ®
Z BB E A £158,174,000/8 7T 2 FEW R R( = U4 : 4
136,972,000/ 7T )( i 5£18) - 48 BR [ {8 £7 /313,000,000 7T 2 A iR
B e (2T 4 © 4913,000,00078 7T ) (M 5E20) R AAREEL
#535,126,00075 7T 2 R E (= Z Z U4 © #935,457,00075 7T )
(MEE19) 0N AEBRRE AT BER LB HWEXEER
BERIER -

RZZB-_AFNA=TH ALBEEEERRETER  H6%
(Z2Z@%F - 7%) YRR BB RRRARESRER 25K
AR #24%( —F P04 27%) B RE R R A R R AR 2
AREFPZHE.

REZZE-RFMA=1TH F&EEEEERBRETBER  £922%
(ZZZMF - 2% M EREFERRBEARERAES 2K
AR AIB1%( = Z T IUGE : 80%) K FEUE R AR B A A SR
AREPZHIE-

JEMIRA A R ¥ R B JEW AR

EEHETLHEMAZRIMGEERZEP L - BRIFRET
REFBEXNI TR B8 AR B AN 280 Wat Rk
EPRAZRPENREERE -

REEERBRERK FEEEEEERR—XBAKEEET
EREE FREERATEMERREFURRM KB ES
ERERRAETE - I ARBEEEN S REPRENZRE
RMETRS 2 AU £ 5E - ARETE S AT R B R (R R 40 2 R E &S
B AEEHB B RRRBECTE AR E B RS
FIRMREMRBREEERAERE - ARERESNENE
HEEEE SFEERIRNBREE FRSEHERR
HEEE BN RARE ELEEBRERMER  TRAE
Fo@zBREAYBRETR  AERBETARREFELZE
BRETEE - SRASATRAEFEREES -

TREHEBEASER S -_RFR-_T-_MFNA=1+B#
RURRAER 2 EERR R ARREEBIRZEH |

R-ZB-AFNA=1+H

Gross carrying Loss Credit-
Past due ECL rate Amount allowance impaired
bt BHEEEEER BREAE BERE FEERE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FET
Not past due Rl 1.3% 39,851 (516) No
Less than 90 days past due wHI 90 2.7% 34,153 (915) No
91 to 180 days past due #HA91E180H 5.5% 40,720 (2,234) No
Over 180 days past due w1 HAER 180 B 21.1% 43,450 (9,152) Yes
158,174 (12,817)
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Accounts receivable and deposits and other receivables (Continued)

At 30 April 2024

32. MBABEEEERBE @)

EEmEE(E)
JEWIRN A R 172 KA M EN TR ()

RZZT_MNEFMNA=+H

Gross carrying Loss Credit-
Past due ECL rate Amount allowance impaired
B TEEEEBEX BREAEE B FEERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Not past due R ER - 35,050 - No &
Less than 90 days past due AEA D90 H 1.6 44,623 (697) No &
91 to 180 days past due #HI91Z=180H 11.7 42,459 (4,978) No &
Over 180 days past due R B 180 35.8 14,840 (5,305) Yes 5=
136,972 (10,980)

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, accounts receivable amounting to approximately
HK$52,859,000 have been repaid.

At 30 April 2025, the Group recognised net loss allowance of approximately HK$15,541,000 (2024:
approximately HK$16,619,000) for accounts receivable and deposits and other receivables. The
movement in the loss allowance is summarised below.

RREEIRTE - 452,859,000/ 7T 2 JE W BR TR S (B2 ©

RZZ_RAFMA=1TH FEEHREEFIELN5541,0008
TL(ZZZPUEE : 4916,619,0004 7T ) - B iR 2 @ HBLMMT -

Accounts Deposits and
receivable other receivables Total

RER
FEUWERRR Hip A st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 May 2023 R-ZTE-_=FHA—H 9,229 6,143 15,372
Increase in allowance BN 1,751 758 2,509
Amounts recovered BE &5 - (1,262) (1,262)

At 30 April 2024 and 1 May 2024 REZZEZPEFMA=+AK

—E-NFRA—H 10,980 5,639 16,619
Increase in allowance BEE M 5,821 2,557 8,378
Amounts recovered [=RlE (3,984) (2,318) (6,302)
Amounts written-off MiHS 8 - (3,154) (3,154)
At 30 April 2025 RZZEZRFMA=+H 12,817 2,724 15,541

For deposits and other receivables, the management of the Group makes periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of deposits and other receivables based on historical settlement
records, past experiences, and also quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportive forward-looking information. As at 30 April 2025 and 2024, except for carrying
gross amounts of approximately HK$7,762,000 (2024: approximately HK$4,247,000), with
corresponding loss allowance for ECL of approximately HK$1,319,000 (2024: approximately
HK$4,247,000) included in deposits and other receivables are based on lifetime ECL assessment
and categorised as underperforming, all the remaining balance are based on 12-month ECL
assessment.

Accounts receivable are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the
failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make
contractual payments for a period greater than agreed contract terms.

R REMERZENS  A5EEEBREBTLHELHR-
BAECBRURGERIEHAMMEEERZ CEREHER &
HFERe REBERRBEZ KB - R_E_AFR=F
ZIFEMAB =+ A BREEE2E47,762,0008 L ( Z T ZUF ¢
#94,247,0007% 7T ) - AHFETE EAE B B 1B B B #491,319,000/8 7T
(ZZT /U4 - 494,247,000 7T) 2 12 & K E A FEUCGRIB THAR IR 42
EEHEEBETE WA BEARBRE AR TESKIIRE
T A ABHEE BTG -

FEUS IR R & TR B B R R I SURBSSE - R B A IR 2 AT
FEZ PR (B BE) BB AREERKBAR G EERE
AR BRI E A S HIR 2 IR AREEER A O -



32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Accounts receivable and deposits and other receivables (Continued)

Impairment losses on accounts receivable are presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against
the same line item.

ECL rates are based on actual loss experience over the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to
reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historic data
has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
accounts receivable and deposits and other receivables are set out in Notes 18 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The management monitored the financial background and creditability of those debtors on an
ongoing basis. The Group seeks to minimise its risk by dealing with counterparties which have
good credit history. In this regard, the management considers that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

Loan receivables

The Group estimates the ECL under HKFRS 9 ECL models. The Group assesses whether the credit
risk of loan receivables have increased significantly since their initial recognition, and apply
a simplified approach model to calculate their ECL, the management assesses impairment
loss using the risk parameter modelling approach that incorporates key measurement
parameters, including probability of default, loss given default and exposure at default, with the
consideration of forward-looking information.

At 30 April 2025, the management assessed credit quality of individual money lending customers
with reference to historical payment information. Based on the assessment, no loan receivables
was credit impaired.

The analysis of changes in the gross amount and the corresponding provision for impairment of
loan receivables in relation to loan receivables are as follow:
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32. MBABEEEERBE @)

EEmEE(E)
JEWIRN A R 172 KA M EN TR ()

U IR R 2R BRI E S MR 25 BB ERRFE - A&
Rl R E M sz &8 KR E—BITRE AEE -

FREEBERENENBE=F L ERBRERET - ZE5EBE
R BRI MR 2 2R B 2 B ~ BRI
AEBEHRBEFRRFFHRZLBERR AR MHER -

FRAEEREBRERRZE AR EMMEKRRIBRARZEE
Bl 2 E— S EERE A BIRMNGA B RKRMEE18520

EEEREEEZSEBACUBEESRERE AREE BN
BERFEREELZZXGHTFETRS URBEEERR 3
Bms EEERAAKEZEERBREABIE-

JEWREF

AEERBEEVHRE LSRR EEBRELFEED
FEEER AEEFERKER 2 EERRE NS BBRLEE KR
i WRMEOEELA FARMEEER ERERAE
SRR E2H(BRENIRE BNRRXRENRR) R
BRABIREDEAY E BRI IR SR ERRE -

RIZ-RAFNA=+TH EREL2ZBENRERTEHER
HEEP 2 EEER -BENE MEEKEREHRERRE

BRI B 4 8 A R M R AR SR 2 B BT
W -

Lifetime ECL

12-month ECL (Underperforming) Total
2 HTEH
12 A FEH EEFE
FEEBR (REXE) et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FATT FAT
At 30 April 2025 R-ZBE-HAFMA=+H
Gross carrying amount BREAA(E 32,145 2,981 35,126
Less: Loss allowance B EEEE (880) (2,981) (3,861)
31,265 - 31,265
At 30 April 2024 R-ZE-WFEMA=+H
Gross carrying amount BREEE 35,428 29 35,457
Less: Loss allowance W R (825) (29) (854)
34,603 - 34,603

Subsequent to the end of reporting period, loan receivables amounting to approximately
HK$13,515,000 have been repaid.

RIREEIRE » 913,515,000 T 2 ENERE KEE -
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32.

g
THE Year ended 30 April 2025
E-RFNAZTHLEFE
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Loan receivables (Continued)

As at 30 April 2025, the Group recognised loss allowance of HK$3,861,000 (2024: HK$854,000) on
its loan receivables. The movement in the loss allowance for loan receivables during the year is
summarised below.

32. MBABEEEERBE @)

FERBE)
JEWE (&)

RZZ_AFNA=1A FEERERKERERBEBEE
3,861,000/ 7L ( = =P 4F : 854,000/ ) FAERE T2 BB
BEEEBMNT -

2025 2024

—E-RE —ZToE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHETT

At the beginning of the reporting period RS EY) 854 2,071
Increase in allowance BB 3,440 478
Amounts recovered BlE & (433) (1,695)
At the end of the reporting period RIREBHR 3,861 854

Bank balances

In respect to the Group’s deposit with banks, the Group limits its exposure to credit risk by
placing deposits with financial institution with high credit rating and no recent history of default.
Given the high credit ratings of the banks, management does not expect any counterparty
to fail to meet its obligations. Management will continue to monitor the position and will
take appropriate action if there are changed. As at 30 April 2025 and 2024, the Group has no
significant concentration of credit risk in relation to deposit with banks.

In these regards, other than the credit risks mentioned above, the management considers the
Group does not have any other significant credit risk and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

All of the Group’s other financial assets at amortised cost are considered to have low credit risk,
and loss allowance recognised during the year was therefore limited to 12-month expected
losses. The other financial assets are considered to be low credit risk when they have a low
probability of default and the issuer has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for its own cash management,
including the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected
cash demand, subject to board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with loan covenants to ensure that
it maintains sufficient amount of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. The Group
relies on interest-bearing borrowings as a significant source of liquidity.

RITHER
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AEEVERRITEFREZSEETZEERAR -

UM E B DdEERRN EREERASEETEEF M
EREERE MR 2 ZEEERRD TAFEESR -

BRI EZ B HEE

AEBZEENAFTEZAEREMEREENRRABEAEE
R EIK - FE AR ZBRBGERM2EATRSRER - KA
MERMEEZENEREERTAREHRNEBERRETELN
RERBEBNENR KRR AFERBRRIE -

RBEEER
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following liquidity risk tables set out the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the
reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on current
rates at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

BAEEARAR FH2025
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32. MBABEEEERBE @)

RBESEBRE)

T ZRBALERERANS ORMRZ RS REREEY
AKESREENRE A ZBTAOMR(DERS ORI
(WATBFE) KBS R 2 REFIREZRBNT) AR
AEBAHRERARZBREE
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Total On
Total contractual demand or
carrying undiscounted less than 1to2
amount cash flow 1 year years
ABRRUEER RERR
HMEREE RERBE DPRA—F 1226
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT FHET
At 30 April 2025 R-ZB-_HFWNA=+H
Accruals, deposits received and other payables FEETRUE B YIRS R E M E A 5,859 5,859 5,859 -
Interest-bearing borrowings (Note) TEEE M) 35,562 35,562 35,562 -
Bank overdrafts RITHEX 7,263 7,263 7,263 -
48,684 48,684 48,684 -
At 30 April 2024 RZZ-_WFMA=+H
Accruals, deposits received and other payables JERTFE  BUUR e R EAMEN OB 6,735 6,735 6,735 -
Interest-hearing borrowings (Note) FTREE M) 38,410 38,410 38,410 -
Bank overdrafts RITHEX 14,602 14,602 14,602 -
59,747 59,747 59,747 -
Note: wiz -

Interest-bearing borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on demand or less than
1 year” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 30 April 2025, the aggregate carrying amounts of these
interest-bearing borrowings amounted to approximately HK$35,562,000 (2024: approximately HK$38,410,000).
Taking into account of the Group’s financial position, the directors of the Company do not believe that it is
probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors
of the Company believe that such interest-bearing borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled

M AREKBRIER 2 BEEE LB B A S TP ATRERSD
R—E | 2ERBRN -R-Z-_AFMA=1+A ZSHEEEZBEEE
#7335,562,00078 7T ( = Z Z VU4 © 4938,410,0007 7T ) 45T R A K E 2 B 15
MR ARAEFRBBRITTAIREITERBEE KA ER - ARAEFR
B S BEEBREERIBEMEUTIETER B EEER-

repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, as follows.

Set forth below is the maturity analysis on the term loans subject to a repayment on demand clause based on
scheduled repayments.

AT #HIIBZRERGFREREERRERZERRRZ BB

Total On
Total contractual demand or
carrying undiscounted less than 1to2 2t05 Over 5
amount cash flow 1 year years years years
BHREER RERS
HMREE RERER DPR—F 1226 2E55F 5EHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T TET TET
At 30 April 2025 R-ZE-_HFWA=+H
Interest-bearing borrowings TEEE 35,562 45,074 3,639 3,389 10,104 27,942
At 30 April 2024 RZZEZPFMA=+H
Interest-bearing borrowings tefEE 38,410 48,755 4,480 4179 9,929 30,167
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33. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 33. AREFE
The following presents the assets and liabilities measured at fair value or required to disclose NTAZIRBEEENBRELNSERFEATETETEY
their fair value in these financial statements on a recurring basis across the three levels of AFEER=FARFIA R AFEFEHARZERHRENIZ
the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, with the fair value KEMAERBRHENTEZEENEE EEQATET2REY
measurement categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level input that is significant to the BETEMNEBEAZEREGABKRETOE BARKEZR
entire measurement. The levels of inputs are defined as follows: BIEFELT ¢
«  Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or o F—M(HEEEN) REERFEAHTURSHAREENRA
liabilities that the Group can access at the measurement date. ERERTIS EZFTHREBEAB(REFHEK);
+  Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the o EH:E-LAMBERENIN REESBETEENME
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. BREBRMEBZHARE &
+  Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. o B=H(HKEHKF): BEXBE 2 TITEBREH AR -
The Group’s financial controller is responsible for the fair value measurements of assets and AEENUKBEAEYBERMAERENEERBERATE
liabilities required for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements. AEBEECSATEMNE -VKEEERENESE2HRZS
The financial controller reports directly to the Board of Directors for these fair value NEEFE - RENRSEegFERE DETMNAERIEEBE
measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between the financial KRBT o
controller and the Board of Directors at least twice a year.
For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally engage external valuation experts ME=ZPATFEFNE AEEBTELEAEREEER A
with the recognised professional qualifications and recent experience to perform the valuations. BB EERERBEITEE-
(a) Fair value of the Group’s investment properties that are measured at fair value (a) AEERAFEFEZREVEZLATLE
Fair value
measurements
categorised into
Level 3
PEEE=HKHN
AFEFE
HK$'000
AT
At 30 April 2025 R-ZE-HEFMA=+AH
Commercial properties mEME
— Hong Kong —&E 102,920
— Mainland China — i A P 5,960
Residential properties FEME
— Hong Kong —B% 89,540
— Macau —RF 12,200
210,620
At 30 April 2024 RZZEZmFMA=+H
Commercial properties EME
— Hong Kong — BB 114,600
— Mainland China — i B A B 6,390
Residential properties FEME
— Hong Kong —& 94,340
- Macau — BP9 13,000

228,330



33. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

()

(b)

Fair value of the Group’s investment properties that are measured at fair (a)

value (Continued)

During the years ended 30 April 2025 and 2024, there were no transfers between Level 1
and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which they

33. AFEFE#E)

REE=

EARKARAT #2025
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEmERMEE

FOR THE Year ended 30 April 2025

BE-ZE-HAFEMA=

FEERAVEMABZRENEZAFEE)

THIEFE

EoRFR-FONFNA=ZTHIEFE -
HE QMW EEE TESARENE
BEANRELEE R REHHRER

=ReoAEREZ
BEEGRN 2 BRZA

occur. The details of the movements of the fair value measurement categorised as Level 3 of FE - DEARNTFESRE=F2A :Hﬁujrizméﬁﬁlﬁ
the fair value hierarchy are as follows: T
Commercial
Commercial property in Residential Residential
properties in Mainland properties in property in
Hong Kong China Hong Kong Macau Total
REBZ RPEKREZ REBZ IR Z
[GE3/ES [GEX/ES FEYHE FEWE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FET FHET
At 1 May 2023 R-E-_=FRH—H 115,350 7,800 96,400 14,500 234,050
Fair value change® N EEBH (750) (1,410) (2,060) (1,500) (5,720)
At 30 April 2024 and 1 May 2024 R-IZE-_MFEFNA=+HR
—E-NFHRA—H 114,600 6,390 94,340 13,000 228,330
Fair value change® NTEEZEW (11,680) (430) (4,800 (800) (17,710)
At 30 April 2025 R-B-AFEWA=+H 102,920 5,960 89,540 12,200 210,620
2025 2024
ZE-RF —T-mEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
# Include gains or losses for assets held at end of reporting period # EIER WS HIRIFH L E 2 Wi EE 17,710 5,720

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss including those for assets held at end

of reporting period are presented in change in fair value of investment properties in the

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Fair value of the Group’s other financial assets and financial liabilities that are (b)

measured at fair value

GHERZBAXEREF(RENRENRFEZE

F)Em?ﬁm&%ﬁiﬁqﬁzéiiﬂﬁ?ﬁﬁ%%’&

Relationship of

TEg

FEERAVEFECHUESREERSHEFAZLTVE

Financial assets/financial Fair value  Valuation techniques unobservable inputs Sensitivity of
liabilities Fair value as at 30 April hierarchy  and key inputs to fair value unobservable inputs
FABEBAER FABRBAER
SREE SBAE RUAZ+RAZATE LAFESER GERWREZZEGAZE HAFEZBRE ZHRE
2025 2024
ZEZRF —ZE-MF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHAT
Financial assets at FVPL
EBERBRATFEIRZ
SREE
Equity securities
AR A
— listed in Hong Kong 5,360 6,482 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an N/A N/A
active market
—&BALT B BTS2 WE NiEA NiE A
Club memberships 1,592 1,592 Level 3 Market comparable range Assuming other factors N/A
from HK$192,000 to remain unchanged,
HK$1,400,000 as at the higher the adjusted
30 April 2025 market price, the higher
(2024: HK$192,000 to the fair value
HK$1,467,000) and
individual second
quotation prices of
club memberships
i E=M RZZ-RFMA=+H BREGERRSEIZ. TEH

T35 A & ELET 192,000
75 7T21,400,00078 7T
(ZZ=EF -
21467,000/870) LAKE
FrefE s (ERIE —WmE

192,000/87C

BAE TR
ATELE

8l
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33. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Fair value of the Group’s other financial assets and financial liabilities that are
measured at fair value (Continued)

During the years ended 30 April 2025 and 2024, there were no transfers between Level 1
and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value
measurements in both years except for the derecognition of unlisted equity investments.
The details of the movements of the recurring fair value measurements categorised as Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

33.

DR EFEE)

(b) AEEZEAFPEFABZAMEHEEREHMAEFEAZLVE
(&)

HE-Z-AFEK-T-NFOA=THIEFE BRELHE
RIELTRAREIN RREFERNE—RESE RO FE
AEZETEER NESARBEE=ZRKATENE-H
BAATESRE=FEBELNTEFEZZBHFFN
T

Financial
Financial assets at FVOCI
assets at FVPL Unlisted equity
Club memberships investments Total
EBBERRALATE BBREMXZEAKRRR
IRz eMEE AFEFIRZ SR/
BgE XEFLTRARE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Year ended 30 April 2025 HE_Z_IFMA=TALEE
At the beginning and end of the reporting period — FA¥RE Ef#) M Bi R 1,592 - 1,592
Year ended 30 April 2024 HE-_Z-_MFUA=+HIEFE
At the beginning and end of the reporting period AR B9 & Bk 1,592 - 1,592

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of Level 3 as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities carried at other
than fair value

The management of the Group estimates the fair value of its financial assets and financial
liabilities measured at amortised cost using the discounted cash flows analysis. The
management of the Group considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their fair values.

34. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objective when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio, which is calculated as total
borrowings divided by total equity as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The gearing ratios as at 30 April 2025 and 2024 were as follows:

34.

AEENBR AR ERHEROEFRBEREDHE A HERE
ARBHE=/ -

(0 ZEERQAFEUNIRZEREERSRABZATE

AEEEREEBERRDMAMN - et KR HKR AR
ZEMBERERABIATE AREERERS 4R
BUBRARNZEERATEZSREERERABZ
FREEEE N TERE -

BERER
AREERBEAZ BMNARERAEBRIFELE 2N UAKRRE

REEBEAEMERFTA ARG WS REEAREIN
BAREARRA -

AEERABBABRXNTERRZEESH BEEATRRL
BITHBOR Tk AR A A -

AEERBEABLRERER  BELRDIRGEFBRARM
REERERN AR E R T AF R T -MFMA
ZTRZEELENT

2025 2024
—E-RHF —T-mEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHAETT

Total borrowings [ER-Eat:]
— interest-bearing borrowings —FTBEE 35,562 38,410
— Bank overdrafts —RITEX 7,263 14,602
42,825 53,012
Total equity AR 562,100 546,512
Gearing ratio BELE 0.08 0.10




35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries which affected the results, assets and liabilities as
at 30 April 2025 and 2024 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and

Issued and fully paid share

BABEAMAR  FH2025 111
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35. TEMBATZHE

RIZB-RAFR T -_MEMA=+H HEARRZER BE
REEAVEZIRMBARZFHBRINMT

Percentage of equity interest

Name of subsidiary operation capital/registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
ML,
MEAR AR RIREE®R BRTRBERE FMER ARREERERDL FTEEK
2025 2024
—E-RE —EF
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
HiE B B 23
Allex Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property business
Allex Limited & 187 MEE
BlackPod Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100  Technology and related
activities
BlackPod Group Limited B 17T R RABREE
Centrix Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100  Property business
REBXARAA B 18T MEER
Champmark Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100  Property business
RBRRAF (S 18T MEER
Claman British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 54.8 - 54.8 Investment holding
Claman RERZES —REEIETEBR REER
Dynasty Kingdom Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100  Property business
Dynasty Kingdom Limited B 18T MEEL
Easy Credit Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 100 - 100 —  Financial services businesses
Easy Credit Limited & 100,000 7T SRR ER
FringeBacker Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 54.8 - 54.8  Technology and related
activities
FringeBacker Limited B8 28T R RABEEE
Golden Throne Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100 - 100  Investment holding
Golden Throne Holdings Limited EBRELESE — IR EE1FE T LA AR
Greenie British Virgin Islands ~ HK$7,780 - 51 - 51 Investment holding
Greenie B apeed 7,7807%8 7T REZER
Greenie EdTech Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 51 - 51  Technology and related
activities
Greenie EdTech Limited B 147t B R AERES)
House2buy Properties Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100 - 100  Property business
BXOMEBRAA RBERES —REEIETEBR ES 3
Honning Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100  Technology and related
activities
FRABRANE 5 18T R AR
Jet Victory Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100  Property business
BBERATE B 18T WEER
New Image Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100  Property business
RElEEARAA Bk 1870 MEER
Max Wide Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 - 100 —  Trading of securities,
technology and related
activities
R BAERRR B 18T FHEE BERERIE@ED
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35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries which affected the results, assets and liabilities as

35. TEMBARZHEEE)

RIZB-RAFR T -_MEMA=+H HEARRZER BE

at 30 April 2025 and 2024 are as follows: (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and

Issued and fully paid share

LBBEAVEZIRMBARZFAEBRINNT (&)

Percentage of equity interest

Name of subsidiary operation capital/registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
ML,
MEAR AR RIREER BRTRBERE FMER ARREERERDL FTEEK
2025 2024
—E-RE —EE
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
HiE G BE e
TeamSoft Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 51 - 51 Technology and related
activities
TeamSoft S 1,000/ 7T R RAEEEE
TeamTech British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100 - 100  Investment holding
TeamTech REEAHS —REEIETEBER REER
Unitech Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100  Property business
BEEXBRANF EE 17T VIES S
United Luck Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100  Property business
B8 BRAR EE 1B MEER
Vongroup Consumer Finance British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100 - 100 —  Investment holding
Corporation
Vongroup Consumer Finance HBERZES —REEIETEBER HEER
Corporation
VG Investment Assets Holdings Inc British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100 - 100 —  Investment holding,
technology and related
activities
VG Investment Assets Holdings Inc ~ EEEZEHS —REEIETLBR REER MR LERED
Win Harbour Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 — 100 Property business
FhERBRAT EE 1B MEER
Xios Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100  Technology and related
activities
Xios Limited B 17T B R AERES)
It RIER PRC Registered/paid-up capital of - - - 100  Financial services businesses
RMB10,000,000 (Notes (i) and (iii))
ERIER + AMERBHREARE SRRBED
10,000,0007% ( Af22(i) & (iii))
BERREEHACHNER AT PRC Registered/paid-up capital of - 100 - 100  Financial services businesses
([EmRE]) HK$23,000,000 (Notes (i) and (ii))
FERREEACRINERAT i AMER/ BHBRAE SRRB X

(TRBIREAD

23,000,00078 7T (A1) % (ii))

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in opinion of the directors of the
Company, principally affected the results or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiary would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
result in particulars of excessive length.

Notes: i)

1t B3R and BEEILE are limited liability companies established in the PRC.

i) Registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC Law.

i) 4t R JIE 3 is indirectly held by the Company through contractual arrangements by the
registered owners of the subsidiary, and was disposed during the year ended 30 April 2025.

ARBEERALRAMINARTMBARNEAEEEBEER
FEYIEAEEBEEFEERD - ARTEZRAMILEL

MBLRZFE  BEREENIUE -

Hist: )

iii)

IERIEE R AR E RRPBEKIZ BRAERF -

REFEEZEMRIIEBERE -

IERIEBIIRMAAFEBHBARZEMEE ARTLZ
BRZHEERE URBE-T-RFNA=THILF

EHE-



36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Pursuant to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, the statement of financial position of the
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36. AAFHHMRAE

BREEBRRED  ARTZHBEHRER R EREEHZLBHTI 0

Company and the movements in its reserves is set out below: T
2025 2024
—EB-RHF —EF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt FET FAT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBRRZIRE —* =
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments and other receivables TE T BRFR S H At FE Y5k IA 6,007 6,007
Accounts receivable FEN R R 2,240 4,300
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU T B A B 5RIE 36(a) 360,371 286,914
Bank balances and cash RITHEMRNIES 69 1,876
368,687 299,097
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEFH BT B A &I 5RIE 36(a) 77,972 11,279
Accruals and deposits received EsrZmEREKIES 1,108 2,008
79,080 13,287
Net current assets REBEEFE 289,607 285,810
NET ASSETS EEFE 289,607 285,810
Capital and reserves BAREE
Share capital ke 25 10,833 10,833
Reserves i 36(b) 278,774 274,977
TOTAL EQUITY BRER 289,607 285,810

* Represent amounts less than HK$1,000.

The statement of financial position was approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 31 July 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

Vong Tat leong David

HESL
Director

EF

¥ EEE/\M,00078 T ©

BHRARHEFERN ST -_AF A=+ —BHERKER

AR EFRERES -

Xu Siping
Director

EF
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
(@) Amounts due from/to subsidiaries

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

36. RAFBMBMRRETE)
(a) FEW PENHBRTRE

FEMIR R BRI - 2B RARBREE -

(b) Movement of reserves (b) fEEEE
Capital
Share redemption Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
B EE EREE S RitEE st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FAET FAT FAET
At 1 May 2023 R-E-_=FRH—H 634,804 262 (369,480) 265,586
Profit and total comprehensive income 74 &% Fl| K 2 g A 4858
for the year - - 4,694 4,694
Shares issued for acquisition of UL E — R B A R IR
non-controlling interests of a EmEBITZRG
subsidiary 4,697 - - 4,697
At 30 April 2024 and 1 May 2024 RZZEZEFMA=+AK
ZECMERA—H 639,501 262 (364,786) 274,977
Profit and total comprehensive income 784 2% FI| & 2 [ U A 4858
for the year - - 3,797 3,797
At 30 April 2025 R-Z-_HAFWA=+H 639,501 262 (360,989) 278,774

37. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, since 30 April 2025 up to

the date of this report, no significant events affecting the Group have taken place.

37. BREMRSBR

B FBHRRAMSOMBEEN T AFNA=1H

EEARSHN YEZBEFEAEENENER -



CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

A summary of the published consolidated results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last

five financial years prepared on the basis as hereunder stated is set out below:

EAKEERAT FH225
FIVE YEAR SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
LFEMBEENHE

ATOEERR 2 ASEBER AN RFE 2B TIBEAEEAR
AERBEZHERIINOT

Year ended 30 April
BZMA=+ALEE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—EBE-RHE —E-ME —EC=F —E-= T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHT FHT
Revenue s 213,116 204,545 201,608 193,230 110,689
Profit before taxation BREL AR A 15,506 21,126 22,768 25,741 21,839
Income tax credit/(expense) FiERile, (FX) 448 (4,075) (2,190) (1,632) (1,601)
Profit for the year REEHF 15,954 17,051 20,578 24,109 20,238
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES REEERERE
As at 30 April
REUA=+H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E_RFE —TpE —E=%F —ET-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHET FHET
TOTAL ASSETS WAE 624,905 620,828 609,358 591,602 451,060
TOTAL LIABILITIES warE (62,805) (74,316) (80,654) (108,190) (37,139)
562,100 546,512 528,704 483,412 413,921
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L/ EZTES

Locations

Ho

Investment properties

BREME

10.

11

12.

13.

Flat E, 9/F., Tower 1, StarCrest, 9 Star Street, Wanchai, Hong Kong
BAETEHIRE S EIREEE

Flat H, 6/F., Tower 5, Harbour Place, 8 Oi King Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BRNEARE SHTE B FSEEHE

Flat B, 10/F., Tower 7, Harbour Place, 8 Oi King Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BANBAWE SHREEMF7E10EBE

Flat D, 43/F., Tower | and Car Parking Space No. 2-083, 2/F., The Harbourside, No. 1 Austin Road West, Kowloon,
Hong Kong
BRNEMNTHEREIREBRAR T 1438 E R F2-0835F E L

Unit A, 25/F., Le Royal Arc, Avenida Sir Anders Ljungstedt, Macau
SRR ETRIF RS I S BEFI25ME AR

Flat A&B, 2/F., Queen’s Centre, 58-64 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
BT ERAERS-645E T AR EP L2EARBE

Residential car parking space 602 on 6th Floor of Harbour Place, 8 Oi King Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong
Kong
EBNEAME SEH8% 8 EMF6Ee0250 T EHBAL

Residential car parking space 604 on 6th Floor of Harbour Place, 8 Oi King Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong
Kong
BANBAWE =485 /8 EmM F6iE6045% EEEBE AL

Residential car parking space 637 on 6th Floor of Harbour Place, 8 Oi King Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong
Kong
BANEAWE R85 /8B FE637RETEN

Office E, 22/F., EGL Tower, 83 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BERNEBIESEESFAREEISNEEE

Room 3606, No. 233 Hebei Road, Tianhe District, Guangzhou, the PRC
Fh B M T ROR IR A A6 B8 2335736065

Shop 4, Ground Floor, King Palace Plaza, No. 55 King Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BB NEBEMENSSTE 2SI 454

Car parking space No. P25 on 1/F., EGL Tower, 83 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BRNEBEBEE3 RS 118 FE P25 B L

Leasehold land and building held for own use carried at cost

MRASIEFERRCHEE L RETF

1.

Office A, 17/F., EGL Tower, 83 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BN EBE B BB IR RS 17EAE

Existing use
BEFAR

Residential
=

Residential
=

Residential
=

Residential

F=

Residential
=

Commercial

[CES

Residential

F=x

Residential

F=E

Residential

F=

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

[CES

Commercial

[EES

Term of lease

HEHR

Medium term

]

Medium term

T

Medium term

T

Medium term

]

Medium term

]

Medium term

]

Medium term

T

Medium term

T

Medium term

]

Medium term

]

Medium term

A

Medium term

A

Medium term

A

Medium term

]
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